A Meeting of the COUNCIL will be held at the Civic Offices,
Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on
THURSDAY 19 NOVEMBER 2015 AT 7.30 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 11 November 2015

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business
Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

To: The Members of Wokingham Borough Council

ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

44.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence

45.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on
17 September 2015.

46.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

47.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions

PAGE
NO.

13 - 34

A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of the Council
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Council or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions
48.

PETITIONS
To receive any petitions which Members or members
of the public wish to present.

49.

MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive any announcements by the Mayor.

50.

None Specific

LOCALISM ACT PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2015/16
To consider a proposed Pay Policy Statement for
2015/16 in accordance with the Localism Act 2011.
RECOMMENDATION: That Council approve the
Policy Pay Statement for 2015/16 for publication on the
Council’s website in accordance with the Localism Act
2011.

35 - 46

51.

None Specific

GAMBLING ACT 2005 STATEMENT OF
PRINCIPLES
To consider a revised Gambling Act Statement of
Principles.

47 - 80

RECOMMENDATION: That under the Gambling Act
2005, the Council adopts the Statement of Principles
as set out in the Appendix to the report.
52.

None Specific

CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION
To consider proposed changes to the Constitution as
put forward by the Constitution Review Working Group.

81 - 190

RECOMMENDATION: That Council approves the
following changes to the Council’s Constitution, as put
forward by the Constitution Review Working Group:
1)

2)

Revised versions of the:
(a)
Scheme of Delegation to Officers –
Chapters 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3, as set out
in Appendix A to the report;
(b)

Financial Regulations – Chapter 12.1, as
set out in Appendix B to the report; and

(c)

Procurement and Contract Rules of
Procedure – Chapter 13.1 as set out in
Appendix C to the report.

the following wording to be added to Rule
4.4.3.1a) Audit Activity – Monitoring the
Council’s Operations:
“In addition to approve any significant
additional consulting services engaged
upon during the year, since the
submission of the annual internal audit
plan.”

53.

None Specific

APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY SCRUTINY
OFFICER
To consider the appointment of a Statutory Scrutiny
Officer.
RECOMMENDATION: That
1)
Neil Carr, Principal Democratic Services Officer,
be designated as the Council’s Statutory
Scrutiny Officer; and
2)

Section 6.3.37 of the Council’s Constitution be
amended as set out in the report.

191 - 194

54.

None Specific

UPDATE FROM FIRE AUTHORITY
REPRESENTATIVES
To receive an update from the Council’s
representatives on the Royal Berkshire Fire and
Rescue Service.
RECOMMENDATION: To note the update from the
Council’s representatives on the Royal Berkshire Fire
and Rescue Service.

55.

STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL,
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS, AND DEPUTY EXECUTIVE
MEMBERS
To receive any statements by the Leader of the
Council, Executive Members, and Deputy Executive
Members.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.23 the total
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 20 minutes,
and no Member shall speak for more than 5 minutes

56.

STATEMENT FROM COUNCIL OWNED
COMPANIES
To receive any statements from Directors of Council
Owned Companies.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.24 the total
time allocated to this item shall not exceed 10 minutes,
and no Director, except with the consent of Council,
shall speak for more than 3 minutes.

57.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions submitted under Notice
Any questions not dealt with within the allotted time will
be dealt with in a written reply

57.1

Emmbrook

UllaKarin Clark has asked the Executive Member for
Children's Services the following question:
Question
The Emmbrook Secondary School plays a vital role in
the education of children in the area. Can the Member
inform me of the investments made by this Council in
the school over the last four years, and whether any
new investments are planned and when?

195 - 196

57.2

None Specific

Alison Swaddle has asked the Executive Member for
Planning and Highways the following question:
Question
Following Council’s approval of the move to Civil
Parking Enforcement in Wokingham Borough, can the
Member explain what impact CPE will have on tackling
parking on grass verges and footpaths?

57.3

None Specific

Pauline Helliar-Symons has asked the Executive
Member for Planning and Highways the following
question:
Question
Can the Member explain the impact of the consultation
from the beginning of this year on the Council’s
proposed Local Planning Enforcement Plan (LPEP)?

57.4

None Specific

Guy Grandison has asked the Executive Member for
Planning and Highways the following question:
Question
In June, Birmingham County Court granted an
injunction to two business owners in Bromsgrove that
means that any traveller incursions onto their land
could lead to those individuals placing a caravan on
that site being fined, or even jailed. Does the Member
welcome this landmark ruling by the Court?

57.5

Emmbrook;
Evendons;
Norreys; Wescott

Dianne King has asked the Executive Member for
Regeneration and Communities the following question:
Question
Does the Member agree that it is vital that we resolve
the issue of parking in Wokingham town centre in order
to ensure that the multi-million pound regeneration is a
success?

57.6

None Specific

Ken Miall has asked the Executive Member for
Resident Services the following question:
Question
Can the Member tell me how far has fibre-optic
broadband been rolled out across the Borough?

57.7

None Specific

Chris Smith has asked the Leader of the Council the
following question:
Question
Does the Leader believe the current situation where an
independent panel sets the rate of allowances for
councillors in Wokingham Borough is preferable?

57.8

None Specific

Mark Ashwell has asked the Executive Member for
Health and Wellbeing the following question:
Question
Can the Member explain what steps the Council is
taking to tackle childhood obesity in Wokingham
Borough?

57.9

None Specific

Bill Soane has asked the Leader of the Council the
following question:
Question
Along with Town and parish councils this Council
signed the Armed Forces Covenant. This states that
we have a moral obligation to members of the armed
forces and their families, aiming to prevent those who
serve, or have served, facing disadvantage in their
access to services, and that injured service men and
women and bereaved families receive special
consideration. I ask what steps are taken by this
Council to ensure that these obligations are being
observed and acted upon?

57.10 Emmbrook;
Evendons;
Norreys; Wescott

Philip Houldsworth has asked the Executive Member
for Regeneration and Communities the following
question:
Question
The Regeneration of the Wokingham Town Centre
represents a significant investment. Does the
Executive Member for Regeneration share my view
that providing a safe environment for shoppers and
families will be vital for its success? If so will he ensure
that there will be in place a scheme for the
pedestrianisation of Peach Street and the Market
Place during shopping hours?

58.

MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD
MATTERS
A period of 20 minutes will be allowed for Members to
ask questions in relation to the latest circulated volume
of Minutes of Meetings and Ward Matters

59.

MOTIONS
To consider any motions
In accordance with Procedure Rule 4.2.11.2 a
maximum period of 30 minutes will be allowed for each
Motion to be moved, seconded and debated, including
dealing with any amendments. At the expiry of the 30minute period debate will cease immediately, the

mover of the Motion or amendment will have the right
of reply before the Motion or amendment is put to the
vote
59.1

None Specific

Motion 373 submitted by Tim Holton
This Council welcomes the results of reports that have
found that Wokingham and Earley are the two of best
places to live in England and Wales. Earley was
ranked fifth and one of the safest towns in the country,
whilst Wokingham was ranked the best place in the
country to live and raise a family. This Council will
continue to support our towns and communities so that
Wokingham Borough continues to be one of the best
places to live and work in the UK.

59.2

None Specific

Motion 374 submitted by Gary Cowan
This Council notes with concern the findings of the
Bracknell News regarding the significant levels of
speeding on Barkham Road near Tavistock Mews.
This Council will continue to support the police in
addressing speeding in this area and across the
Borough, and will take steps where necessary to tackle
the problem of dangerous and reckless driving. In
addition, this Council will continue to raise awareness
of the potential harm to pedestrians due to accidents
caused by exceeding the speed limit, and the impact
on the lives of individuals and families.

59.3

None Specific

Motion 375 submitted by John Halsall
Wokingham Borough has the highest per capita
vehicular density in the country. The Council
recognises that issues with roads affect not just one
ward but every motorist. Given the paucity of funds we
have to devote to road repair and maintenance, we
allocate the budget on the bases of safety, the
condition of the roads and their usage. We give
priority to the major trunk roads so that users can get
to work, children to school and the economy continues
by keeping the traffic moving.

59.4

None Specific

Motion 376 submitted by Nicky Jerrome
This Council notes:
 1 in 4 people will experience a mental health
problem in any given year;
 The World Health Organisation predicts that
depression will be the second most common
health condition worldwide by 2020;
 Mental ill health costs some £105 billion each




year in England alone;
People with a severe mental illness die up to 20
years younger than their peers in the UK;
There is often a circular relationship between
mental health and issues such as housing,
employment, family problems or debt.

This Council believes:
 As a local authority we have a crucial role to
play in improving the mental health of everyone
in our community and tackling some of the
widest and most entrenched inequalities in
health.;
 Mental health should be a priority across all the
local authority’s areas of responsibility, including
housing, community safety and planning;
 All Councillors, whether members of the
Executive or Scrutiny and in our community and
casework roles, can play a positive role in
championing mental health on an individual and
strategic basis.
This Council resolves:
 To sign the Local Authorities’ Mental Health
Challenge run by Centre for Mental Health,
Mental Health Foundation, Mental Health
Providers Forum, Mind, Rethink Mental Illness,
Royal College of Psychiatrists and YoungMinds;
 We commit to appoint an elected Member as
‘mental health champion’ across the Council;
 We will seek to identify a member of staff within
the Council to act as ‘lead officer’ for mental
health;

The Council will also:
1.
Support positive mental health in our
community, including in local schools,
neighbourhoods and workplaces ;
2.
Work to reduce inequalities in mental
health in our community;
3.
Work with local partners to offer effective
support for people with mental health needs;
4.
Tackle discrimination on the grounds of
mental health in our community;
5.
Proactively listen to people of all ages
and backgrounds about what they need for
better mental health.

59.5

None Specific

Motion 377 submitted by Tom McCann:
ADEPT, the Association of Directors of Environment,
Economy, Planning and Transport and RSTA the Road
Surface Treatments Association recommend the
maximum average service life is 15 yrs for surfacing.
Therefore this Council aspires to renew all road
surfaces in the Borough within a 30 year period in a
rolling program of replacement.

CONTACT OFFICER
Anne Hunter
Tel
Email
Postal Address

Service Manager Democratic Services
0118 974 6051
anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF
THE COUNCIL
HELD ON 17 SEPTEMBER 2015 FROM 7.30 PM TO 9.10 PM
Members Present
Councillors: Bob Pitts (Deputy Mayor), Mark Ashwell, Alistair Auty, Keith Baker,
Chris Bowring, Prue Bray, David Chopping, UllaKarin Clark, Gary Cowan, Lindsay Ferris,
Michael Firmager, Mike Gore, Kate Haines, Mike Haines, Charlotte Haitham Taylor,
John Halsall, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Tim Holton, Philip Houldsworth, Dianne King,
John Jarvis, Nicky Jerrome, Norman Jorgensen, Pauline Jorgensen, John Kaiser,
Abdul Loyes, Tom McCann, Ken Miall, Philip Mirfin, Ian Pittock, Anthony Pollock,
Nick Ray, Angus Ross, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey, Chris Singleton, David Sleight,
Chris Smith, Wayne Smith, Bill Soane, Rob Stanton, Alison Swaddle, Paul Swaddle,
Simon Weeks, Bob Wyatt and Shahid Younis
29.
APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors Parry Batth, Laura Blumenthal,
Guy Grandison, David Lee, Julian McGhee-Sumner, Stuart Munro, Barrie Patman,
Malcolm Richards and Beth Rowland.
30.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 23 July 2015 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Deputy Mayor.
31.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Tom McCann declared a Personal Interest on the grounds that his daughter
was employed by a company involved with the Wokingham Town Centre Regeneration
Project.
32.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited members of the public to
submit questions to the appropriate Members.
32.1

Mr Cedric Lander asked the Executive Member for Planning and Highways the
following question:
Why does an elderly resident have to come to Council in desperation due to the failure of
the Highways Department and the Leader of the Council to resolve the matter of the state
of the surface of the road in Radcot Close and Western Avenue which has been classed
as generally dangerous, but remains unrepaired, especially when the resident has
requested an estimate for this work?
Answer
I would like to begin by saying I’m sorry that an elderly resident has felt the need to come
to the Council’s offices to seek action – this is certainly not something that we would want
– indeed, the Leader of the Council and the Highways Team have been in lengthy
correspondence with you I believe since July of this year in order to try and address your
concerns. This has included providing the estimate for work which you requested, in our
letter to him of 27 August.

Whilst I have every sympathy with you, particularly your difficulties, as a local authority
with a severely limited budget we have to ensure that those resources we have are
targeted at the areas of greatest priority.
As you would expect, we work to a schedule that identifies all of our roads and footpaths,
and ensure that work is programmed according to priority, supported by a regular
inspection regime.
Dangerous defects are repaired as soon as possible, and we ensure that the limited
funding we have is targeted at those roads in the Borough which need the most urgent
attention, addressed in priority order.
It is the Council’s opinion that the surface of the roads in Radcot Close and Western
Avenue are not dangerous, and therefore neither is high enough up the priority listings
currently to warrant first demand on the limited budgets at our disposal.
We will, of course continue to monitor the conditions as part of our regular inspection
regime.
Supplementary Question
Thank you for that and the quick response to my public question indicating that you intend
to carry out a patch in one of the two areas of Radcot Close. In view of this, I strongly
recommend this work is halted until further discussion takes place with Highways. Finally,
in my case in Radcot Close and Western Avenue as a way forward, especially with the
recent white lines put down, it might be acceptable to the Council and me for a meeting on
site with Councillor Kaiser, where perhaps an agreement could be reached to both sides of
this case?
Supplementary Answer
I am quite prepared to meet you on site. If you would like to contact me by email I will
come along with one of the Highways Officers.
32.2

Patrick King asked a question of the Leader of the Council the following
question
Given how quickly the refugee crisis has developed, even in the past week; beyond
sympathy and signposting will the Council be actively welcoming refugees into the
Borough and supporting those who are offering their homes?
Answer
Thank you for your very timely question. As you have probably seen within the Agenda,
we have a Motion to refugees that we will be talking about.
We have seen the Government’s reaction and their proposals. The Government is
working up its proposals as we speak. The Home Officer Minister today said that they
expect the first batch of refuges in the next few weeks. Until we have guidance from the
Government on what it is looking at we cannot commit to how we are going to welcome
them. We are monitoring the situation very closely and meeting regularly. We will react
quickly once we know what the Government action is. Certainly, we will be welcoming
refuges. Beyond that I cannot really say.

Supplementary Question
Thank for that answer. When it does become clear that refugees will be welcomed into the
Borough, will the Council look to establish a group that could work with other community
groups to provide that welcome in practical ways and will there be a timeframe for that
once it becomes clear when the refugees are coming?
Supplementary Answer
Absolutely. I think that the voluntary organisations and churches in particular, will have a
part to play in how we as a Borough handle this very difficult situation. I cannot give you a
timeframe now, but part of the strategy will be to work out how we do that and we will
engage with those organisations whilst we are evolving the strategy to maximise the
impact.
33.
PETITIONS
The following member of public presented a petition in relation to the matter indicated.
The Mayor’s decision as to the action to be taken is set out against each petition
Councillor
Nicky
Jerrome

Councillor Nicky Jerrome presented a petition of 700 signatures calling for
public toilet provision at Woodley Shopping Precinct.
To be forwarded to the Executive Member for Environment

Councillor
UllaKarin
Clark

Councillor UllaKarin Clark presented a petition from the residents of Meadow
Road in Emmbrook concerning an increase in traffic volume, speeding and
long-stay parking by commuters. As well as the options suggested by the
petitioners she suggested a restriction on HGVs in Meadow Road apart for
access.
To be forwarded to the Executive Member for Planning and Highways

34.
MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
In referring to the list of Mayoral and Deputy Mayoral engagements circulated, the Deputy
Mayor highlighted the Legacy of Valour Project attended by the Mayor at Reading Town
Hall and that he had attended the Stanlake Meadows Community Fun Day. He
commented that he thought the day had been fantastic and paid tribute to the Council’s
Tenant Services Team who were at the event and whose efforts had been warmly
received by residents. He informed Members that he was due to attend the 40th
Anniversary of the Sports Able Foundation in Windsor on Friday 18 September 2015.
35.

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL ON MEMBERS'
ALLOWANCES LEVELS
The Council received and considered a report from the Independent Remuneration Panel,
as set out on Agenda pages 29 to 46, following their annual review of the Members’
Allowances Scheme.
David Jones, Chairman of the Independent Remuneration Panel, addressed the meeting.
He paid tribute to his colleagues on the Panel: Nicky Measures, Malcolm Saffin, Barry
Cochrane and Brian Shearing. He also thanked Susan Coulter, Senior Democratic

Services Officer and Kevin Jacob, Principal Democratic Services Officer, for the guidance
and administrative support that they had provided to the Panel.
In presenting the report, David Jones highlighted the following points:










The Panel had met four times, had reviewed extensive information supplied to it and
met a number of Councillors including both the Conservative and Liberal Democrat
Group Leaders;
The Panel were recommending that the time contributed component of the Basic
Allowance be increased by 1% to reflect increases in Officer pay. This would take the
total Basic Allowance to £7,552;
That in future any changes to the time contributed element of the Basic Allowance
should mirror in any increases in Officer pay, but that an automatic escalator should
not be introduced at the current time;
That it was felt that the role of Deputy Executive Member was now fully established
and payment of a Special Responsibly Allowance should continue;
That there should not be any increase in the amount of any Special Responsibility
Allowance;
That there should be no increases to the IT allowance and amount for out of pocket
expenses;
That there be no changes to the existing arrangements for Childcare and Dependent’s
Carers’ Allowance in that it be linked to the national minimum wage;
That the Panel wished to reiterate strongly that expenses and allowances were rights
which Members were entitled to without fear or prejudice;
That the remit of the Panel be expanded to include having the authority to advise the
Council’s companies on the level of remuneration paid to the Councillors who were
Non-Executive Directors. This issue had been given thorough consideration and it was
the view of the Panel that its role should be expanded to include this area on the
grounds of transparency and the Panel’s role as a body independent to the Council.

Councillor Keith Baker thanked the Panel. He commented that he was pleased to support
the Panel’s recommendations as they reflected a number of suggestions he had made
including the informal linkage between increases in the rates of Officer pay and allowances
for Councillors and the expansion of the remit of the Panel to consider the remuneration of
Councillor Non-Executive Directors.
Councillor Prue Bray thanked the Panel for its work. She commented that she supported
the remarks of Councillor Keith Baker and stressed that although the final decision on
allowances was the Council’s under legislation, the Council had a report prepared by an
independent panel before it and that this was as close to a situation where councillors did
not set their own allowances as possible.
It was proposed by Councillor Keith Baker that the recommendations set out in the
Independent Remuneration Panel report be agreed. This was seconded by Councillor
Michael Firmager.
Upon being put to the vote it was
RESOLVED: That:
1) The time contributed component of the Basic Allowance be increased by 1% to reflect
the increase in Officer pay;

2) There be no change made to the multiples of the Special Responsibility Allowances
paid to those roles as set out in the current Members’ Allowances Scheme;
3) The Deputy Executive Members continue to be paid an SRA of £2,000 each as set out
in the current Members’ Allowances Scheme;
4) That there be no change in the rate payable for the Childcare and Dependent’s Carers’
Allowance as set out in the current Members Allowances Scheme in that it be set at
the National Minimum wage, whatever that may be in the future, and that where there
are exceptional circumstances, any increase in this allowance be approved by the
Council’s Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman of the Panel;
5) The £500 component of the Basic Allowance for the provision of IT, communication
and home office should continue to be claimed only by those Members who provide
facilities which allow constituents and Officers to communicate with them by e-mail
and the self-certification process be continued;
6) The £500 component of the Basic Allowance for out of pocket expenses should
continue;
7) As part of their induction, Members continue to receive training in relation to
remuneration and how the Members’ allowances scheme and expenses works;
8) It be noted that Members are no longer eligible to join the Local Government Pension
Scheme;
9) Members’ Allowances should not be index-linked;
10) That the Terms of Reference of the Panel be amended to include having the authority
to consider any request from a Local Authority Trading Company owned by
Wokingham Borough Council for the Panel to advise them on the level of remuneration
payable by that company to its Member Non-Executive Directors.
36.
TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2014-15
The Council considered the Treasury Management Annual Report 2014/2015 as set out
on Agenda pages 47 to 80.
Councillor Anthony Pollock in presenting the report commented that the report showed
continuing sound financial management. He highlighted that he was particularly pleased
to note that the Council’s In-House team had achieved a return of 3.66% on the
investments under their management and this amounted to 80% of the interest income
that the Council received. This income contributed towards supporting Council services
and the Council’s revenue budget.
It was proposed by Councillor Pollock and seconded by Councillor Keith Baker that the
Treasury Management Annual Report 2014/2015 and prudential indicators 2014/2015 be
noted.
Upon being put to the vote it was:
RESOLVED: That

1) the Treasury Management Annual Report for 2014/2015; and
2) the actual 2014/2015 prudential indicators within the report be noted.
37.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSONS UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT
2011
The Council considered a report set out on Agenda pages 81 to 84 which recommended
the appointment of David Jones and Carole Luurtsema as ‘Independent Persons’ under
the Localism Act 2011.
It was proposed by Councillor Rob Stanton and seconded by Councillor Pauline HelliarSymons that David Jones and Carole Luurtsema be appointed as Independent persons.
Upon being put to the vote it was
RESOLVED: That
1) David Jones and Carole Luurtsema be appointed as ‘Independent Persons’ under
Section 28 (7) of the Localism Act 2011, increasing the number of the Council’s
Independent Persons to three including David Comben an existing Independent
Person;
2) the decision made by the Council in July 2012 be reaffirmed and an allowance of
£1,000 per annum be paid for the position of Independent Person
38.
CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION
The Council considered proposed changes to the Constitution as set out on Agenda pages
81 to 110 relating to the electronic publication of agendas, the Health and Wellbeing
Board, the Council’s process for the consideration of Code of Conduct complaints and the
Member/Officer Protocol.
It was proposed by Councillor Paul Swaddle and seconded by Councillor Prue Bray that
the changes to the Constitution be approved.
Upon being put to the vote, it was
RESOLVED: That the following amendments to the relevant sections of the Council’s
Constitution be approved, as put forward by the Constitution Review Working Group:
1) Section 1 – Purpose of the Constitution
Amend Rule 1.1.10 Publication as set out in the report;
2) Chapter 4.4 – Committees of the Council – Health and Wellbeing Board
Add the following to Rule 4.4.23 Membership:
“l) Representative from the Voluntary Sector”
3) Chapter 9.1 – The Standards Committee
The revised Process for Considering Code of Conduct Complaints which replaces Rules
9.1.13-9.1.16 as attached at Appendix 1 to the report;

4) Chapter 9.3 – Member/Officer Protocol
The revised Member/Officer Protocol as attached at Appendix 2 to the report:
39.

STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
AND DEPUTY EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

Councillor Keith Baker, Leader of the Council:
Before I get into what I have prepared, I would like to comment on Councillor Jerrome’s
petition to the Council regarding public toilets in Woodley. Fundamentally she has
provided a petition to the wrong Council. Wokingham Borough Council has already
passed on the funds for development of the toilets and Woodley Town Council were
looking at the running costs. So actually that petition should have gone to Woodley Town
Council. Clearly Woodley Labour Party are absolutely on the ball here.
Can I welcome all Councillors back from their break. I hope that you are all suitably
refreshed and ready for council business. Speaking personally, I had a very interesting
break which I will talk about further later.
For nearly a year the Conservative Group has been acting without a Political Assistant
which has been a strain on a number of people. I would like to welcome Ellis Wiggins to
the Council in the role of Political Assistant to the Conservative Group. Ellis joins us from
Bromsgrove and brings a wealth of experience. On behalf of the Conservative Group, I
would like to thank Anne Hunter and her team for the assistance provided during the nine
month period before Ellis was appointed.
I continue to progress governance improvements with our companies. The latest step
forward is to have a defined job description for Councillor Non-Executive Directors. This is
likely to be finalised in the next few months.
Finally, I want to provide more details on the resident engagement project for the fiscal
year 2016/2017 which I have talked about at previous meetings. To put this in context,
over the last five years this Council has made a total of £31.3 million of savings. For
2016/2017, a further £8.1 million of savings out of a total budget of £113million need to be
added. This will be extremely difficult. For the first time, possibly for any council within
Berkshire, this Council is going out on the road to engage with residents on the difficulties
the Council will face over the coming years. At least five drop in sessions are planned in
Charvil, Earley, Finchampstead, Wokingham and Woodley. We will also be using the full
power of social media to enhance the reach of this engagement. More details will follow
shortly.
Councillor Philip Mirfin, Executive Member for Regeneration and Communities
I would like to cover two areas of my portfolio this evening.
First of all regeneration. Work on the delivery of the town centre regeneration continues to
move forward with the plans for the remaining three phases falling into place. It is an
exciting time for the town as we will be addressing many of the issues that Wokingham
currently suffers from such as the poor variety of shops and a lack of leisure facilities
within the town. In March 2015 we were granted planning consent for moving ahead with
the redeveloping Peach Place. It is an important project for the town which will see us
building new shops and a pedestrianised square. On 2 September 2015, the Council took

a major step forward with our programme for the delivering Peach Place scheme when we
made the compulsory purchase order for the site. This will enable us to secure the
remaining land interests we require for developing the proposals. All being well, we are
looking to start on site in early 2017 and to be completed by the end of 2018. In July 2015
we were granted planning consent to move forward with our proposals for the Carnival
Pool. The first phase of this is expected to start on site in spring 2016 when we build a
new 529 space multi-storey carpark and new bowling alley. We aim to have it completed
by the end of 2016, ready for when the work starts on the other phases of regeneration.
Over the next year we will working up designs for the remainder of the Carnival Pool site
which will include a large extension to the leisure centre along with other leisure provision
and apartments. Alongside this design work we will also continue the proposals for Elms
Field and in response to the consultation comments, feedback from interested tenants and
market testing we continue to see positive interest from prospective tenants and are
working to submit a planning application by the end of this year. Subject to planning
approval and in coordination with other projects in the town, we expect to start work again
in 2017.
Moving on now to the Community Development Service and some of their summer
highlights. The summer has been a busy period for the team this year and the priority for
us across the summer months has been to provide positive activities for families in our
target areas to support them across the long summer break, particularly when school is
out and many other activities pause. In addition to the regular community events and
outings, we have either organised or supported Borough wide summer play schemes, first
with referrals and then biweekly spot checks to ensure their quality.
Two further pieces of work that we have been particularly proud of are the community arts
projects with the library service. At Rainbow Park children were involved in exciting
musical rainforest arts projects, from the creation of costumes and props to rehearsals and
final performance. As a result the children will qualify for an arts award which will be
presented at a ceremony at Winnersh Library. In the Norrey’s area we have used the arts
project as a way of supporting children transitioning between primary and secondary
school and we worked closely with local schools and youth workers. The project was
hosted by St Crispins School and the children’s art work has been displayed in the school
for the new parents open evening in September in addition to Wokingham Library. The
second item is the National Citizen Service, (NCS) Project. This is a national initiative
encouraging personal and social development for 16-17 year olds. This year our team
hosted a group of NCS participants in three areas across the Borough. They joined into
community groups ranging from kids clubs to bowls to Zumba. As well as broadening their
awareness of local communities and the variety of experiences and challenges people
face they also created a short film they collected on their visits to promote the value of
community development. We felt it particularly for the young people we already work in
our deprived communities to meet and work with these motivated NCS participants to raise
their aspirations and increase their opportunities for the future.
Councillor Pauline Jorgensen, Executive Member for Resident Services
We are passionate about customer service. We are rolling out a Council wide programme
to improve our customer service and as part of this we are driving digital services. 61% of
garden waste renewals are now on-line, saving costs and improving efficiency. We have
seen an increase in web-chat and on-line service requests and a consequent decrease in
email traffic to the service centre of 20%. We are also working to improve customer
experience and now send on-request email and text updates to inform customers of their
service requests. This has reduced complaints and chasing from customers and call

waiting time has reduced to 33 seconds due to the reduction in call volumes. We have
improved links to our contractors; reducing re-keying and increasing first hand fix rate and
customer satisfaction. In all these efficiency improvements have saved Council Tax
payers £150,000 this year and as Councillor Baker said this Council is very short of money
being the lowest funded authority in the country and therefore every little bit of saving we
can find helps both the tax payers and the Council.
Secondly, Wokingham libraries are bucking the national trends. Customer satisfaction for
our libraries stands at an amazing 99%. We have been tweaking library opening hours to
respond to customer feedback and currently have 24,400 active users, an increase of 4%
over last year. We have working closely with residents’ groups and parish councils in
Twyford and Charvil. Expected shortly is a planning application submitted to the Twyford
Community Hub. This will show a potential location of a local library and many other
facilities.
Councillor Haitham Taylor – Executive Member for Children’s Services
2015 not only marks the 800th anniversary of the Magna Carta, but also the 750th
anniversary of the mother of all Parliaments.
In recognition of how Parliament’s work has touched all aspects of life, society, the
economy, culture and beliefs, the Parliament Trust embarked on drawing together an
exemplary collection to illustrate different themes in one celebration volume. It is with
great pride that I am standing here today to announce that this Council’s Adoption
Services have been included in this book as an example of Good Practice and effective
service in Local Government. This is quite an achievement.
It is important that we celebrate our successes, and I was privileged to accompany the
team who have been instrumental in this work to the book launch in Westminster. I am
also proud that our then Children in Care Council Chair came with us to enjoy this evening
of recognition. She is an inspirational young woman, who has given so much time and
energy to our Corporate Parenting Board. She has been incredibly generous and
influenced lots of our decisions. She is fully employed in a caring role in our Borough and
has future plans to study to gain vocational qualifications.
Over the summer the DfE have issued new guidance for Adoption Services. The
Government expects Councils and independent adoption agencies to join together in order
to achieve more for children. This Council is ahead of the curve, and Adopt Berkshire,
which is our commissioned and shared service, has been cited in the new guidance as
good practice.
Children’s Services constantly strive to improve our services and this week we have
welcomed a peer review team into the Borough. The team was made up of a Director of
Children’s Services and other senior staff from the region, with the aim to test how we will
deliver on our aspirations for children in care and care leavers. It is really pleasing that the
feedback validated our approach and said when the front line workers described their work
with children their passion and child-centeredness' had shone through.
Lastly, I wanted to talk about the success of our Young Commissioners programme. This
is an initiative to bring young people into local government and not only give them an
understanding of how it works, but also to get a young person’s view on the current issues
within the Borough. The programme started with two young people and now has a total of
four, with three working full-time and one working part-time on a summer placement before

they go to university. The Young Commissioners have been involved in a number of key
projects. But just to highlight a few: they have undertaken a service review of what our
young carers in our Borough can access and looked at where we can help them further.
They are developing Shuters café as a social enterprise, and they are also testing out
what our Homelessness and Supported Lodging services are like on behalf of young
people. Be warned they have been honing their mystery shopping skills in the latter area
and will no doubt be moving on to other services soon.
Councillor Angus Ross, Executive Member for Environment
Although the summer has not been one of England's best, we still had very good
attendance at Dinton and California Country parks and at various sports and activity
events which we put on for the youth. We successfully engaged with many of them and
looking forward to the added contact we have established with many disadvantaged and
hard to reach groups.
We are actively preparing for wider use of our country parks for future years and I plan to
be consulting on these later this year.
We are progressing with plans for our new Sports Hubs and detailed work on Ryeish
Green is underway, as is initial planning for Grays Farm in Wokingham, which continues
as a working Pick-Your-Own Farm until 2017. In parallel with this, we are investigating reopening the small Sports Centre at Ryeish Green and await Business Plans from 5
interested groups which we hope to have by the end of November.
Together with our leisure provider 1Life and the C-Salt Trust, we have organised a Family
Fun Day on Sunday week - 27th September from 10am to 4pm at Bulmershe Playing
Fields and Leisure Centre. A wide range of taster sessions and contact with sports and
activities clubs will be laid on. I do hope many councillors will visit to see the activities
being put on, you will all be most welcome and the details are on the website.
Lastly congratulations to Wokingham Town Council and the help that the Borough gave in
gaining another award for Wokingham in Bloom. They gained a silver gilt award this time
as well as being best in the Thames and Chiltern Region. It is a very good and continuous
success that the Town Council has had.
Also last weekend we had a very successful open day at Wokingham Fire Station and I
know some councillors made it there. There was also the Heritage Day that Wokingham
Town Council put on at Wokingham Town Hall. I was interested to see the new room to
celebrate the fact that we had the Royal Electrical and Mechanical Engineers, (REME) in
our Borough for so many years. Unfortunately, they have left taking away the main parts
of their exhibition, but we have some bits left over.
Councillor Anthony Pollock, Executive Member for Economic Development and
Finance.
My portfolio includes Economic Development which I do normally speak about. Last year
the Council set up “Elevate Wokingham” which has just celebrated its first year in
operation.
The team have engaged with unemployed young people on projects, which included
obtaining work experience and the provision of interview practice for jobseekers. Elevate
is now producing a comprehensive job vacancy list that is available on their website which
is updated every week. The Elevate hub has been able to offer support to many of

Wokingham Borough’s residents who are looking for work or training. The project was set
up with the younger generation in mind but has also benefited older people who have been
able to receive support from Elevate.
Future projects include the careers fair on 7 October 2015 and continuing work with young
people who are Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) to support them with
work experience, internships, apprenticeships and placements. Last year, the government
set a number of challenging targets for Elevate Wokingham to reach. With hard work from
partners and Elevate staff, these targets were achieved.
Turning to finance. Unfortunately Councillor Pauline Jorgsensen has taken my thunder,
but we are the lowest funded local authority and there is nothing in the next five years that
is likely to change that.
However, the good news is that we are very good at collecting Council Tax and Business
Rates. Considering that something like 80% of our funding comes from these areas it just
shows that we collect everything that we possibly can.
For Council Tax we came 1st in the country and collected 99.5% of what was due and we
will collect the other half a percent over the next seven years. In connection to Business
Rates, we unfortunately came third with 99.8%, Canterbury actually collected 100% so we
will try better next year, but we are the best in Berkshire.
Councillor John Kaiser, Executive Member for Planning and Highways
I would like to make a statement. I like Park and Rides! Park and Rides, 50 people on a
bus equals half a km of congestion removed from our roads. The Council has been
working with Reading Borough Council delivering two Park and Rides for the Borough both
funded by the Department for Transport’s Local Sustainable Transport Fund. The first new
site is situated adjacent to the A33, South of Junction 11 of the M4 at Mereoak. This site
was opened on the 17 August 2015 and is now fully operational. The second site is an
alternative location for the existing Loddon Bridge Park and Ride. The new site is located
adjacent to Winnersh Triangle Railway Station and is nearing completion. The site is due
to open at the end of September 2015.
The Council is also working on the provision of new site at the end of A3290 near Thames
Valley Park to be located on an area of land behind the Waterside Centre. A business
case is currently being prepared as part of the funding requirement from the funding from
the Department for Transport’s Local Growth Deal. A planning application will be
submitted to Wokingham Borough Council in spring 2016 which potential construction
starts date towards the end of 2016.
40.
STATEMENTS FROM COUNCIL OWNED COMPANIES
Prior to the commencement of the item, the Mayor proposed that the time limit for
statements under the item be extended 4.2.13.11 g) be extended in respect of Councillor
David Chopping’s statement. This was agreed.
Councillor David Chopping, Non-Executive Director of Wokingham Housing
The detailed application to register Loddon Homes Limited, (LHL) as a For-Profit
Registered Provider (Housing Association), was submitted to the Homes and Communities
Agency (HCA) at the beginning of September. The detailed application forms included
over 25 appendices (34 sets of documents in all) to make the case for registration and look
to satisfy the requirements of the HCA.

The HCA typically takes between three to six months to determine an application for
registering a new housing association and we will advise Council as soon as we have
further news and updates on progress.
Encouragingly the HCA have asked for a couple of clarifications and for a copy of the
Group Operating Protocol, which we advised was available on request; so we are pleased
that things are clearly already moving on.
The submission is a culmination of many months of hard work by Wokingham Housing
Limited, (WHL) staff, together with Wokingham Borough Council colleagues, along with
detailed scrutiny by the Boards of Loddon Homes and WHL, before final sign off by
Holdco.
Loddon Homes is a vital part of our strategy to support our affordable housing building
plans using commuted sums to deliver projects like Phoenix Avenue and the Fosters Extra
Care Home. With the significant changes being introduced by Government around housing
policy, Loddon Homes may also prove useful as a way of mitigating the impacts of the
Government's housing policy changes.
It is, perhaps, worth re-iterating the differences between the two Housing Companies.
WHL is the Council’s development company, and is tasked with building homes on council
owned land, as well as commercial sites. Loddon Homes is the first of its subsidiaries, and
will, providing the HCA agree, be a registered provider. This is by no means definite, as
the criteria was tightened late last year and then republished in the spring, and are harder
to meet. They are also not helped by the current almost weekly rumoured policy changes
as the new government draws up its Housing Bill, but Loddon Homes has been designed
to grow within the new frameworks so we hope it is as future proofed as we can make it at
this stage.
Loddon Homes Limite is answerable to WHL, but has its own board to meet HCA
requirements about self-determination, and funding. WHL is answerable to Holdco, and
we are all in the process of sorting out the detail corporate responsibility, hence the
importance of the Group Operating Protocol.
Of our sites, Phoenix (formerly know as Eustace Crescent) the contractors will be on site
in November 2015. Fosters has had a good response from possible contractors and a
short list is being drawn up, the pre-qualification stage, to enable us to go out to tender.
There are also another half dozen smaller sites, where we are obtaining planning
approval, which should be built and available for occupation before either of these two
flagship schemes are completed, giving us another 25 or 30 units, possibly even before
the end of next year.
Our staffing is now complete with the addition of Karen Howick as our business
development manager and the company is no longer totally male.
Finally we are constantly on the look-out for more sites, and are identifying more
possibilities on Council owned land, and are also speaking with other sources. Please do
not forget we do need land, and Councillors can all help.
Perhaps we should offer a prize of naming a site after a Councillor who identifies it?

Councillor Anthony Pollock, Non-Executive Director Optalis
Since the departure of Andrew Pickup in November 2014, the post of Managing Director
was held jointly by the Finance Director, Paul Steadman, and the partnerships director,
Mette Le Jakobsen. This ensured continuity and stability for the organisation and the
positive impact can be seen in the organisations vital statistics (sickness absence and staff
turnover). I am pleased to report that on 20 August 2015 Mette Le Jakobsen was
appointed permanently to the post of managing director.
The only other change to the senior team is that Paul Steadman, Finance Director, has
recently left the company after being head hunted by a London based private equity firm.
Optalis has subsequently been successful in recruiting an experienced finance director,
who will take up their position in early October. Adequate arrangements are in place
during the interim period.
I am pleased to report that since November 2014 the Optalis staff turnover has improved
significantly. Across the company, turnover is at 19% for the period January to June
2015, which is significantly below industry averages both locally and regionally (29% and
24% respectively).
I am pleased to announce that following an unannounced inspection by the regulator Care
Quality Commision, (CQC) on the 1st and 2nd of September to Suffolk Lodge residential
home, we have just received notification that the service received a ‘good’ rating. This is
especially pleasing as Mette and her team have worked very positively to drive and deliver
a caring and open culture which was highlighted within the report. Sickness absence has
equally reduced to 8.1 days average per employee in June 2015, with an underlying rate
of 5.6 days when long term sickness is eliminated. Again this is an excellent performance
for the organisation and below typical sickness absence rates for the industry.
Optalis continues to experience success in recruiting to key positions in the organisation,
but it is recognised that recruitment is challenging for the whole of the care sector not only
in our Borough, but throughout the London and the Thames valley. Optalis has invested in
improvements to recruitment and selection procedures and the company strives to be a
good employer, which includes both the offer of reasonable terms of employment, (we
already pay the new Osbourne living wage) and a positive, well supported working
environment.
41.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
In accordance with the agreed procedure the Mayor invited Members to submit questions
to the appropriate Members
41.1

UllaKarin Clark asked the Executive Member for Environment the following
question:
Can the Member please explain why bins have been relocated in the Woosehill area of
Emmbrook and does this apply to all bins?
Answer
It is the case that we plan to redistribute or remove litter bins on the open spaces in
Woosehill and other such locations.
Around Woosehill, there are currently 39 bins in total and we are proposing to
remove/relocate 12 over the coming weeks. The reasons why this area was addressed
was due to a combination of finding well used bins at some locations and virtually unused

bins at others. There were also reported issues around access to remote bins in wet
weather. The redistribution/removal of bins is currently being communicated via signage
and the Cleaner & Greener Team have met and walked about with many residents as well
as Borough/Town Councillors.
However, we are looking at the lessons learnt in delivering these changes and we are
looking at the consultation process prior to making any changes in other areas.
Once the changes are complete we will give the bins unique numbers to ease the
reporting process when residents on our behalf find a bin full or damaged. Also, with over
1,000 litter bins in the Borough with 600 of them on the highways and over 400 of them in
our open spaces, it’s important that we have them positioned in the most strategic
positions and balance the efficiency of emptying with finding the best used locations, not
ignoring the cost of this service.
Overall we are keen that residents take their rubbish home with them, but fully appreciate
this is not practical, or desirable, for dog poo. We also encourage resident groups to take
on our ‘Adopt a Street’ initiative, which can include open spaces. If you know of people
interested in that please do contact me or the Cleaner and Greener Team.
41.2

Alison Swaddle asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question:
Could the Member explain the reasons why there has been a welcome fall in the turnover
rate of social workers, down to less than 10% from 33% last year, and significantly better
than neighbouring authorities?
Answer
We know that the best practice for children is built from a consistent, stable workforce.
Across the country, Authorities are struggling to recruit and retain the best workers and it is
a national picture that is steadily worsening. We have focused intently on this issue in
Wokingham and have implemented a comprehensive recruitment and retention strategy,
drawing on extensive feedback from past and present staff and taking lessons from
national examples of best practice, enabling us to buck the national trend.
There have been four key parts to our success. Our starting point is investment in our
workforce, including investment in training in an evidence based practice framework,
called Signs of Safety.
There is a current gap in experienced Social Workers in England so we have recruited six
experienced social workers from overseas to address this gap. We have drawn workers
from places where Signs of Safety is the practice model to ensure maximum benefit and fit
with our way of working.
We have demonstrated a commitment to ensuring that our caseloads are manageable to
enable social workers to work safely and effectively.
Finally, a comprehensive training and development offer is in place for all of our social
workers, building on Signs of Safety.
Supplementary Question
Can you tell me how you are implementing social work succession planning in children’s
social care?

Supplementary Answer
Developing our staff remains at the heart of our approach. Some of the actions in place to
deliver our succession planning include exciting partnerships with universities for social
workers to support newly qualified workers and ongoing professional development for our
workforce. We are also ‘growing our own’ by working in partnership with the Open
University to provided three current members of our children’s workforce with an
opportunity to train as social workers. Working in partnership with Winchester University
for the second year, we will be welcoming in our cohort from the national Step up to Social
Work Programme. Finally we have recognised that social work team managers role are
amongst the most challenging to recruit to nationally and we have particular support to our
assistant team managers to develop their skills to progress.
41.3

Malcolm Richards had asked the Executive Member for Planning and
Highways the following question which was put in his absence
Park and Ride services across many towns and cities in the UK are vital for relieving traffic
problems. Could the Member please give an update on the current situation with Park and
Ride services in Wokingham Borough?
Answer
The Council, working with Reading Borough Council have been working to deliver two new
Park & Ride sites in the Borough funded from the Dft’s Local Sustainable Transport Fund.
The first new site is situated adjacent to the A33 south of junction 11 of the M4 on
Mereoak Lane. This site was opened on the 17 August 2015 and is now fully operational.
The second site is an alternative location for the existing Loddon Bridge Park & Ride site.
The new site is located adjacent to the Winnersh Triangle Rail Station and is nearing
completion. The site is due to open at the end of September 2015.
The Council is also working on the provision of a new site at the end of the A3290 near
Thames Valley Park to be located within an area of land behind the Waterside Centre.
Currently a business case is being prepared as part of the requirements for funding from
the Dft’s Local Growth Deal. A planning application will be submitted to Wokingham
Council in spring 2016 with a potential start date for construction towards the end of 2016.
41.4

Prue Bray asked the Non -Executive Directors of OPTALIS Group the
following question which was answered by the Leader of the Council
Following the departure of OPTALIS’s Managing Director Andrew Pickup at the end of
2014, how many other changes within the senior staff have there been since then, such as
those who have left OPTALIS, changed their posts in OPTALIS, or have signalled an
intention to leave?
Answer
Many thanks for your question and as the Member responsible for Council owned
companies I will be answering the question and can I ask all Councillors to refer all future
questions on our companies to me as per the Constitution.
Before I address the question I need to clarify a few points. First and possibly most
important is that detailed operational staffing issues are a matter for the company itself. I
am sure that you fully recognise that personnel matters are highly confidential to the

individual and the company and therefore it is generally inappropriate to answer questions
like this.
I am somewhat surprised that you ask about those who have “signalled an intention to
leave” which is a potential violation of that individual’s privacy. When senior staff indicate
they are leaving then this has to be carefully managed for the benefit of both the individual
and the company.
However, I do understand that when a senior member of staff leaves it should not be
hidden. This is why I have extended my report to every Executive Meeting to cover this
aspect. It is why I have arranged for a report from the Companies Chairman to be included
at every Full Council and this is what you heard from Councillor Pollock. It was not as a
consequence of your question it was a consequence of me bringing in the report from the
companies. This is the most appropriate communication mechanism and is carried out in
full public.
Now let me turn to your precise question. You will have heard from Councillor Pollock, the
Chairman of Optalis, about the changes in the company so I believe the question has
already been answered.
Supplementary Question
I do welcome the changes that have been made to the Executive Agenda to provide more
information and we do have more regular reports than has been the case than at some
times in the past. However, things have been delayed. I would therefore ask for the same
level of transparency to be available to Councillors on the limited companies as would be
available to Councillors employees who are directly employed by the Council. I recognise
that this information may have to be Part 2 and therefore confidential.
Supplementary Answer
I am a lit bit confused because I do not think that Councillors here get much information
about staff movement within the Council. Maybe I have misunderstood you and we can
talk later. But, I would stress that staffing is an operational matter for that company and
therefore they need to treat it sensitivity. When it is the appropriate time it will come out.
There have been no delays, the Executive meetings have happened on a regular basis,
they have not been delayed, the full Council meetings have been taking place on a regular
basis and have not been delayed and the reports from the Chairman have been to every
single Council so they have not been delayed. It is probably my misunderstanding.
At this point, Councillor Prue Bray made a point of personal explanation:
All I am saying Councillor Baker is that if we ask a direct question about something in the
Council we get a direct answer. I think we would like the same to happen in the case of
the companies and information that is not necessarily going to be in the public domain, but
should be available to Councillors so that we can assure ourselves that everything is
correct. We find that out within the Council, we should have the same rights outside.
Continuation of Supplementary Answer
I do not know how many times I can say this. Personnel matters are generally
confidential. In the ten years that I have been a Wokingham Borough Councillor I cannot
recall a single question from anyone within the Council Chamber about personnel
signalling their intention to leave. I think that it is totally incorrect, it is wrong and I will not

commit to providing that information. The information will be flowed through the normal
processes.
41.5

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey asked the Executive Member for Planning and
Highways the following question:
Demand and usage at the current Loddon Bridge park and ride has declined since the
major 2007 flood and the subsequent ongoing flooding. The new park and ride car park
does not have as many spaces as the original and has to be shared with station parking.
What will you do if demand for spaces at the new non-flooding Loddon Bridge park and
ride reaches the pre flooding levels of demand and exceeds the capacity of the car park?
Answer
Thank you for allowing me to speak on my favourite subject, Park and Rides and if they
are successful even better!
The new Winnersh site has been delivered, together with the Mereoak site to provide a
combined south Reading Park & Ride provision giving people travelling to and from
Reading a viable alternative to using a car. The total number of car parking spaces for
people wishing to use Park & Ride being provided across both sites is significantly more
than that previously available with a net increase of circa 360 spaces.
Our current forecasts for Winnersh Park and Ride are that there are on average 80 train
users and 250 Park and Ride users. Therefore the average daily spaces will be 430
leaving 60 spaces free for new users at Winnersh. This does not take account of any of
the existing users switching to Mereoak as their preferred site.
The new Winnersh site is future proofed in that it could be possible to add an additional
deck to the car park should the demand exceed the spaces available over a period of time.
However if Winnersh is full then users will be directed to Mereoak where capacity will be
available.
Supplementary Question
What will you do about overflow parking, since the patronage may increase since you
would no longer require a swimming costume or kayak on occasion to actually get to your
car? What will you do about the local residential streets and the problems of overflow
parking there?
Supplementary Answer
With regards to the overflow, if there is an overflow it will indicate how successful the Park
and Ride has been. What we will be doing as I said is double decking the car park
because that is what we plan to do in the future. But you would not want us spending
Council money speculatively and I would not want to do so either.
41.6

Lindsay Ferris asked the Executive Member for Resident Services the
following question:
At the last Council meeting in July, Councillor Prue Bray asked about your future plans for
the Library service and at that time the Executive forward programme showed an item
WBC755 Library Offer due to come to the Executive in September 2015. This Library
Offer item has now been deferred from September having already been deferred in both
March and June this year. Why has this been delayed?

Answer
In recent years as I mentioned previously, Wokingham Borough Council Library Services
have been bucking the national trend in terms of usage and popularity by increasing both
the number of active library users and the numbers of visits to our libraries. Maintaining
this enviable position and continuing to improve our offer is really important to us so we do
not wish to rush any decisions about how best to secure value from the provision of library
services in the future.
This year, both Councillors and Officers have been exploring options for the range of
services and models of provision including visiting other Councils which could be adopted
within our Library Service, and how any changes or innovations can have broader benefits
in achieving the Council’s overall vision for Borough. As with all other services, the Library
Service also has to play it its part in securing the long-term financial viability of the Council
by finding further efficiencies. I think we have found by visiting some of the other Council
some quite exciting opportunities to actually cross the line of providing better services
whilst at the same time cutting costs. I am quite excited about what has been found so far.
Taking the time to properly research and assess future options for the Library Service is
viewed as a prudent step at a time when the existing service is performing well. Before
any proposals are finalised, the Council would also want to engage comprehensively with
local residents and other service users in order to understand their views about the current
and future shape of their Library Service.
I would hope that the upcoming Budget Engagement events during October will also
provide an additional opportunity for residents to learn more about how the Library
Services are provided and to share ideas about how they can continue to support the
quality of life enjoyed by those living and visiting the Borough. We also have scheduled
shortly a cross party Library Working Group to also discuss opportunities.
42.

MINUTES OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND WARD MATTERS

42.1

Tim Holton asked the Executive Member for Planning and Highways the
following question
Please can you give me an update on the Meldreth Way roundabout?
Answer
Work commenced on Thursday 3 September 2015 and the agreed contract period is six
weeks. The completion date will be 14 October 2015. While there has been a need to
make minor adjustments to the work programme, this does not require any alterations to
the completion date. Weekly meetings are held to monitor work progress and resolving
the issues to ensure the agreed programme is adhered to.
42.2

Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey asked the Executive Member for Planning and
Highways the following question
Will you ensure Officers hold meetings with Winnersh Parish Council and Wokingham
Town Council before, rather than after, the details of Phase 3 of the A329 cycleway are
fixed?
Answer
I am surprised to hear that because I was under the impression from the last infrastructure
meeting I had with Officers they had informed me that they were doing that so I am
surprised if you are telling me that is not the case, but I will make sure it is done.

42.3

Lindsay Ferris asked the Executive Member for Planning and Highways the
following question
As Councillors may be aware, residents in a number of roads in Twyford including Broad
Hinton and Wessex Gardens have been experiencing parking problems for a number of
years, (in fact Wessex Gardens had problems this week and it was fortunate it was not bin
day or ambulance needed access). This is mainly due to commuters parking in their roads
for hours. What immediate action can I tell residents will done to alleviate this position?
Answer
It is something that we are very much aware of. In the first instance, I would suggested
that if there is obstruction being caused or it is dangerous the police should be contacted
because as you know we do not have Civil Parking Enforcement in the Borough, but if you
attend the next Executive, after that meeting if it is successful, we will have it. But there will
be a delay of possibly 18-24 months because that is the time it takes to make sure all the
traffic orders are correctly put in, plus the fact we then have it lay it before the Secretary of
State to get his permission.
42.4

Tom McCann asked the Executive Member for Children's Services the
following question
If someone was in the care of Wokingham Borough Council when they were a child and
something bad had happened to them, how can they now talk to the Council about it and
what should they do?
Answer
Obviously I am not aware of the specifics around this particular case that you might be
raising, but in the first instance if you are aware of a particular person that this may have
happened to I would recommend that you point them in the direction of our Director of
Children’s Services, Judith Ramsden.
43.

MOTIONS

43.1 Motion 370 submitted by Alistair Auty
The Council considered the following Notice of Motion submitted by Councillor Alistair Auty
and seconded by Councillor Chris Smith.
‘The Department for Business, Innovation and Skills is currently holding a consultation with
a view to devolving powers on Sunday Trading Laws to local authorities. This Council
welcomes this move by the Government to bring more power to a local level. This Council
will also properly investigate the effects on residents and businesses before altering the
hours for Sunday Trading.’
Following debate, upon being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to
be carried.
RESOLVED: The Department for Business, Innovation and Skills is currently holding a
consultation with a view to devolving powers on Sunday Trading Laws to local authorities.
This Council welcomes this move by the Government to bring more power to a local level.
This Council will also properly investigate the effects on residents and businesses before
altering the hours for Sunday Trading.

43.2 Motion 371 submitted by Tom McCann
The Council considered the following Notice of Motion submitted by Councillor Tom
McCann and seconded by seconded by Councillor Prue Bray.
‘This Council commits to improving the availability of timely and accurate Highways Road
Maintenance information for our residents and so resolves to:
i)

Promptly publish information about roads under consideration for resurfacing and
repair

ii) Update the information as the list is refined and prioritised until it becomes the draft
Roads Maintenance Programme for the next financial year
The information to be published will include:
iii) The process by which roads are selected for resurfacing and repair together with
anticipated dates for the completion of each stage of the process
iv) The condition of all the roads put forward for resurfacing and repair
v) The available Capital budget for roads maintenance
vi) Prioritisation
vii) Costings
viii) The final list of roads agreed for resurfacing and repair in the next financial year’
It was proposed by Councillor John Halsall that the Motion be amended as follows:
‘Currently the regular list of programmed repairs is updated weekly and uploaded
onto the website http://roadworks.org/. The programmed works list is subject to
variation due to environmental conditions, emergencies, utilities, development and
major events (like Reading Festival and Henley Royal Regatta). The major works are
already listed at: - http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/transport/roads/. However this
Council is committed to improving the quality of Highways Road Maintenance
information for our residents and resolves to:
i)

Publish further information about roads under consideration for resurfacing and
repair

ii)

Update the information as the list is refined and prioritised

The information to be published could include:
iii) The process by which roads are selected for resurfacing and repair together with
anticipated dates for the completion of each stage of the process
iv) The condition of all the roads put forward for resurfacing and repair
v) The available Capital budget for roads maintenance

vi) Prioritisation
vii) Costings
viii) The final list of roads agreed for resurfacing and repair in the next financial year
Progress will be reported in a year.”
The amendment to the Motion was accepted by the proposer of the original Motion.
Following further debate and upon being put to the meeting, the amended Motion was
declared by the Mayor to be carried.
RESOLVED: Currently the regular list of programmed repairs is updated weekly and
uploaded onto the website http://roadworks.org/. The programmed works list is subject to
variation due to environmental conditions, emergencies, utilities, development and major
events (like Reading Festival and Henley Royal Regatta). The major works are already
listed at: - http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/transport/roads/. However this Council is
committed to improving the quality of Highways Road Maintenance information for our
residents and resolves to:
ii) Publish further information about roads under consideration for resurfacing and repair
ii)

Update the information as the list is refined and prioritised

The information to be published could include:
iii) The process by which roads are selected for resurfacing and repair together with
anticipated dates for the completion of each stage of the process
iv) The condition of all the roads put forward for resurfacing and repair
v) The available Capital budget for roads maintenance
vi) Prioritisation
vii) Costings
viii) The final list of roads agreed for resurfacing and repair in the next financial year
Progress will be reported in a year.
43.3 Motion 372 submitted by Prue Bray
The Council considered the following Notice of Motion submitted by Councillor Prue Bray
and seconded by Councillor Keith Baker.
‘This Council expresses its sympathy with all those who through war or persecution
become refugees, and will publicise the details of local and national charities, voluntary
organisations and other bodies who are providing aid for refugees, in order to assist
residents of the Borough to make donations or offer other help to refugees in this country
or elsewhere in the world’.

Upon being put to the meeting, the Motion was declared by the Mayor to be carried.
RESOLVED: This Council expresses its sympathy with all those who through war or
persecution become refugees, and will publicise the details of local and national charities,
voluntary organisations and other bodies who are providing aid for refugees, in order to
assist residents of the Borough to make donations or offer other help to refugees in this
country or elsewhere in the world.

TITLE:

Localism Act Pay Policy Statement for 2015/16

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 19 November 2015

WARD

None Specific

DIRECTOR

Graham Ebers, Director of Finance and Resources

OUTCOME
Council approves the attached Policy Pay Statement for 2015/16 for publication on the
Council’s website in accordance with the Localism Act.
RECOMMENDATION
That Council approve the attached Policy Pay Statement for 2015/16 for publication on
the Council’s website in accordance with the Localism Act 2011.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
The Localism Act 2011 requires all local authorities to produce, approve (by Full
Council) and publish a Pay Policy Statement annually.
A draft Pay Policy Statement is attached below designed to meet these requirements in
terms of describing senior manager pay and benefits arrangements and the ratio of
senior management salaries to the rest of the workforce. These legal requirements are
designed to bring greater transparency in public body operations.

Background
The Chief Executive and Personnel Board considered and endorsed the draft Pay
Policy Statement on 04 November 2015.
Shared Legal Services have undertaken a review of the Pay Policy to ensure that the
content complies with legislation.
Analysis of Issues
The proposed Pay Policy Statement is designed to meet the requirements of the
Localism Act.
Our first and only Pay Policy statement was published for 2012/13 and should be
published by 1 April annually. 2013/2014 and 2014/2015 were not published due to an
internal administrative oversight. The 2015/16 Pay Policy statement will be published
as soon as there is Full Council approval and this requirement is now calendared for
the beginning of each calendar year to ensure it is presented to Full Council by 31st
March annually.
The Localism Act places no additional requirements to publish salary details of senior
posts than we currently publish each year on our website: it simply requires us to
publish annual pay policy statements as set out in the report.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

n/a
n/a
n/a

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
n/a
Cross-Council Implications
n/a
List of Background Papers
DCLG: Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the
Localism Act 2011

Contact Sarah Swindley
Telephone No 0118 974 6076
Date 5 November 2015

Service Human Resources
Email
sarah.swindley@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Pay Policy Statement 2015
Purpose
This document covers the requirements to publish a pay policy statement under s38 of the Localism
Act 2011.
Full Council has approved the Pay Policy Statement.

Contents

Version Draft 1.0

Page 1 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015

Version
1
2

Date
01/04/12
01/09/15

Description
Annual Review
Updated to comply
regulations.

with

Document Approvals
Author:

Sarah Swindley

Approval:

Personnel Board
Full Council

Contents
1.

Purpose ..................................................................................................................................... 3

2.

Definitions used in this document .............................................................................................. 3

3.

Pay Policy from April 2015 ......................................................................................................... 4

4.

Policies on redundancy and pension enhancement ................................................................... 6

5.

Pay ratios in the Council ............................................................................................................ 6

6.

Review ....................................................................................................................................... 7

7.

Other relevant Council documents ............................................................................................. 7

Version Draft 1.0

Page 2 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015

1.

Purpose

1.1

Under sections 38 to 43 of the Localism Act 2011, we are required to prepare, approve by
full Council (as a Part 1 item) and publish on our website, a pay policy statement for the
financial year 2015/16.

1.2

We may amend this statement during the financial year in which it is effective; however any
change must be approved by full Council. Any amended statement will be published on our
website within 10 working days of the meeting.

1.3

In drawing up this statement, we have taken into account the guidance issued by the
Department of Communities and Local Government and the advice supplied jointly by the
Local Government Association and the Association of Local Authority Chief Executives
(ALACE).

1.4

This statement does not include staff based in our schools as this is outside the scope of the
legislation.

1.5

This updated statement was approved by full Council on 19 November 2015.

2.

Definitions used in this document

2.1

Under the current structure of the Council, the following posts are included in the definition of
‘Chief Officer’:






2.2

Chief Executive
Director, Finance & Resources (S151 Officer)
Director, Children’s Services
Director, Environment
Director, Health & Wellbeing

Although falling within the definition of Chief Officer under the Localism Act, the pay policy
applying to the following posts is as set out in Section 3 below for Senior Managers:

















Consultant in Public Health
Head of Adult Social Care & Safeguarding
Head of Children’s Social Care & Intervention
Head of Commercial Services
Head of Community Services
Head of Customer Services & IMT
Head of Development Management & Enforcement
Head of Development Policy & Planning
Head of Finance
Head of Governance & Improvement Services (Monitoring Officer & Returning
Officer)
Head of Highways & Transport
Head of Housing
Head of Integrated Mental Health
Head of Learning & Achievement
Head of SDL Delivery

Version Draft 1.0

Page 3 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015





2.3

Head of Strategic Commissioning
Head of Support Services
Head of Town Centre Regeneration

Employees who are not chief officers; all other employees (including those employed on a
casual basis) employed directly by the Council.
This policy does not cover the remuneration of other ‘workers’ employed by the Council, as
employees of agencies or as self-employed consultants.

2.4

Lowest paid employee; minimum of grade 1 on the Council’s pay scales (£14,075 per annum
full time (37 hours per week) or £7.29 per hour).
Apprentices aged 16-18, may be paid on the age-related National Minimum Wage. The
Apprentice NMW rate is not used. Apprentices have been excluded from this definition on
the basis that they are in specific posts created for training purposes.

2.5

Median salary; £23,698 (full-time equivalent). This is a measure of the ‘average’ salary for
employees in the Council. It is defined as the ‘midpoint’ salary, such that there is an equal
probability of falling above or below it.

2.6

Mean salary; £28,009 (full-time equivalent). This is an alternative measure of the ‘average’
salary for employees in the Council. The arithmetic mean is defined as the sum of all the
salaries divided by the number of salaries.

2.7

Highest paid employee: the Chief Executive is paid £130,000 plus potential to earn a further
10% linked to performance related pay.

3.

Pay Policy from April 2015

3.1

Policy on level and elements of remuneration for Chief Officers
3.1.1 The Council benchmarks its pay rates against relevant comparator groups. For Chief
Officers the Council pays “spot salaries” (i.e. no incremental range) and seeks to
position itself appropriately in the market in terms of pay.
Their salary is increased by nationally negotiated increases agreed by the:



Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives and;
Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers

Similarly, terms and conditions agreed nationally by these bodies are also applied,
with local variations as appropriate
3.1.2 There is a performance related pay (‘PRP’) scheme for Chief Officers, approved by
the Personnel Board and based on an assessment of performance against
objectives.
3.1.3 Salary upon appointment will be made in line with 3.1.1

Version Draft 1.0

Page 4 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015

3.1.4 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 and the
Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities on Data Transparency, we
publish annually the remuneration of our senior staff on our website.
3.2

Policy on level and elements of remuneration for Senior Managers

3.2.1

Heads of Service report to either a Director of the Chief Executive. There are 4 levels,
dependent upon responsibility as determined by budgets, headcount and impact on front line
service delivery:
SM1: £52,248 to £57,365
SM2: £58,508 to £64,599
SM3: £65,890 to £72,753
SM4: £74,208 to £78,418

3.2.2

Payment arrangements for local returning officer are in line with the “Dorset Scheme”
developed by Dorset County Council and uprated annually in line with any pay increase
agreed by the National Joint Council (NJC) for local government services.

3.2.3

All other terms are conditions are in line with all other employees and described in 3.4
onwards.

3.3

All other employees
3.3.1 The Council applies the national pay agreements reached by the:




National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services
National Joint Council (NJC) for Youth & Community Services
Soulbury Committee

3.3.2 Local variations are applied as appropriate.
3.3.3 All jobs below Head of Service (excluding those covered by national Youth &
Community and national teaching-related Soulbury grades) are evaluated using the
Peodesy job evaluation system.
3.3.4 All jobs are assigned to a grade within the Wokingham Borough Council salary
structure on the basis of the job evaluation score. The Council benchmarks its pay
rates against a comparator group and will seek to position itself appropriate to the
market in terms of pay.
3.4

Salary on appointment
3.4.1 Appointments will normally be made to the minimum point of the grade. Managers
may take into account the previous experience and skills of the employee to offer
appointment above the salary minimum for the post.

3.5

Incremental progression
3.5.1 Each of the Grades has a series of incremental steps, progression within which is
subject to satisfactory performance. Increments can be withheld in the event of
unsatisfactory performance.

Version Draft 1.0

Page 5 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015

3.5.2 Progression by more than one increment, up to the maximum of the grade, can be
made in acknowledgement of exceptional performance.
3.6

Additional payments – all employees
3.6.1 The Council will consider the use of market supplements to be applied to specific
posts in the event of recruitment and /or retention difficulties. Where such
supplements are introduced they will be applied, reviewed and withdrawn in
accordance with the Council’s policy.
3.6.2 Additional payment may be made for additional hours, overtime, undertaking higher
responsibilities, and for non-standard working arrangements such as stand-by or
evening work, or for exceptional working conditions.
3.6.3

All employees can claim for qualifying payments under our travel & expense policy.

4.

Policies on redundancy and pension enhancement

4.1

Our Policies and Procedures for Organisational Change, Retirement and Employer
Discretions outline how we will approach redundancy including redundancy pay

4.2

We calculate redundancy pay using the individual’s actual weekly salary.

4.3

We do not enhance the number of statutory week’s redundancy pay an individual is entitled
to under the Employment Rights Act 1996.

4.4

The Local Government Pension Scheme contains provision for employers to enhance
pension payments. Employers are required to determine how they will use these
discretionary provisions. We have determined generally not to use our discretion to enhance
pension payments by either additional years or additional pension.

4.5

In certain circumstances, eligible employees may request early retirement or flexible
retirement. (Flexible retirement gives access to accrued pension, whilst allowing the scheme
member to continue working).In both these cases, there must be sufficient financial or other
benefit to the Council for such retirements to be approved and if there is a cost associated
with the request, approval sought from the Personnel Board.

5.

Pay ratios in the Council

5.1

It is the policy of the Council to ensure that the ratio of the salary of the highest paid officer
and the lowest paid officer is well below the 20:1 ratio recommended as a maximum in the
terms of reference for the 2011 Hutton Review of Fair Pay in the Public Sector.

5.2

As at 1st April 2015, pay ratios within the Council stand as follows;



5.3

Highest : lowest = 10:1
Highest : median = 6:1

This is based on the following salary packages;




Highest paid (Chief Exec (incl. max PRP) = £143,000
Lowest paid (Grade 1 SCP 9) = £14,075
Median (average) = £23,698

Version Draft 1.0

Page 6 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015

6.

Review

6.1

This policy will be reviewed at least annually and more frequently if necessary to respond to
any changes.

6.2

The Personnel Board is responsible for recommending the policy statement for approval

7.

Other relevant Council documents
Policies & Procedures relating to:
 Travel Expenses
 Retirement
 Honoraria
 Market Supplements
 Overtime
 Pension’s discretions
 Organisational Change
Pay Scales relating to:




National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services
National Joint Council (NJC) for Youth & Community Services
Soulbury Committee

Version Draft 1.0

Page 7 of 7
Pay Policy Statement

Dated: August 2015

TITLE

Gambling Act 2005 - Statement of Principles

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 19 November 2015

WARD

None Specific

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Paul Anstey, Joint Service Delivery Manager for
Environmental Health and Licensing

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY

This report introduces a draft policy for consideration together with the results from
the consultation exercise undertaken during September and October 2015.
RECOMMENDATION
That under the Gambling Act 2005, the Council adopt the Statement of Principles as set
out in the Appendix to the report.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report presents the outcomes of the consultation exercise on the Gambling Act
draft Statement of Principles previously agreed by Members on 15th September 2015.
The draft document has not been amended following the consultation. The responses
were observations or comments in nature and do not to affect the original content of the
proposed draft Statement of Principles.

Background
Under the Gambling Act 2005, the Council is required to review and consult upon its
‘Statement of Gambling Principles’ every three years from the date of adoption. The
present Statement of Gambling Principles was published on 31 January 2013 and
therefore must undergo a review and be re-published on or before 31 January 2016.
The statement must be produced following consultation with those bodies and persons
set out in subsection (3) of section 349. This includes the Chief Officer of Police,
persons who represent the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the
area and persons who represent the interests of persons who are likely to be affected
by the exercise of the authority’s functions under the Act.
Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires all licensing authorities to prepare and
publish a statement of the principles that they propose to apply in exercising their
functions under the Act. The Statement of Principles (‘the Statement’) will last for a
maximum of three years and can be reviewed and revised by the authority at any time.
The existing statement has so far been found to be suitable for its purpose. This policy
was subject to an extensive consultation exercise in 2009. Amendments to the policy
were made following guidance issued by the Gambling Commission’s Licensing
Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) and Local Government Association in early
2015.
A period of four weeks was allowed for consultation on the draft statement of principles.
The responses received which were observations or comments have not been
incorporated into the draft statement.
For members information the dates for completion of this process are as follows:
19 November
17 December
31 January 2016

Draft statement for consideration for adoption by Council
New statement published
Statement comes into effect

Analysis of Issues
Draft Statement of Gambling Principles for consideration which is amended following
recent guidance and consultation.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Nil

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
Yes

Nil

Yes

Nil

Yes

Revenue or
Capital?

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None

Cross-Council Implications
Not applicable
List of Background Papers
Existing Gambing Act Statement of Principes
Gambling Commission – Guidance to Local Authorities
Local Government Association (May 2015) – Letter to Licensing Authorities
Licensing and Appeals Committee Report 15th September 2015
Consultation Responses received
Contact
Telephone No
Date

Julia O’Brien
01635 519 849
10 November 2015

Service
Licensing Service
Email Jobrien@westberks.gov.uk
Version No.
One

Gambling Act 2005

Statement Of Principles

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

1

Contents
Item
Part A - General
1.
The licensing objectives
2.
Introduction
3.
Declaration
4.
Local Area Profile (LAP)
4. 5. Responsible Authorities
5. 6 Interested Parties
6 7. Exchange of information
7. 8. Enforcement
9.
Risk Assessments
8. 10 Licensing authority functions
Part B - Premises licences
1.
General Principles
2.
Adult Gaming Centres
3.
(Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres
4.
Casinos
5.
Bingo
6.
Betting premises
7.
Tracks
8.
Travelling fairs
9.
Provisional Statements
10.
Reviews
Part C - Permits / Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
1.
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming
machine permits
2.
(Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits
3.
Prize Gaming Permits
4.
Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits
5.
Temporary Use Notices
6.
Occasional Use Notices

Page
3
4
6
7
68
78
89
89
10
9 11
12
18
19
20
20
20
21
21
21
22
23
24
26
26
28
28

This Statement of Principles was approved by Wokingham Borough Council on
22 November 2012.
All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance
to Licensing Authorities, 3rd 5th Edition, published in May 2009. March 2015.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

2

PART A
1. The Licensing Objectives
In exercising functions under the Gambling Act 2005, the Wokingham
Licensing Authority will have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in
section 1 of the Act. The licensing objectives are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or
disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being
used to support crime
 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being
harmed or exploited by gambling
It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being
harmed or exploited by gambling”.
Wokingham Licensing Authority is aware that, in accordance with Section 153,
in making decisions about premises licences and temporary use notices it
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it
is:





in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
Gambling Commission
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

3

2. Introduction
Wokingham Borough Council is situated in the County of Berkshire, which
contains 6 Unitary Councils in total. The Council area has a population of
150,229 (2001 Census) making it the largest in the County in terms of
population. In terms of area it covers 17,892 hectares. The Council area is
mixed rural/urban. The area is shown in the map below.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

4

Wokingham Licensing Authority is required by the Gambling Act 2005 to
publish a statement of the principles that they proposed to apply when
exercising their functions. This statement must be published at least every
three years. The statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and
any amended parts re-consulted upon. The statement must be then be republished.
Wokingham Licensing Authority consulted widely upon this statement before
finalising and publishing. A list of those organisations consulted is provided
below.
The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by
Licensing Authorities:




The Chief Officer of Police;
One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s
area;
One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the
authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005.

We consulted:
 Thames Valley Police
 Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service
 Gambling Commission
 Wokingham Borough Planning Service
 Wokingham Borough Environmental Health Service
 Wokingham Safeguarding Children Board
 HM Revenue and Customs
 Existing Gambling operators within the Wokingham Borough area
 Gambling Trade Associations
o Association of British Bookmakers
o Association of Licensed Multiple Retailers
o Bar Entertainment and Dance Association
o British Amusement Catering Trade Association
o British Institute of Inn Keeping
o British Beer and Pub Association
o Committee of Registered Clubs Association
o Federation of Community Associations
o Federation of Licensed Victuallers Associations
o Gamblers Anonymous
o GAMCARE
o Guild of Master Victuallers
o National Association of Bookmakers
o The Bingo Association

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

5




Wokingham Borough Citizens Panel
Parish and Town Councils

Our consultation will took take place during September and October 2012
2015 and we followed the HM Government Code of PracticeCabinet Office
guidance on Consultation (published July 2008 2012), which is available at:
http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file47158.pdf
GOV.UK

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

6

The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Wokingham
Licensing Authority of those comments is available by request to:
The Licensing Service
Wokingham Borough Council
PO Box 155
Shute End
Wokingham
Berks
RG40 1BN
e-mail to: licensing@wokingham.gov.uk
and the Agenda and Minutes of the Council meetings where the Statement of
Principles was considered can be viewed on the Council website at
www.wokingham.gov.uk.
.
The policy was approved at a meeting of the Full Council on (Date to be
added) and was published via our website on (Date to be added).
Should you have any comments as regards this policy statement please send
them via e-mail or letter to:
The Licensing Service
Wokingham Borough Council
PO Box 155
Shute End
Wokingham
Berks
RG40 1BN
e-mail to: licensing@wokingham.gov.uk
It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any
person to make an application, make representations about an application, or
apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on its own merits
and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.
3. Declaration
In producing the final statement, the Wokingham Licensing Authority declares
that it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Licensing Authorities, and
any responses from those consulted on the statement.
4. Local Area Profiles (LAP)
Whilst not a requirement the authority may consider adopting a Local Area
Profile in line with developing a more local focused statement policy which will
be a relevant matter when determining applications or reviewing existing
licences.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

7

The nature and creation of such a profile involves a process of drawing
together and presenting information about the area and in particular areas of
concern within the locality. Information will be required from a number of
bodies, e.g. public health, mental health, social housing providers, community
groups and other partner organisations for the production of such a profile.
4. 5 Responsible Authorities
Wokingham Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the
principles it will apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act
to designate, in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority
about the protection of children from harm. The principles are:



the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole
of the licensing authority’s area; and
the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected
persons, rather than any particular vested interest group.

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance
for local authorities, Wokingham Licensing Authority designates the
Wokingham Safeguarding Children Board for this purpose.
The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act
2005 are available via the Council’s website at: www.wokingham.gov.uk.
5. 6 Interested parties
Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or
apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:
“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an
application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the
licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is
made, the person a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the
authorised activities,
b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities,
or
c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”
Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as
councillors and MPs. No specific evidence of being asked to represent an
interested person will be required as long as the councillor / MP represents
the ward likely to be affected. Likewise, parish councils likely to be affected,
will be considered to be interested parties. Other than these however,
Wokingham Licensing Authority will generally require written evidence that a
person/body (e.g. an advocate / relative) ‘represents’ someone who either
lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the
authorised activities and/or has business interests that might be affected by

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

8

the authorised activities. A letter from one of these persons, requesting the
representation is sufficient.
Wokingham Licensing Authority is required by regulations to state the
principles it will apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to
determine whether a person is an interested party. The principles are:
Each case will be decided upon its merits. Wokingham Licensing Authority
will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making. It will consider the examples
of considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to
Licensing Authorities at 8.11 to 8.19. It will also consider the Gambling
Commission's Guidance that "has business interests" should be given the
widest possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups
and medical practices.

If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their views
then care should be taken that the councillors are not part of the Licensing
Committee dealing with the licence application. If there are any doubts then
please contact the licensing service. E-mail: licensing@wokingham.gov.uk or
telephone 01189 746359
6. 7 Exchange of Information
Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles
to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29
and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and
the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act
with the respect to the exchange of information between it and the other
persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.
The principle that Wokingham Licensing Authority applies is that it will act in
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of
information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 1998 will
not be contravened. Wokingham Licensing Authority will also have regard to
any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, as well as
any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers
provided in the Gambling Act 2005.
Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with
other bodies then they will be made available.
7. 8 Enforcement
Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005
to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the
powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in
respect of the offences specified.
Wokingham Licensing Authority’s principles are that:

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

9

It will be guided by the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities
and will endeavour to be:






Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and
minimised;
Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject
to public scrutiny;
Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented
fairly;
Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple
and user friendly; and
Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise
side effects.

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for local authorities,
Wokingham Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with other
regulatory regimes so far as possible.
Wokingham Licensing Authority has also adopted and implemented a riskbased inspection programme based on:
 The licensing objectives
 Relevant codes of practice
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36
 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy
The main enforcement and compliance role for Wokingham Licensing
Authority in terms of the Gambling Act 2005 is to ensure compliance with the
premises licences and other permissions which it authorises. The Gambling
Commission is the enforcement body for the operating and personal licences.
It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of
gaming machines will not be dealt with by the Wokingham Licensing Authority
but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.
Wokingham Licensing Authority will also keep itself informed of developments
as regards the work of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of
the regulatory functions of local authorities.
Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, Wokingham Licensing
Authority’s enforcement policy will be available upon request to the licensing
service. E-mail: licensing@wokingham.gov.uk or telephone 01189 746359.
Our risk methodology is also be available upon request.
9. Risk Assessments
The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice
(LCCP) published in February 2015 prescribe the need for operators to
consider local risks.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

10

Local risk assessments apply to all non-remote casino, adult gaming centre,
bingo, family entertainment centre, betting and remote betting intermediary
(trading room only) licences, except non-remote general betting (limited) and
betting intermediary licences.
This provision comes into force on 6 April 2016. Licensees are required to
assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of
gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures
and control measures to mitigate those risks. In undertaking their risk
assessments, they must take into account relevant matters identified in this
policy statement.
Licensees are required to undertake a local risk assessment when applying
for a new premises licence. Risk assessments must also be updated:
•
When applying for a variation of a premises licence.
•
To take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including
those identified in a licensing authority’s policy statement.
•
When there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may
affect their mitigation of local risks.
The licensing authority has an expectation that all local risk assessments will
take into account the local social profile of the area.
8. 10. Licensing Authority functions

Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:













Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities
are to take place by issuing Premises Licences
Issue Provisional Statements
Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to
undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits
and/or Club Machine Permits
Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs
Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres
Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the
Licensing Act 2003) for the use of two or fewer gaming machines
Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises
licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than
two machines
Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds
Issue Prize Gaming Permits
Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices
Receive Occasional Use Notices

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

11




Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of
licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange)
Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under
these functions

It should be noted that local licensing authorities are not to be involved in
licensing remote gambling at all, which is regulated by the Gambling
Commission via operating licences. Remote gambling is defined as "gambling
in which persons participate by the use of remote communication" namely, the
internet, telephone, television, radio or "any other kind of electronic or other
technology for facilitating communication".

The Council will carry out its responsibilities under the Gambling Act 2005
speedily, efficiently and cost-effectively. To do this functions are delegated
from the Licensing and Appeals Committee to either Sub-Committees or
officers as appropriate. Decisions will be delegated in the following manner,
however the definitive delegations are included within the Councils Scheme of
Delegations which can be found on the Council’s website –
www.wokingham.gov.uk:

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

12

Matter to be dealt with

Final approval of three
year licensing policy
Policy not to permit
casinos

Council

Sub-committee
of licensing
committee

Officers

X

X
X

Fee setting (when
appropriate)
Application for premises
licences

Where
representations
have been
received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Application for a
variation to a licence

Where
representations
have been
received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Application for a transfer
of a licence

Where
representations
have been
received from
the Commission

Where no
representations
received from the
Commission

Application for a
provisional statement

Where
representations
have been
received and
not withdrawn

Where no
representations
received/
representations have
been withdrawn

Review of a premises
licence
Application for club
gaming/ club machine
permits

Cancellation of club
gaming/ club machine
permits
Applications for other
permits
Cancellation of licensed
premises gaming
machine permits

X
Where
objections have
been made (and
not withdrawn)

X

X
X
X

Consideration of
temporary use notice
Decision to give a
counter notice to a
temporary use notice

Where no objections
made/objections
have been withdrawn

X

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

13

PART B
PREMISES LICENCES: CONSIDERATION OF APPLICATIONS
1. General Principles
Premises licences are subject to the requirements set-out in the Gambling Act
2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions
which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.
Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also attach
others, where it is believed to be appropriate.
(i) Decision – making
Wokingham Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions about
premises licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling
in so far as it thinks it is:





in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the
Gambling Commission;
in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission ;
reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
in accordance with the Wokingham Licensing Authority’s statement of
licensing policy.

It is appreciated that in accordance with the Gambling Commission's
Guidance for local authorities "moral objections to gambling are not a valid
reason to reject applications for premises licences" (except as regards any 'no
casino resolution' - see section on Casinos below) and also that unmet
demand is not a criterion for a licensing authority.
(ii) Definition of “premises” – “Premises” is defined in the Act as “any
place”. Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence
applying to any place. However, it is possible for a single building to be
subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different
parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be reasonably
regarded as being different premises. However, licensing authorities should
pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-divisions of a single
building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions relating to
access between premises are observed.
The Gambling Commission states that in the third edition of its guidance to
Licensing Authorities that: “In most cases the expectation is that a single
building/plot will be the subject of an application for a licence. But that does
not mean that the premises cannot be the subject of separate premises
licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.
Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being
separate premises will depend on the circumstances. The location of the
premises will clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the
division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the
licensing officer. However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a
Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

14

building that are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or
moveable partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises.”
Wokingham Licensing Authority takes particular note of the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance for local authorities which states that: licensing
authorities should take particular care in considering applications for multiple
licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a building used
for other (non-gambling) purposes. In particular they should be aware of the
following:
 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed
by gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them from taking
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to
gambling. Therefore premises should be configured so that children are
not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe
gambling where they are prohibited from participating.
 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of
different premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into a
gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to access
the premises without going through another licensed premises or
premises with a permit.
 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the
premises licence.
The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should
be aware of, which may include:
 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person or
someone else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public
passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling
premises?
Wokingham Licensing authority will consider these and other relevant factors
in making its decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.
The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each
premises type are reproduced below:
7.25:
Casinos
 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street
(as defined at 7.23 of the Guidance)
 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or
mainly by children and/or young persons
 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other
premises which holds a gambling premises licence

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

15

Adult Gaming Centre


No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any
other licensed gambling premises

Betting Shops



Access must be from a street (as per para 7.23 Guidance to Licensing
Authorities) or from another premises with a betting premises licence
No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the
retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect there cannot be an
entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any kind and you could not
have a betting shop at the back of a café – the whole area would have
to be licensed.

Tracks


No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises


No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre


No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities
contains further guidance on this issue, which Wokingham Licensing authority
will also take into account in its decision-making.
(iii) Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling
be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required
premises are brought into use.

should only
be satisfied
near future,
before the

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration,
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an
application for a provisional statement should be made instead.
Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

16

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration
process:


First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for
gambling
Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to
cater for the situation that the premises are not yet in the state in
which they ought to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to
grant such a licence.
More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be
granted can be found at paragraphs 7.59-7.66 of the Guidance.
(iv) Location – Wokingham licensing authority is aware that demand issues
cannot be considered with regard to the location of premises but that
considerations in terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its decisionmaking.
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing
Authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to the protection of
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling,
as well as issues of crime and disorder. Should any specific policy be decided
upon as regards areas where gambling premises should not be located, this
statement will be updated. It should be noted that any such policy does not
preclude any application being made and each application will be decided on
its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns
can be overcome.
(v) Planning:
The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states:
7.59 – In determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take
into consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any
irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and the licensing
objectives. One example of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the
applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval for
their proposal.
Wokingham Licensing authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as
per the above guidance. In addition Wokingham Licensing authority notes the
following excerpt from the Guidance:
7.66 - When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings,
the licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings
have or comply with the necessary planning or building consents. Those
matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building
regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises
licence. Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

17

account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or
building consent when considering a premises licence application. Equally
the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any
action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.

(vi) Duplication with other regulatory regimes - Wokingham Licensing
Authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / regulatory
systems where possible, including planning. Wokingham Licensing Authority
will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning
permission or building regulations approval, in its consideration of it. It will
though, listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which
are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a
situation arise.
When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings,
Wokingham Licensing Authority will not take into account whether those
buildings have to comply with the necessary planning or buildings consents.
Fire or health and safety risks will not be taken into account, as these matters
are dealt with under relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations
and must not form part of the consideration for the premises licence.
Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably
consistent with the licensing objectives. With regard to these objectives,
Wokingham Licensing Authority has considered the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance to local authorities and some comments are made below.
Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime Wokingham Licensing Authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will
be taking a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.
The Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises
in terms of this licensing objective. Thus, where an area has known high
levels of organised crime Wokingham Licensing Authority will consider
carefully whether gambling premises are suitable to be located there and
whether conditions may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.
Wokingham Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction between disorder
and nuisance and will consider factors such as whether police assistance was
required and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it, so
as to make that distinction.
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way - Wokingham
Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated that
it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with
ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will be
addressed via operating and personal licences.
Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or
exploited by gambling - Wokingham Licensing Authority has noted the

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

18

Gambling Commission's Guidance for local authorities states that this
objective means preventing children from taking part in gambling (as well as
restriction of advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or are,
particularly attractive to children). The Wokingham Licensing Authority will
therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling Commission's Guidance,
whether specific measures are required at particular premises, with regard to
this licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include supervision of
entrances / machines, segregation of areas etc.
Wokingham Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of the Codes of
Practice which the Gambling Commission issues as regards this licensing
objective, in relation to specific premises such as casinos.
Regarding the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling
Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for
regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble
more than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people
who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling
due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.” Wokingham Licensing
Authority will consider this licensing objective on a case-by-case basis.
Should a practical definition prove possible in future then this policy statement
will be updated with it, by way of a revision.
Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will
be:





relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a
gambling facility;
directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis,
although there will be a number of measures Wokingham Licensing Authority
will consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are specific
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.
Wokingham Licensing Authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer
their own suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met
effectively.
Wokingham Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which
may be required for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.
Such measures may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of
gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and the
supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in
order to pursue the licensing objectives. These matters are in accordance
with the Gambling Commission's Guidance.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

19

Wokingham Licensing Authority will also ensure that where category C or
above machines are on offer in premises to which children are admitted:






all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance;
only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;
access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be
observed by the staff or the licence holder; and
at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently
displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to
persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple
premises licences are applicable.
It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach
to premises licences which are:






any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to
comply with an operating licence condition;
conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method
of operation;
conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required
(the Gambling Act
2005 specifically removes the membership
requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it
being reinstated); and
conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to
Licensing Authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises
may attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for
example by children and young persons) then it may require that the
entrances to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled
to impose a premises licence to this effect.
Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or
not will be necessary. It will not be automatically assumed that they need to
be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary
(as per the Guidance, Part 33).
2. Adult Gaming Centres
Wokingham Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to
protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be
sufficient measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not
have access to the premises.
Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

20

Wokingham Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing
objectives such as:










Proof of age schemes
CCTV
Supervision of entrances / machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations
such as GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres:
Wokingham Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to
protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example,
that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not
have access to the adult only gaming machine areas.
Wokingham Licensing Authority may consider measures to meet the licensing
objectives such as:










CCTV
Supervision of entrances / machine areas
Physical separation of areas
Location of entry
Notices / signage
Specific opening hours
Self-exclusion schemes
Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations
such as GamCare.
Measures / training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant
school children on the premises

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.
Wokingham Licensing Authority will, in accordance with the Gambling
Commission’s guidance, refer to the Commission’s website to see any
conditions that apply to operating licences covering the way in which the area
containing the category C machines should be delineated. Wokingham

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

21

Licensing Authority will also make itself aware of any mandatory or default
conditions on these premises licences, when they have been published.
4. Casinos
There are currently no casinos operating within the Wokingham Borough
Council area.
This Council passed a ‘no casino’ resolution on 30 November 2006. Details of
the resolution can be viewed on the Council’s website.
Potential licence applicants should note that as a 'no-casino' resolution has
been passed by this Council no applications for casino premises licences will
be considered. Any applications received will be returned with a notification
that a 'no-casino' resolution is in place.
5. Bingo premises
Wokingham Licensing Authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s
Guidance states:
18.4 Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be
played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. This
will be a relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo
premises applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing
premises from its ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or
multiple licences, for that or those excluded areas.
This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph 18.8 regarding the
unusual circumstances in which the splitting of a pre-existing premises into
two adjacent premises might be permitted, and in particular that it is not
permissible to locate sixteen category B3 gaming machines in one of the
resulting premises, as the gaming machine entitlement for that premises
would be exceeded.
18.7 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however
they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C
machines are made available for use these must be separated from areas
where children and young people are allowed.
6. Betting premises
Betting machines - Wokingham Licensing Authority will, in accordance with
the Gambling Commission's Guidance, take into account the size of the
premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-person
transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by
children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by
vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of
betting machines an operator wants to offer.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

22

7. Tracks
There are currently no tracks with the Wokingham Borough Council area.
Should such a facility be proposed this Statement will be revised to include
issues relating to this type of premises.
8. Travelling Fairs
It will fall to Wokingham Licensing Authority to decide whether, where
category D machines and / or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is
to be made available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that
the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at
the fair is met.
The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the
statutory definition of a travelling fair.
It is noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair
applies on a per calendar year basis, and that it applies to the piece of land on
which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different
travelling fairs occupying the land. This licensing authority will work with its
neighbouring authorities to ensure that land which crosses our boundaries is
monitored so that the statutory limits are not exceeded.
9. Provisional Statements
Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a
premises licence. There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating
licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.
S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the
licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or
she:
- expects to be constructed;
-expects to be altered; or
-expects to acquire a right to occupy.
The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the
same as that for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to
give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises
licence. Responsible authorities and interested parties may make
representations and there are rights of appeal.
In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy
the premises in respect of which their provisional application is made.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

23

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The licensing
authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining
the premises licence application, and in terms of representations about
premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional statement,
no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can
be taken into account unless:
 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the
provisional statement stage, or
 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.
In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to
matters:




which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional
statement stage;
which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s
circumstances; or
where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with
the plan submitted with the application. This must be a substantial
change to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can
discuss any concerns it has with the applicant before making a
decision.

10. Reviews:
Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested
parties or responsible authorities; however, it is for the licensing authority to
decide whether the review is to be carried-out. This will be on the basis of
whether the request for the review is relevant to the matters listed below;
 in accordance with any relevant Code of Practice issued by the Gambling
Commission;
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling
Commission;
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles.
The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will
certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence,
or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests
for review.
The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a particular premises
licence, or a particular class of premises licence on the basis of any reason
which it thinks is appropriate.
Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing
authority, representations can be made by responsible authorities and
interested parties during a 28 day period. This period begins 7 days after the
Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

24

application was received by the licensing authority, who will publish notice of
the application within 7 days of receipt.
The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the
28 day period for making representations has passed.
The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority
should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified, the
options open to the licensing authority are:(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by the licensing
authority;
(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of State or
Scottish Ministers (e.g. opening hours) or remove or amend such an
exclusion;
(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months;
and
(d) revoke the premises licence.
In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the
licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of
the Act, as well as any relevant representations.
In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided
facilities for gambling at the premises. This is to prevent people from applying
for licences in a speculative manner without intending to use them.
Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as
possible, notify its decision to:
- the licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)
- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the chief officer of police or chief constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

PART C
Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

25

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine
permits (Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule 10 paragraph 7)
Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide
gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit. It
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly
or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use (Section 238).
The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may prepare a
statement of principles that they propose to consider in determining the
suitability of an applicant for a permit and in preparing this statement, and/or
considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing
objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the
Commission under section 25. The Gambling Commission’s Guidance for
local authorities also states: “In their three year licensing policy statement,
licensing authorities may include a statement of principles that they propose to
apply when exercising their functions in considering applications for permits,
licensing authorities will want to give weight to child protection issues." (24.6)
Guidance also states: “...An application for a permit may be granted only if the
licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed
FEC, and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the
application….Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to
demonstrate:




a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs;
that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in
Schedule 7 of the Act); and
that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes
and prizes. (24.7)

It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this
type of permit.
Statement of Principles - Wokingham Licensing Authority will expect the
applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in place to protect
children from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling
but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of such
policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, they
may include appropriate measures / training for staff as regards suspected
truant school children on the premises, measures / training covering how staff
would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or
children causing perceived problems on / around the premises. Wokingham
Licensing Authority will also expect, in accordance with Gambling Commission
Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that
the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7
of the Act); and that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the
maximum stakes and prizes.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

26

2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits - (Schedule 13
paragraph 4(1))
Automatic entitlement: 2 machines
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for
consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of
categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the licensing
authority.
The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of
any particular premises if:
 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit
of the licensing objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of
section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been
provided to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and
that any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
about the location and operation of the machine has been complied
with);
 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the
premises.

Permit: 3 or more machines
If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for
a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon
the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission
issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they
think relevant.”
Wokingham Licensing Authority considers that “such matters” will be decided
on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to
protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by
gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to
the adult only gaming machines. Measures which will satisfy the authority that
there will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of the
bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being
used by those under 18. Compliance with the Gambling Commission Code of
Practice will also be taken into consideration. Notices and signage may also
help. As regards the protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to
consider the provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for
organisations such as GamCare.
It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a premises
licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would most
likely need to be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre
premises licence.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

27

It should be noted that Wokingham Licensing Authority can decide to grant the
application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of
machines than that applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot be
attached.
It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code
of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and
operation of the machine.
3. Prize Gaming Permits - (Statement of Principles on Permits - Schedule
14 paragraph 8 (3))
The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions
under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the
licensing authority propose to consider in determining the suitability of the
applicant for a permit”.
Wokingham Licensing Authority has prepared a Statement of Principles which
is that the applicant should set out the types of gaming that he or she is
intending to offer and that the applicant should be able to demonstrate:



that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in
Regulations; and
that the gaming offered is within the law.

In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority
does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard
to any Gambling Commission guidance.
It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with
which the permit holder must comply, but that the licensing authority cannot
attach conditions. The conditions in the Act are:






the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be
complied with;
all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the
game must be played and completed on the day the chances are
allocated; and the result of the game must be made public in the
premises on the day that it is played;
the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set
out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if nonmonetary prize); and
participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any
other gambling.

4. Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

28

Members Clubs and Miners’ welfare institutes (but not Commercial Clubs)
may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club Machine Permit. The Club
Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3
machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of
chance as set-out in forthcoming regulations. A Club Machine Permit will
enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 machines of categories
B, C or D).
Gambling Commission Guidance states: "Members clubs must have at least
25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate
regulations. It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which
will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968. A members’ club must
be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and
controlled by its members equally. Examples include working men’s clubs,
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations."
The Commission Guidance also notes that "licensing authorities may only
refuse an application on the grounds that:
(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to
receive the type of permit for which it has applied;
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or
young persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by
the applicant while providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten
years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.”
There is also a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises
which hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003
(Schedule 12 paragraph 10). As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for
local authorities states: "Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity
for objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the grounds
upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced." and "The grounds
on which an application under the process may be refused are:
(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming
prescribed under schedule 12;
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities
for other gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant
in the last ten years has been cancelled."
There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with
any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation
of gaming machines.

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

29

5. Temporary Use Notices
Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according the Gambling Commission,
would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.
The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or
company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino
operating licence.
The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this
Statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005
(Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use
Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal chance
gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in
practice means poker tournaments.
There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices.
The meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities. As with "premises",
the definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular
circumstances of each notice that is given. In the Act "premises" is defined as
including "any place".
In considering whether a place falls within the definition of "a set of
premises", the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the
ownership/occupation and control of the premises.
Wokingham Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears
that their effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be
described as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities.
6. Occasional Use Notices
The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not
exceeded. This licensing authority will though consider the definition of a
‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.
End

Gambling Act 2005 – Statement of Principles – Adopted 19th22nd November 20152

30

TITLE

Changes to the Constitution

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 19 November 2015

WARD

None Specific

LEAD OFFICER

Andrew Moulton, Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Reviewing the Council’s Constitution on a regular basis ensures that it is relevant and fit
for purpose.
RECOMMENDATION
That Council approves the following changes to the Council’s Constitution, as put
forward by the Constitution Review Working Group:
1)

2)

Revised versions of the:
(a)
Scheme of Delegation to Officers – Chapters 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3, as set
out in Appendix A to the report;
(b)

Financial Regulations – Chapter 12.1, as set out in Appendix B to the
report; and

(c)

Procurement and Contract Rules of Procedure – Chapter 13.1 as set out in
Appendix C to the report.

the following wording to be added to Rule 4.4.3.1a) Audit Activity – Monitoring the
Council’s Operations:
“In addition to approve any significant additional consulting services
engaged upon during the year, since the submission of the annual internal
audit plan.”

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Chapter 1.1.4 of the Council’s Constitution states that the Monitoring Officer will monitor
and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are
given full effect.
The report contains a number of proposed amendments to various sections of the
Constitution which have been considered and agreed by members of the Constitution
Review Working Group. The revised Chapters 11.2 and 11.3 have also been
considered and agreed by the Executive at its meeting held on 29 October 2015.

Background
Section 11 - Officers
1.

Chapters 11.1, 11.2 and 11.3

Apart from minor amendments these chapters, which include the Officer Scheme of
Delegation, have not been updated since 2010. Since this date there has been a major
change in the Council’s management structure which has resulted in some
amalgamation of departments and changes in responsibility for different areas making
the current version out of date.
The proposed version, attached at Appendix A, contains amendments to Chapters 11.1
and 11.2 and a completely rewritten Chapter 11.3 – Scheme of Delegation to Officers.
Chapter 11.3 was previously based on delegating specific actions to specific roles. The
revised version is primarily based on the delegation of functions, powers or duties
relating to specific areas of responsibility to the relevant Director who can then delegate
these to other Officers as appropriate.
The various Acts/Regulations were previously spread throughout the document and
changes in service area responsibility sometimes meant that an Officer did not have the
appropriate delegation. As a result all Acts/Regulations have been included in an
Appendix at the back of the document which should ensure that all Directors have the
necessary delegation to act on a relevant piece of legislation.
None of the amendments proposed delegates to Officers any of the functions which are
currently matters which are reserved to Council, the Executive or any committee/subcommittee of the Council.
Section 12 – Financial and Procurement and Contract Regulations
2.

Chapter 12.1 – Financial Regulations

A number of amendments are proposed which are shown in bold italics in Appendix B to
the report.
3.

Chapter 12.2 – Procurement and Contract Regulations

The Government’s new Public Contracts Regulations 2015 came into force on 26
February 2015, in response to substantial revisions in the EU Directive. Corporate
Procurement and Shared Legal Services have been reviewing and interpreting the
details of the new legislation to determine how it will be implemented in the Council’s
own Procurement and Contracts Regulations. This exercise has been done in
collaboration with the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead to further future
opportunities for joint procurement activity and the economies of scale that this brings
through having a similar set of procurement rules and processes.
The need to change the Regulations to meet the new legislation was also a good
opportunity to completely refresh and reformat the existing Regulations from an
unwieldy, complex and non-user focussed 122 page document to a clearer and more
effective set of Rules and Procedures that will improve understanding and compliance.

The title of the document has been changed to the WBC Procurement and Contract
Rules and Procedures (PCRP) and it is proposed to have this as a distinct chapter (13)
in the Constitution to separate it from the Finance Regulations in order to enhance the
chance of it being read and used.
The revised PCRP is attached at Appendix C to the report.
Chapter 4.4 – Committees of the Council – Audit Committee
4.

Rule 4.4.3.1 Audit Activity – Monitoring the Council’s Operations

As part of the Shared Audit and Investigation Service self-assessment review against
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) it was identified that the Audit
Committee was not required in its Terms of Reference to approve consultancy work
performed by the service. Although in practice work was approved in order to fully
comply with the PSIAS it would be preferable if this requirement was formally
documented and included in the Committee’s Terms of Reference.
The following amendment is therefore proposed (additional wording is shown in bold
italics):
“4.4.3.1 Audit Activity – Monitoring the Council’s Operations
a)
To approve the Service Manager Shared Audit and Investigation Services’
annual report and opinion and a summary of actual and proposed internal
audit activity and the level of assurance it can give over the Council’s
corporate governance arrangements. In addition to approve any
significant additional consulting services engaged upon during the
year, since the submission of the annual internal audit plan.”
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

£0
£0
£0

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Cross-Council Implications
None

List of Background Papers
The Council’s Constitution
Public Contracts Regulations 2015
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS)
Contact Anne Hunter
Telephone No 0118 9746051
Date 10 November 2015

Service Governance and Improvement
Services
Email anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Appendix A
SECTION 11
OFFICERS
Ref

Contents

Page
No.

Chapter 11.1 – Officers - General Principles
11.1.1

Terminology

1

11.1.2

Management structure

1

11.1.3

Functions of the Head of Paid Service

2

11.1.4

Functions of the Monitoring Officer

2

11.1.5

Functions of the Chief Finance Officer

3

11.1.6

Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and
Chief Finance Officer

4

11.1.7

Conduct

4

11.1.8

Employment

4

11.1.9

Appointment of Political Assistants

4

Chapter 11.2 – Responsibility for Local Choice Functions
11.2

Responsibility for Local Choice Functions

5

Chapter 11.3 –Scheme of Delegation to Officers
11.3.1

Introduction

7

11.3.2

Principles and Conditions

7

11.3.3

Proper Officer Functions

10

11.3.4

Chief Executive

14

11.3.5

Duties and Powers Delegated to all Directors

15

11.3.6

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Director Finance and
Resources

17

11.3.7

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Director Children’s Services

18

11.3.8

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Director Health and
Wellbeing

18

11.3.9

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Director Environment

19

11.3.10

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Head of Governance
Improvement Services

20

11.3.11

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Head of Town Centre

20

Regeneration
11.3.12

Duties and Powers Delegated to the Director Public Health

20

App A

List of Relevant Acts

22

Page updated

CHAPTER 11.1 – OFFICERS – GENERAL PRINCIPLES
11.1.1 Terminology
The use of the word "Officers" means all employees and staff engaged by the Council to
carry out its functions and also covers those engaged under short term, agency or other
non employed situations.
11.1.2 Management Structure
The Council may engage such staff (referred to as Officers) as it considers necessary to
carry out its functions. Details of the Council’s management structure are set out in
Chapter 1.3.
11.1.2.1
The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who will be designated as
appears below:
Post
Chief Executive (and Head of
Paid Service)

Functions and areas of responsibility
Overall corporate management and operational
responsibility (including overall management
responsibility for all Officers).
Provision of professional advice to all parties in the
decision making process.
Together with the Monitoring Officer, responsibility for a
system of record keeping for all the Council’s decisions.
Representing the Council on partnership and external
bodies (as required by statute or the Council).
Strategic management of the Councils’ environmental
and planning services.
Strategic overview of the Council’s functions as a
Children’s Services Authority in respect of education
services, social services relating to children and young
people, health services and inter-agency co-operation.

11.1.2.12
The Council will designate the following posts as shown:
Post
Chief Executive
Director Children’s Services
Director Health and Wellbeing
Director Finance and Resources
Head of Governance and Improvement Services

Designation
Head of Paid Service
Director of Children’s Services
Director of Adult Social Services
Chief Finance Officer
Monitoring Officer

1

Chapter updated

In their absence, the following Officers are entitled to carry out the functions of those
Officers:Post
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Adult Social Services
Director of Children’s Services
Head of Paid Service
Monitoring Officer

Nominated Deputy(ies)
Head of Finance Services
Head of Adult Social Care and
SafeguardingRelevant Officer from Health
and Wellbeing Leadership Team
Relevant Officer from Children’s Services
Leadership Team
Relevant Director
Borough Solicitor

Such posts will have the functions described below.
11.1.2.23
The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the overall structure
of the Council showing the management structure and deployment of Officers. This is set
out in Chapter 1.3 of this Constitution.
11.1.3 Functions of the Head of Paid Service
a)

Discharge of functions by the Council. Overall corporate management and
operational responsibility (including overall management responsibility for all
Officers). The Head of Paid Service will report to the Council on the manner in
which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, the number and
grade of Officers required for the discharge of functions and the organisation of
Officers.

b)

Restrictions on functions. The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring
Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant.

11.1.4 Functions of the Monitoring Officer
a)

Maintaining the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date
version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for
consultation by members, staff and the public.

b)

Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making. After consulting with
the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will
report to the Council or to the Executive in relation to any Executive function if he
or she considers that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to maladministration.
Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being
implemented until the report has been considered.

c)

Supporting the Standards Committee. The Monitoring Officer will contribute to
the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of
support to the Standards Committee.

d)

Receiving reports. The Monitoring Officer will receive and act on reports made
by ethical standards Officers and decisions of case tribunals.
2

Chapter updated

e)

Conducting investigations. The Monitoring Officer will make arrangements for
investigations to be conducted into matters referred by the Standards Committee
or by ethical standards officers and make reports or recommendations in respect
of them to the Standards Committee or a sub- committee of the Standards
Committee convened for that purpose.

df)

Proper Officer for access to information. The Monitoring Officer will ensure
that Executive decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and
relevant officer reports and background papers are made publicly available as
soon as possible.

eg) Advising whether Executive decisions are within the budget and policy
framework. The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Executive
are in accordance with the budget and policy framework.
fh)

Providing advice. The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of
powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety,
probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors.

gi)

Restrictions on posts. The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance
Officer or the Head of Paid Service.

11.1.5 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer
a)

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making. After
consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief
Finance Officer will report to the Council or to the Executive in relation to an
Executive function and the Council’s external auditor if he or she considers that
any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the
Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.

b)

Administration of financial affairs. The Chief Finance Officer will have
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council.

c)

Contributing to corporate management. The Chief Finance Officer will
contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular through the
provision of professional financial advice.

cd) Providing advice. The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of
powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety,
probity and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors and will support
and advise Councillors and Officers in their respective roles.
e)

Give financial information. The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial
information to the media, members of the public and the community.

df)

Overview of work of Internal Audit. In order to ensure that the Chief Finance
Officer’s statutory duties are discharged effectively, he/she will have direct input
into the programme of work of Internal Audit and advise the Audit Committee of

3

Chapter updated

his/her opinion if the programme, quantity and quality of staff is inadequate to
undertake the relevant audits.
11.1.6 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief
Finance Officer
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with such
Officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion sufficient to allow
their duties to be performed.
11.1.7 Conduct
Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Member/Officer
Relations set out in Chapters 11.4 and 9.3 of this Constitution.
11.1.8 Employment
The recruitment, selection and dismissal of Officers will comply with the Officer
Employment Rules and Delegated Powers relating to staffing matters set out in Chapters
11.3, 11.5 and 11.6 of this Constitution.
11.1.9 Appointment of Political Assistants
11.1.9.1
Political Assistants may be appointed from time to time in accordance with the wishes of a
political group qualifying in terms of Section 9 of the Local Government and Housing Act
1989.
11.1.9.2
No appointment shall be made to any post allocated to a political group until the Council
has allocated a post to each of the political groups that so qualify.
11.1.9.3
No such post shall be allocated to a political group which does not qualify in terms of
Section 9 of the aforementioned Act.
11.1.9.4
Not more than one such post shall be allocated to any one political group.

4

Page updated

CHAPTER 11.2 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS
These functions are so named because the Council can decide whether the Executive
should or should not be the decision making body. The Council has therefore allocated
these functions as follows:
Function

Any function under a local Act other than a
function specified or referred to in regulation
2 of Schedule1 of the Local Authorities
(Functions and Responsibilities)
(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2001
The determination of an appeal against any
decision made by or on behalf of the
authority
The Licensing Authority’s fee setting
functions as set out in the Gambling Act
2005
The making of arrangements pursuant to
subsection (1) of section 67 of, and Schedule
18 to the 1998 Act (appeals against
exclusion of pupils)
The making of arrangements pursuant to
section 94(1) and (4) of, and Schedule 24 to
the 1998 Act (admission appeals)
The making of arrangements pursuant to
section 95(2) of, and Schedule 25 to the
1998 Act (children to whom section 87
applies; appeals by governing bodies)
The making of arrangements under Section
20 (questions on police matters at council
meetings) of the Police Act 1996 for enabling
questions to be put on the discharge of the
functions of a police authority
The making of appointments under
paragraphs 2 to 4 (appointment of members
by relevant councils) of Schedule 2 (police
authorities established under section 3) to
the Police Act 1996
The conducting of best value reviews in
accordance with the provisions of any order
for the time being having effect under section
5 (best value reviews) of the Local
Government Act 1999.
Any function relating to contaminated land.
The discharge of any function relating to the
control of pollution or the management of air
quality.
The service of an abatement notice in
respect of a statutory nuisance.

Executive or
NonExecutive

Delegated to

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Non-executive

Licensing and Appeals
Committee

Non-executive

Licensing and Appeals
Committee

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Executive

Executive

Non-executive

Director Environment

Non-executive

Director Environment

Non-executive

Director Environment
5

Page updated

The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2
to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act
1993 should apply in the authority’s area.
The inspection of the authority’s area to
detect any statutory nuisance.
The investigation of any complaint as to the
existence of a statutory nuisance.
The obtaining of any information under
section 330 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land.
The obtaining of particulars of persons
interested in land under section 16 of the
Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976.
The making of agreements for the execution
of highways works
The appointment of any individual –
a) to an office other than an office in which
he is employed by the authority
b) to any body other than –
i) the authority;
ii) a joint Committee of two or more
authorities; or
c) to any Committee or sub- Committee of
such a body
d) to a body or committee of two or more
partners of the Wokingham Borough
Strategic Partnership
and the revocation of any such appointment.
The making of agreements with other local
authorities for the placing of staff at the
disposal of those other authorities.
The authorisation of another local authority
or officer(s) of another local authority under
Section 101 of the Local Government Act
1972 to discharge any functions of
Wokingham Borough Council which have
been delegated to Directors or Head of
Governance and Improvement Services

Executive

Executive

Non-executive

Director Environment

Non-executive

Director Environment

Non-executive

Director
Environment/Borough
Solicitor

Non-executive

All Directors

Non-executive

Director Environment

Executive

Executive

Non-executive

Chief Executive

Non-executive

Any Director or
Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

6

Page updated

CHAPTER 11.3 - SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS
11.3.1 Introduction
The following section sets out the extent to which the functions and duties of the Council
are delegated to the Council’s Officers to carry out, the conditions and principles by which
such authority will be exercised and limitations to it.
The Scheme is divided into the following sections:
a)

Proper Officer functions – functions of the Council required to be assigned to
named Officers under Statute;

b)

Service specific delegations, set out by Director.

The delegations in this Scheme include the discharge of both Executive and NonExecutive functions. Non-Executive functions cannot be taken by the decision-making
Executive of the Council. A list of Non-Executive functions is set out in Schedule 1 of the
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 as
amended.
The delegations set out in this Chapter apply to those functions which have not, by virtue
of the Constitution or any other instrument, been reserved to Council, Executive or any
committee/sub-committee thereof. Any functions which are not specifically discharged by
Council, Executive or delegated to a committee/sub-committee are delegated to Officers.
11.3.2 Principles and Conditions
The following principles and conditions shall apply where Officers exercise delegated
powers:Any exercise of delegated powers shall comply with:
a)

any statutory restrictions;

b)

any relevant Act of Parliament as set out in Appendix A. Any reference to any
Act of Parliament shall be deemed to include any act, statutory instrument or
regulation by which it is applied, extended, amended, consolidated or replaced;

c)

the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework which includes the approved Budget;

db) Council Rules of Procedure as set out in Chapter 4.2 of this Constitution;
ec) Financial and Contract and Procurement s Procedure Rules as set out on
Chapter 12 of this Constitution;
fd)

Policies and Plans approved by full Council or the Executive in conjunction with
the Council’s strategic partners;

ge) Codes and Protocols; and
hf)

The Officer Code of Conduct set out in Chapter 11.4 of this Constitution.

7

Page updated

Delegated powers shall be exercised within the Council’s policy guidelines and the
appropriate budget provision having regard to economy, efficiency and effectiveness,
ensuring compliance with the Council’s objectives as set out in its Policy Framework, the
highest standards of customer care and giving due consideration to the environmental
implications and human rights implications of any decision taken.
Officers shall not exercise delegated powers in any case where a departure from current
policy is likely to be involved, where the decision is a Key Decision as defined in Chapter
1.4 or where it is reserved to the Council or a Committee/Sub-Committee of the Council.
Officers shall have the discretion not to exercise their delegated powers but to refer the
matter to the Executive, Council or Committee/Sub-Committee of the Council.
Functions delegated by reference to job titles or posts which have changed will continue to
be exercised by Officers whose duties include or most closely correspond to the duties of
the post originally referred to.

11.3.2.1 Consultation
In exercising delegated powers, Officers shall consult other Officers as appropriate and
shall have regard to any advice given. Consultation in areas of financial, legal, personnel,
property and public relations will be of paramount importance, as will consultation with the
Council’s strategic partners as defined in the Partnership Register (see Chapter 10.2).
Officers shall liaise with the relevant Executive Member on executive functions and the
Chairmen of the Planning Committee, Licensing and Appeals Committee or Personnel
Board, as appropriate, before exercising delegated powers in respect of matters which are
likely to be regarded as politically sensitive or contentious.
Officers shall inform the local Ward Member(s) when they exercise any delegated powers
affecting a particular Ward in respect of a matter which is likely to be regarded as politically
sensitive or contentious.
The exercise of a power by an Officer which requires consultation with other Officers shall
be dependent upon agreement being reached otherwise the matter shall be referred to the
Chief Executive for determination or, if he/she considers it necessary, for reference to the
Executive for consideration.
11.3.2.2 Delegations
The scheme sets out delegations to each Director, and where appropriate further
delegations to other named Officers. Directors may arrange for other Officers under their
control to exercise some or all of their powers, subject to:
a)

such arrangements being clearly set out within written section procedures;

b)

accountability for the actions of subordinate Officers remaining with the Director

Any delegation to a Director or other Officer may be exercised by the Chief Executive.

8

Page updated

Notes:
1

Reference to any Act shall include any re-enactment or amendment thereof.

2

Where more than one Director has authority to exercise a delegated power, for ease
of reference the delegation will be set out under each Director’s delegations and
referred to as a footnote.

9

Page updated

11.3.3 PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS
11.3.3.1 Local Government Act 1972 and Any Other Amending Legislation
The following Officers have been appointed Proper Officer for the purposes of the
undermentioned provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 and any other amending
legislation:
Responsibility
Registration of Local Land Charges
Deposit of Documents
Certification of photocopies of
documents
Authentication of Documents
Sending Bye-laws to Parishes and
Town councils
Certification of Bye-laws
Signature of summonses to Council
meetings
Receipt of notices of addresses for
summonses to Council meetings
Functions with respect to Ordnance
Survey
Receipt on deposit of lists of protected
buildings under Section 54(4) of the
Town And Country Planning Act 1971

Exercised by:
Head of Customer Services and IMT
Borough Solicitor
Borough Solicitor
Chief Executive, Borough Solicitor or
any solicitor or barrister employed by
the Council
Borough Solicitor
Borough Solicitor
Chief Executive
Chief Executive

Section(s)
212(1)(2)
225(1)
229(4) and
(5)
234(1) (2)
236 (9)
(10)
238
Sch. 12
Para.
4(2)(b)
Sch. 12
para 4(3)

Director Environment

191

Director Environment

Sch. 16
Para.28

Receipt of money due from Officers

Director Finance and Resources

115(2)

Declarations and certificates with
regard to securities

Director Finance and Resources

146(1) (a)
and (b)

Witness and receipt of declarations of
acceptance of office
Receipt of declaration of resignation
from Office
Convening a meeting of Council to fill
casual vacancy in office of Mayor
Receipt of notice of casual vacancy
from two local Government electors
Receipt of notices of Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests or any relevant
Personal Interests

Chief Executive or Head of
Governance and Improvement
Services
Chief Executive or Head of
Governance and Improvement
Services
Chief Executive or Head of
Governance and Improvement
Services
Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

83 (1) to
(4)
84

88(2)
89 (1)(b)
96(1) as
amended
by S29-34
of the
Localism
Act 2011

10

Page updated

Keeping records of disclosures
ofDisclosable Pecuniary Interests
pecuniary interest under Section 96(1)

Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

Granting of dispensations under the
Localism Act 2011

Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

Circulation of reports and agendas
Supply of papers to the press
Summaries of Minutes
Members’ right to papers

Head of Governance and
Improvement Services
Head of Governance and
Improvement Services
Head of Governance and
Improvement Services
Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

Compilation of listsOfficer responsible
for identifying background papers and
compiling lists of such documents

Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

Identification of Background Papers

Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

Certification of Resolutions under
paragraph 25 of Schedule 14

Chief Executive

Making arrangements for the proper
administration of the Council’s
financial affairs

Director Finance and Resources

96(2) as
amended
by S30(3)
of the
Localism
Act
S33 of the
Localism
Act
100B(2)
100B(7)
100C(2)
100F
100d(1)
(a) and
(5)(a)
100d(5)
(a)
Sch. 14
Para.
25(7)
151

11.3.3.2 Other Legislation
The following Officers have been appointed Proper Officer under the terms of the following
legislation:
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Sections 29 and 30 of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 empower
Authorising Officers to authorise covert directed surveillance activities and the use of
covert human intelligence sources, where to do so would be likely to prevent or detect
crime or disorder. Section 22 of the Act empowers Authorising Officers the Council’s
designated Single Point of Contact (SPOC) to obtain authorise the acquisition of
communications datacertain ancillary data relating to telecommunications traffic, also for
the purposes of the prevention of or detection of crime and disorder.
Persons, designated as Authorising Officers, in the case of local authorities, by regulations
made under the Act are any Officers appointed as “Assistant Chief Officer”, “Assistant
Head of Service”, “Service Manager or equivalent”. Any Officer senior to the designated
Officers is also an Authorising Officer.
The Council considers that any executive Officer who reports directly to a Director an
“Assistant Chief Officer” or an “Assistant Head of Service”. It is a matter for each Director
to identify, when the need arises in relation to his/her service, who the Director considers
to be a “Service Manager”. Further guidance can be found in the Council’s Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 – Policy and Procedures.
11

Page updated

Representation of the People Act 1983
a) Electoral Registration Officer
For the purposes of Section 8 of the Act, the Officer responsible
for the compilation and maintenance of the Register of Electors
and the discharge of duties contained in Parts V and VI of the
Representation of the People (England and Wales) Regulations
2001;
b) Acting Returning Officer
For the purposes of Section 24, the Officer responsible for the
discharge of the Returning Officer’s functions as Acting
Returning Officer;

c) Returning Officer
For the purposes of Section 35 of the Act, the Officer
responsible for the discharge of functions of Returning Officer at
an election of Borough and Town/Parish Councillors and any
other relevant elections or referendums.

d) Emergency Re-designation of Polling Places
Emergency powers to re-designate a polling place if there is an
unplanned event which makes the polling place unusable, within
the period between close of nominations and polling day.

Head of
Governance
and
Improvement
Services

Head of
Governance
and
Improvement
Services

Head of
Governance
and
Improvement
Services

Head of
Governance
and
Improvement
Services, in
consultation
with the lead
Executive
Member and the
Ward
Member(s)
(unless the
Member is a
candidate in
that ward in the
forthcoming
election)

Local Government Finance Act 1988
For the purposes of Section 114, the Officer who shall make a report
on any decision or proposed decision which would incur expenditure
which is unlawful

Director
Finance and
Resources

For the purposes of Section 116(3), the Officer who shall notify the
auditor of the date, time and place of any meeting of the authority to
consider a report under Section 114

Director
Finance and
Resources

12

Page updated

Local Government and Housing Act 1989
For the purposes of Section 2(4), the Officer with whom the list of
politically restricted postholders under Section 2(2) of the Act shall be
deposited
For the purposes of Section 4, the Officer designated as Head of Paid
Service
For the purposes of Section 5, the Officer designated as Monitoring
Officer

Chief Executive

Chief Executive
Head of
Governance
and
Improvement
Services

Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990
Service
The Officer who shall receive notices relating to the establishment
Manager
and membership of political groups and the wishes of those groups
Democratic
with regard to the filling of committee seats allocated to them
Services
11.3.3.3 Miscellaneous
1.

Any reference to an Officer which may be interpreted as
reference to the Proper Officer of the Council in any Act,
Statutory Instrument or local statutory provision passed
before 26 October 1972 (other than the Local
Government Act 1972).

Chief Executive

2.

Any similar reference to 1 above which refers to the
Public Health Inspector.

Director Environment

3.

Any similar reference to 1 above which refers to the
Surveyor.

Director Environment

4.

Any similar reference to 1 above which refers to the
Treasurer or Chief Finance Officer.

Director Finance and
Resources

5.

Any reference in Rules of Procedure, not dealt with in
this document.

Chief Executive

6.

In relation to Adult Social Services matters.

Director Health and
Wellbeing

7.

In relation to Children’s Services matters.

Director Children’s
Services

13

Page updated

8.

Alternative Proper Officer to act in the absence of the
Proper Officer(s) and where urgent action is necessary.

a) in the absence of the
Chief Executive, the
relevant Director
b) in the absence of the
relevant Director, the
Chief Executive

11.3.4 Chief Executive
11.3.4.1
To carry out the functions of the Council as set out in Chapter 11.1 above.
11.3.4.2.
To amend the Scheme of Delegation to Officers to enable Directors to authorise Council
Officers to carry out duties in pursuance of new legislation, such power not to be exercised
to carry out functions not in accordance with Council policy. Any amendments to be
subsequently reported to the Council on a quarterly basis.
11.3.4.3
Under Section 92 of the Local Government Act 2000, power to make payments or provide
other benefits in cases of maladministration etc.
11.3.4.4
Ensuring compliance with the Health and Safety at Work legislation so far as it affects
Council employees.
11.3.4.5
Approval of virements in accordance with the Financial Regulations as set out in Chapter
12.1.
11.3.4.6
Approval of budget carry forward requests in accordance with the Financial Regulations as
set out in Chapter 12.1.
11.3.4.67
The appointment on an interim basis of a Director as an interim appointment and for a
period not exceeding 12 months, pending permanent replacement.

14

Page updated

11.3.5 All Directors
To exercise the powers and duties of the Council in relation to specific areas of
responsibility as set out in Rules 11.3.6-11.3.12 and in accordance with the regulations set
out in Appendix A.
11.3.5.1
Expenditure of a routine and recurring nature which is provided for in the current year's
estimates.
11.3.5.2
Virement between budgets within the limits set out in the Financial Regulations Chapter
12.1.
11.3.5.3
Incurring expenditure not within the current year’s estimates arising from an emergency as
defined in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and any Regulations made thereunder or any
local emergency that requires the activation of the Council’s ‘gold’ team.
11.3.5.4
Acceptance of tenders and quotations subject to compliance with the Procurement and
Contract Regulations set out in Chapter 12.2, and the ongoing management of contracts.
11.3.5.5
Making such visits on Council business and participating in inter-agency and other
partnership working as are necessary.
11.3.5.6
Purchase, hire and sale of vehicles, plant, equipment and materials, in accordance with
the Financial Regulations as set out in Chapter 12.1.
11.3.5.7
Issue of public advertisements for contractors in accordance with the Procurement and
Contract Regulations as set out in Chapter 12.2.
11.3.5.8
Service of Requisitions for Information under various enactments relative to the functions
of the service concerned.
11.3.5.9
Making arrangements for the safety and security of all Council owned buildings within the
purview of his/her service in accordance with the requirements of legislation and for
insurance purposes, where relevant, having regard to the advice of the police.
11.3.5.10
Release of Section 106 funds in accordance with the Financial Regulations as set out in
Chapter 12.1.
11.3.5.11
To respond to petitions in accordance with the Council’s agreed Petition Protocol as set
out in (Chapter 3.5).

15

Page updated

11.3.5.12
To safeguard the consistency and integrity of the Council’s electronic public interface by
providing editorial management and regulation of the web site.
11.3.5.13
To safeguard the consistency and integrity of the Council’s internal electronic
communications and information sharing by providing editorial management and regulation
of the Intranet.
11.3.5.14
To authorise the right of entry onto land by contractors representing the Authority to carry
out works and to seek appropriate recharge of costs.
11.3.5.15
To make service information and personal data available to Members, staff and the public
within the provisions of the Data Protection Act.
11.3.5.16
To comply with the Freedom of Information Act by making information available to
Members, staff and the public within the provisions of the Act.
11.3.5.17
Approval of attendance by Members at conferences, seminars and training.
11.3.5.18
To exercise the delegated powers as set out in the Human Resources Schedule of
Delegated Powers Chapter 11.6.
11.3.5.19
To undertake the actions required by the Financial Regulations (see Chapter 12.1) which
are necessary to assist the Chief Finance Officer in the sound management of the
Council’s financial affairs.
11.3.5.20
To waive Fees and Charges in accordance with the Financial Regulations as set out in
Chapter 12.1.
11.3.5.21
To approve requests for purchase orders or payments in accordance with the Financial
Regulations as set out in Chapter 12.1.
11.3.5.22
To take action to promote the health and welfare of young people across the Borough.
11.3.5.23
To authorise disposal of assets or write off of items, in accordance with the Financial
Regulations as set out in Chapter 12.1.
11.3.5.24
To obtain specialist advice, if required. The Service Manager Strategic Assets to be
consulted on any transaction where there may be strategic asset management
implications.
16

Page updated

11.3.5.25
To make ex gratia payments in respect of claims against the Council for damage or injury,
subject to the limits in the budget.
11.3.6 Director Finance and Resources
To exercise the functions of the Chief Finance Officer as set out in Chapter 11.1.
The Director of Finance and Resources is authorised to exercise or further delegate to a
named Officer the Council’s functions, powers or duties related to the following areas:
a) Revenues and Benefit, including:
(1)
action to cover arrears relating to Council Tax and National NonDomestic Rates;
(2)
the administration of any benefit schemes adopted by the Council,
including the exercise of the discretions permitted;
(3)
approving the write-off of irrecoverable Council Tax and NNDR debts
and Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit overpayments in
accordance with the Financial Regulations as set out in Chapter 12.1;
b) Treasury Management, in accordance with the Council’s policy statement, Treasury
Management Practices and CIPFA’s Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury
Management;
c) Customer Services
d) Informational Management Technology
e) Proper Officer under the provisions of the Registration Act 1953
f) Procurement
g) Property Services, including:
(1)
the granting of leases or licences of up to 14 years (including
renewals and surrenders) of commercial, operational (service) and
non-operational property;
(2)
making or granting or easements, wayleaves and revocable licences;
(3)
disposing of freeholds or leaseholds of small parcels of land required
by statutory undertakers for their operation purposes (eg sub station
sites);
(4)
in consultation with any barrister or solicitor employed by the Council
taking action on breaches of lease covenants including arrears of
rent;
(5)
maintaining an Asset Register of all properties owned by the Council,
for all fixed assets valued in excess of £10,000, and to ensure that
assets are valued in accordance with best practice arrangements.
h) Sale of Council Houses
i) Human Resources, including organisational development and health and safety;
j) Emergency planning;
k) Local Land Charges
11.3.6.1 Further delegation to the Service Manager Shared Legal Solutions:
a) institute, defend, lay information, negotiate and settle any dispute decision or any
proceedings by or against the Council including taking any necessary steps in
connection with such dispute decision or proceedings;
b) instructing and obtaining the opinion of Counsel and external legal advice;
c) the formation, negotiation and settlement of any agreement with any party that
binds the Council to an obligation.
17

Page updated

11.3.7 Director Children’s Services
To exercise the powers and duties of the Council in relation to section 18 of the Children
Act 2008 and appoint and authorise Council Officers to exercise all such powers as the
Council may appoint or authorise persons, Officers or inspectors to exercise, in the
pursuance of the undermentioned enactments and amendments thereto and any
regulations, statutory instruments, bylaws and licenses made thereunder:
a)

Functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council in its capacity as Local
Education Authority;

b)

Functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council which are social services
functions, so far as those functions relate to children;

c)

Functions exercisable by the Council under Section 75 of the National Health
Service Act 2006, so far as those functions relate to children;

d)

Functions conferred on the Council as a children’s services authority.

11.3.7.1
The Director Children’s Services is authorised to exercise or further delegate to a named
Officer the Council’s functions, powers or duties related to the following areas:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)
k)
l)
m)

Early years;
School improvement;
Special Education Needs support;
Safeguarding and Child Protection;
Youth Services;
School Governor Services;
Adoption Services;
Fostering Services;
Support for Children, Young People, Looked After and Care Leavers,
Youth Offending Services;
School admissions, including pupil place planning;
School Transport;
Adult Community Learning.

11.3.8 Director Health and Wellbeing
To carry out the statutory duties of the Director of Adult Social Services as set out in
Section 6(A1) Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 and in statutory guidance.
11.3.8.1
The Director Health and Wellbeing is authorised to exercise or further delegate to a named
Officer the Council’s functions, powers or duties related to the following areas:
a)
b)

c)
d)
e)

Safeguarding vulnerable adults;
Community health and wellbeing development, including management of the
Council’s sports and leisure facilities and oversight of any contract with an
external partner for the provisions of such facilities;
Social care support for persons aged 18 or over;
Older People’s Services;
Services for adults with a physical or mental disability;
18

Page updated

f)

g)

Provision and management of housing accommodation, including
maintenance and improvement Council dwellings, associated buildings and
land;
Housing,

11.3.8.2 Delivery of Joint Procurements through the Director of Public Health
11.3.8.2.1
To arrange for the delivery of joint procurement with the other Berkshire Unitary Authorities
through the Director of Public Health for the future provision of joint public health services
and / or contracts.
11.3.8.2.2
In consultation with the Consultant in Public Health, to negotiate and conclude
amendments to the inter-authority Public Health Agreement dated 28 March 2013 to
provide for the administration, management and operation of future contracts for which
joint procurement has been agreed.
11.3.9 Director Environment
To exercise the powers and duties of the Council in relation to legislation in Appendix A
that is applicable to the service area and appoint and authorise Council Officers to
exercise all such powers as the Council may appoint or authorise persons, Officers or
inspectors to exercise, in the pursuance of the enactments and amendments thereto and
any regulations, statutory instruments, bylaws and licences made thereunder:
The Director Environment is authorised to exercise or further delegate to a named Officer
the Council’s functions, powers or duties related to the following areas:
a)
b)

c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
h)
i)
j)
k)
l)
l)

Management and operation of public car parks and parking spaces
administered by the Council;
Street naming, subject to no objections to any proposed name being received
from the Parish/Town Council, Post Office or Fire and Rescue Service and
the agreement of local Members;
The Council as the Highways Authority, including highway inspection, minor
highway repairs, winter maintenance, gritting, gully cleansing, street lighting
Waste, including refuse collection, recycling, waste disposal and abandoned
vehicles;
Transport Planning and Traffic Management;
Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing Services;
Planning policy, including the Local Development Framework;
Planning service, including the determination of planning applications not
included in the Planning Committee’s Terms of Reference;
Building control;
Libraries and Information service;
Cultural Services;
Community Development;
Assets of Community Value;
Countryside service, including public rights of way and tree preservation
orders.

19

Page updated

11.3.9.1
The Council’s functions, powers and duties in relation to Trading Standards and
Environmental Health/Licensing Services areas are also delegated to West Berkshire
District Council by virtue of shared service agreements. When such shared service
agreements are expired the delegations to West Berkshire District Council will cease.
11.3.10 Head of Governance and Improvement Services
To carry out the functions of the Monitoring Officer as set out in Chapter 11.1 and to act as
Proper Officer for the functions set out in Chapter 11.3.3
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services is authorised to exercise or further
delegate to a named Officer the Council’s functions, powers or duties related to the
following areas:
a)
b)
c)
d)
d)

e)

Members’ Code of Conduct, including reporting breaches by Members with
respect to cases involving legal proceedings;
To amend the Scheme of Delegation to Officers to reflect any changes to the
Council’s Officer Management Structure;
Audit and Investigation Services, including effecting of all necessary
insurances and settlement of claims arising therefrom;
Business Improvement;
Democratic Services, including making arrangements for appeals, reviews
and hearings in relation school admission, school exclusion, home to
school/college transport and in relation to the granting, revocation and
conditions imposed under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act
2005;
Electoral Services.

11.3.10.1 Further Delegation to the Borough Solicitor
To carry out any of the functions delegated to the Service Manager Shared Legal
Solutions as set out in Rule 11.3.6.1.
11.3.11 Head of Town Centre Regeneration
The Head of Town Centre Regeneration is authorised to exercise or further delegate to a
named Officer the Council’s functions, powers or duties related to Town Centre
Regeneration.
11.3.12 Strategic Director of Public Health
To have responsibility for the functions of the Strategic Director of Public Health as
required by section 30 and all relevant provisions of the Health and Social Care Act 2012,
and all other relevant legislation, and which shall include the following:
a)

the duty imposed upon the Council to take such steps as it considers appropriate
for improving the health of the people in its area;

b)

any public health functions of the Secretary of State which he/she requires local
authorities to discharge on his/her behalf;

c)

dental health functions of the Council;

d)

the duty to co-operate with the prison service to secure and maintain the health
of prisoners;
20

Page updated

e)

the Council’s duties set out in Schedule 1 of the National Health Act 2006, which
include medical inspection of pupils, the weighing and measuring of children and
sexual health services;

f)

arrangements for assessing the risks posed by violent and sexual offenders.

21

Page updated

Appendix A
List of Relevant Acts/Regulations

A
Access to Personal Files Act 1987
Access to Personal Files (Housing) Regulations 1989 – all functions under the Regulations
with the exception of the hearing of appeals under Regulation 8
Accommodation Agencies Act 1953
Acquisition of Land Act 1981
Administration of Justice Act 1970
Adoption Act 1976
Adoption Agencies Regulations 1983
Aerosol Dispensers (EEC Requirements) Regulations 2009 1977, and those Regulations
which impose a duty of enforcement upon the local weights and measures authority
Agriculture Act 1970
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963
Animal Health Act 1981
Animal Health and Welfare Act 1984
Animal Welfare Act 2006
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003
B
Berkshire Act 1986
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973
Breeding of Dogs Act 1991
Building Act 1984
Building Regulations 20001991
Business Names Act 1985
C
Cancer Act 1939 (Section 4)
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960
Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000
Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 2000
Children Act 1989
Children and Families Act 2014
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991
Children’s and Young Persons Act 1933
Chiropractors Act 1994
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970
Civil Contingencies Act 2004
Civil Defence Act 1948
Civil Partnership Act 2004
Civil Protection in Peacetime Act 1986
Clean Air Act 1993
Cleaner Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005
Companies Act 1985
Companies Act 2006 (Part V)
Community Care Assessment Directions 2004
Community Care (Delayed Discharges etc.) Act 2003
Community Care (Direct Payments) Act 1996
Consumer Credit Act 1974
22

Page updated

Consumer Credit Act 2006
Consumer Protection Act 1987
Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008
Control of Dogs Order 1992
Control of Pollution Act 1974
Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989
Controlled Waste (Registration of Carriers and Seizure of Vehicles) Regulations 1991 and
1994
Copyright Design and Patents Act 1988
Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000
Courts and Legal Services Act 1990A
Crime and Disorder Act 1988
Criminal Attempts Act 1981
Criminal Justice Act 1988 (Section 141A)
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
Criminal Justice and Public Order Acts 1994 (Part VII)
Criminal Law Act 1977
Crossbows Act 1987
Customs and Excise (Management) Act 1979
Cycle Tracks Act 1984
D
Dangerous Dogs (Amendment) Act 1997
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976
Data Protection Act 1998
Deer Act 1991
Development of Tourism Act 1969
Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor Vehicles)(England) Regulations 2000
Disabled Persons (Services Consultation and Representation) Act 1986
Discretionary Financial Assistance (Amendment) Regulations 2008
Dogs Act 1871
Dogs Act 1906
E
Education Act 2002 and 2011
Education Reform Act 1988
Energy Act 1976
Energy Conservation Act 1981
Enterprise Act 2002
Environment and Safety Information Act 1988
Environment Act 1995
Environmental Protection Act 1990
Environmental Protection (Duty of Care) Regulations 1991
Estates Agents Act 1979
European Communities Act 1972
European Communities (Amendment) Act 1986
Eviction Act 1977
Explosives Act 1875
Explosives Act (Age of Purchase etc) 1976Act 1976
F
Factories Act 1961
Fair Trading Act 1973
Family Law Reform Act 1969
23

Page updated

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
Fireworks Act 2003
Flood and Water Management Act 2010
Food and Environment Protection Act 1985
Food Safety Act 1990
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1988
Fraud Act 2006
G
Gambling Act 2005
Game Act 1831
Game Licenses Act 1860
Gaming Act 1968
Guard Dogs Act 1975
H
Hallmarking Act 1973
Health Act 1999 Partnership Arrangements
Health Act 2006
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Health and Social Care Acts 2001 and 2012
Hedgerow Regulations 1997
High Hedges Legislation 2004
Highways Act 1980
Home Safety Act 1961
Homelessness Act 2002
House to House Collections Act 1939
Housing Acts 1985 and 2004
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996
Hypnotism Act 1952
I
Insurance Brokers Registration Act 1977
Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985
J
Justice and Police Act 2001
K
Knives Act 1997
L
Land Drainage Act 1991
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985
Licensing Act 2003
Local Authority Social Services Act 1970
Leaving Care Act 2000
Local Government Acts 1972, 1982, 2000 and 2003
Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Local Government Finance Act 1988 (National Non-Domestic Rate)
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (Council Tax)
Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)(England) Regulations 2000
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 1976 and 1982
Local Government Planning and Land Act 1980
M
Malicious Communications Act 1988
Marriage Act 1949
24

Page updated

Marriage (Approved Premises) Regulations 1995
Medicines Act 1968
Mental Capacity Act 2005
Mental Health Act 1983
Mental Health (Patients in the Community) Act 1995
Mines and Quarries Act 1954
Motor Cycle Noise Act 1987
Motor Vehicles (Safety Equipment for Children) Act 1991
N
National Assistance Act 1948
National Health Service Act 2006
National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990
National Lottery Act 1993
New Roads and Street Works Act 1991
Noise Act 1996
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993
O
Offices, Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963
Olympic Symbol etc (Protection) Act 1995
Open Spaces Act 1906
Osteopaths Act 1993
P
Party Wall etc. Act 1996
Performing Animals (Regulations) Act 1925
Pet Animals Act 1951
Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1928
Petroleum (Transfer of Licences) Act 1936
Planning and Compensation Act 1991
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1980
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Poisons Act 1972
Police, Factories etc (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949
Prices Act 1974
Products of Animal Origin (Import and Export) Regulations 1996
Products of Animal Origin (Third Country Imports) (England) Regulations 2002
Property Misdescriptions Act 1991
Protection of Animals Act 1911
Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984
Public Health Act 1936 and 1961
Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964
Public Passenger Vehicles Act 1981
R
Race Relations Act 1976
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 Part II
Registration Act 1953
Rent Act 1977
Reservoirs Act 1975
Riding Establishments Act 1964
Riding Establishments Act 1970
25

Page updated

Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972
Road Traffic Act 1988
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
S
Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975
Secure Tenancies (Right to Repair Scheme)Regulations 1985
Sex Discrimination Act 1975
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964
Solicitors Act 1974
Sunday Trading Act 1994
T
Telecommunications Act 1984
Theatres Act 1968
Theft Act 1968
Theft Act 1978
Timeshare, Holiday Products, Resale and Exchange Contracts Regulations
2010Timeshare Act 1992
Tobacco Advertising and Promotions Act 2002
Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 1992
Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992
Town Police Clauses Act 1847
Trade Descriptions Act 1968
Trade in Animals and Related Products Regulations 2011
Trade Marks Act 1994
Trading Representations (Disabled Persons) Act 1958
Trading Representations (Disabled Persons) Act 1972
Trading Schemes Act 1996
Traffic Management Act 2004
Transport Act 1968, 1985 and 2000
U
Unsolicited Goods and Services Act 1971
Unsolicited Goods and Services (Amendment) Act 1975
V
Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001
Video Recordings Act 1984
Video Recordings Act 1993
Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006
W
Water Act 1989
Water Industry Act 1991
Weights and Measures Act 1985
Welfare Reform Act 2012
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 Part III Public Rights of Way
Z
Zoo Licensing Act 1981

26

CHAPTER 12.1 – FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
Wokingham Borough Council is a Unitary Authority established in 1998 under the
Local Government Act 1992 Part II and provides the following diverse range of
services to its residents:
Building Control
Car Parks
Council Tax and National Non Domestic Rate Collection
Country Parks
Emergency Planning
Environmental Protection and Energy Efficiency
Housing Benefits
Libraries
Licencing
Open Spaces
Planning Control
Public Rights of Way
Recreation and Leisure
Recycling
Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages
Roads and Highways
Schools
Social and Sheltered Housing
Social Services
Street Lighting
Subsidised Public Transport
Trading Standards
Traffic Management
Waste Collection and Disposal
Wokingham Borough Council’s governance structure is laid down in its Constitution
which sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the
procedures that are followed.
Wokingham Borough Council has adopted a leader and a cabinet form of Executive.

Note: The term “Director” includes the post of Head of Governance and
Improvement Services.

Page 1 of 56

12.1.1.

Status of Financial Regulations

Financial regulations provide the framework for managing the Authority’s financial
affairs. They apply to every Member and Officer of the Authority and anyone acting
on its behalf.
The regulations encompass the financial responsibilities of the Council, Executive
and Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer,
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and other Directors which
are incorporated in the Constitution and Rules of Procedure of the Council.
Executive Members, the Chief Executive and the Directors should maintain a written
record where decision making has been delegated to members of their staff
including seconded staff. Where decisions have been delegated or devolved to
other responsible Officers, such as School Governors, references to the Directors in
the regulations should be read as referring to them.
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) is responsible for
maintaining a continuous review of the financial regulations and submitting any
additions or changes necessary to the Council for approval. Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) is also responsible for reporting significant
breaches of the financial regulations to the appropriate person/s.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their Departments are
aware of the existence and content of the Authority’s financial regulations and other
internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them. They must also
ensure that an adequate number of copies are available for reference within their
Departments.
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) is responsible for issuing
advice and guidance to underpin the financial regulations that Members, Officers
and others acting on behalf of the Authority are required to follow.
12.1.2 The Statutory Officers
12.1.2.1 Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive)
The Head of Paid Service is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic
management of the Authority as a whole. He or she must report to and provide
information for the Executive, the Council, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees
and other committees. He or she is responsible for establishing a framework for
management direction, style and standards and for monitoring the performance of
the organisation. The Head of Paid Service is also responsible, together with the
Monitoring Officer, for the system of record keeping in relation to all the Council’s
decisions.

Page 2 of 56

12.1.2.2 Monitoring Officer1
The requirement to designate a Monitoring Officer for the Council and the duties of
this Officer are set out in Part 1, Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act
1989.
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards
of financial conduct and therefore provides support to the Standards Committee.
The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for reporting any actual or potential
breaches of the law or maladministration to the Council and/or to the Executive and
for ensuring that procedures for recording and reporting key decisions are operating
effectively.
The Monitoring Officer must ensure that Executive decisions and the reasons for
them are made public. He or she must also ensure that Council Members are aware
of decisions made by the Executive and of those made by Officers who have
delegated Executive responsibility.
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising all Councillors and Officers about
who has authority to take a particular decision.
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Executive or Council about
whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in accordance
with the policy framework.
The Monitoring Officer (together with the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer)) is responsible for advising the Executive or Council about whether
a decision is likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in accordance with the
budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the budget’ include:
a) initiating a new policy;
b) committing expenditure in current or future years to above budget level or
when there is no budget;
c) any break of virement limits; or
d) causing unbudgeted expenditure to be incurred.
The Monitoring Officer is responsible for maintaining an up-to-date Constitution.
12.1.2.3 Chief Finance Officer2
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) has statutory duties in
relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the Authority. The
statutory responsibility cannot be overridden. The statutory duties arise from:
a) Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972;
b) The Local Government Finance Act 1988;
1

Wokingham Borough Council has designated the Head of Governance and Improvement Services as the
Monitoring Officer. The Head of Governance and Improvement Services has nominated the Borough Solicitor
as the Deputy Monitoring Officer.
2
Wokingham Borough Council has designated the Director of Finance and Resources as the Chief Finance
Officer. The Director of Finance and Resources has nominated the Head of Finance Services as Deputy Chief
Finance Officer.

Page 3 of 56

c) The Local Government and Housing Act 1989;
d) The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011; and
e) The Local Government Act 2003.
12.1.2.4 Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:
a) the proper administration of the Authority’s financial affairs;
b) setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards;
c) advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial
controls necessary to secure sound financial management;
d) providing financial information;
e) preparing the revenue budget and capital programme; and
f) treasury management.
12.1.2.5
Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Financial Officer) to report to the Council, Executive
and external auditor if the Authority of one of its Officers:
a) has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring
unlawful expenditure;
b) has taken, or is about to take, unlawful action which has resulted or would
result in a loss or deficiency to the Authority; or
c) is about to make an unlawful entry in the Authority’s accounts.
12.1.2.6
Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires:
a) Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) to nominate a
properly qualified member of staff to deputise should he or she being
unable to perform the duties under Section 114 personally; and
b) the Council to provide Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) with sufficient staff, accommodation and other resources –
including legal advice where this is necessary – to carry out the duties
under Section 114.
12.1.2.7 Summary of Material Decisions
The following areas must be approved and recorded by the Chief Executive or other
relevant Directors as a Material Decisions.
A Material Decision is any decision identified as such within these Regulations. See
Appendix A to the Regulations for information on how these decisions are to be
recorded.

Page 4 of 56

Financial Regulations

Virement
A Director may authorise, in consultation with the Director, Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer), virement of up to £150,000 in any financial
year subject to there being service budget availability and overall budget
availability.

12.1.16.15

The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer), may vire up to £300,000 across Services in
any financial year in total subject to overall budget availability.
The Executive Member responsible for Council Budgets must be informed of all
virements.
Write Offs and Waivers
Write off of uneconomic debts, or fees and charges, between £1,000 and
£25,000.

12.1.19.17

Page 5 of 56

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER AND NOMINATED OFFICERS

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

Director of Finance and Resources
(S151 Officer)

Head of Finance
(and Deputy
Chief Finance
Officer)

Head of
Customer
Services & IMT

Head of Support
Services

Head of
Commercial
Services

Page 6 of 56

12.1.4 Accounting Procedures and Standards
Why is this area important?
The Council has a statutory duty to prepare annual accounts of its transactions. This
duty falls to Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) who is
required to ensure that the accounting procedures of the Council are sufficient to
assure that any statements of accounts are complete and that proper control
systems exist to enable transactions to be timely and accurately recorded.
12.1.4.1 Accounting Standards
The form of accounts, accounting policies, procedures, and supporting financial
records of the Council and its Officers and the Council’s subsidiary organisations
shall be determined by the Council’s Chief Finance Officer.
12.1.4.2
No new accounting systems shall be introduced at the Council and its subsidiaries or
changes to existing financial systems without the approval of Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.4.3
The accounts of the Council shall be compiled by Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) or under his direction. Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) and the Head of Governance and Improvement Services
shall be consulted before and records, books, forms or procedures which might
affect the financial integrity of the systems are introduced.
12.1.4.4
The following principles shall be observed in the allocation of accounting duties:
a) the duties of providing information regarding amounts to be received or
paid by the Council and of calculating, checking and recording these
sums, shall be separated from the duty of collecting or paying them;
b) Officers who are responsible for examining and checking the accounts of
cash transactions shall not also be engaged in these transactions; and
c) adequate records are maintained to provide a management train leading
from the source of income/expenditure through to accounting statements.
12.1.4.5
The Directors shall identify Officers authorised to act upon their behalf in respect of
payments, income collection and placing orders including variations.
12.1.4.6
The names of authorised Officers, their signatures and limits of authority shall be
recorded by each Director and supplied to the WiSER3 corporate finance staff on
request.
3

WiSER is Wokingham Borough Council’s Integrated Financial and Human Resources Management Information
system (An ERP system).

Page 7 of 56

Where these authorisations are held within WiSER, the Directors will be responsible
for ensuring regular reviews take place to confirm these details remain up to date.
12.1.4.7
Proper security and privacy of information contained in the financial records shall be
maintained at all times in accordance with the principles of the Data Protection Act.
12.1.4.8
Vouchers and documents with financial information shall not be destroyed except in
accordance with arrangements approved by the Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.4.9
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall make arrangements
for the audit of the Council’s accounts in accordance with the latest Accounts and
Audit Regulations.
12.1.4.10 The Annual Statement of Accounts
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall ensure that the
accounting arrangements of the Council comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice
and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 and shall approve, sign and date the
Annual Statement of Accounts for the preceding financial year by 30th June stating
that it presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council at the
accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 st March.
12.1.4.11
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall ensure that the
audited accounts of the Council are prepared and published in accordance with the
statutory timetable which shall include the requirement for the audited Statement of
Accounts to be approved by the Audit Committee and signed by the Chairman of the
Audit Committee by 30th September each year.
12.1.4.12
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall report any
unadjusted misstatements contained in the Accounts and other audit findings to the
Audit Committee in consultation with the External Auditors.
12.1.4.13
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall ensure an Annual
Governance Statement prepared by the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services is approved by the Audit Committee by the statutory deadline.
12.1.4.14
Government transparency aims to increase openness by sharing more government
information with citizens. As such, the Council is increasingly encouraged to publish
the information it has on how money is spent by the Council and its agencies, which
companies have contracts with the Council and how the Council performs.

Page 8 of 56

Citizens have the right to inspect the Council’s detailed financial accounts and all
books, deeds, contracts, bills, vouchers and receipts relating to them for a period of
20 working days prior to the appointed audit date, as set annually by the External
Auditor. The Council will publish notice of when the 20 day period starts and ends
on its website and in the local press for 14 days before the start of the period in line
with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011. These rights allow the public to
check any spending under the £500 threshold without having to submit a Freedom of
Information Act request.
12.1.4.15
The Chief Financial Officer will publish details on Council payments and contracts for
goods and services worth more than £500 on the Council’s website to show
residents how the Council spends its budget.
12.1.4.16
The Chief Financial Officer will make available (on request) all the books, deeds,
contracts, bills, vouchers and receipts relating to all expenditure within the Council’s
accounts to any member of the public for a period of 20 working days each year in
accordance with statutory regulations.
12.1.4.17
Directors shall ensure that adequate records or books, deeds, contracts, bills,
vouchers and receipts relating to all expenditure within their service area are readily
available and can be produced to the Chief Financial Officer when responding to a
request from a member of the public during either the statutory period or as part of a
Freedom of Information Act request.
12.1.4.18
The Chief Financial Officer will publish details of Councillor allowances and
expenses on the Council’s website on an annual basis as part of the transparency
reporting. The Chief Financial Officer will also publish details of Officers who hold
senior positons in the Council and what their job descriptions are and total
remuneration (e.g. salaries, bonus’ payments, pension payments and expenses) has
been for the previous year.
12.1.5 Assets and Security
Why is this area important?
It is important to protect and safeguard the assets of the Council. This is particularly
relevant regarding attractive and portable items of equipment such as laptop
computers, cameras and video recorders.
Most departments also carry out stocks, which will in the main be items of stationery.
As consumable items they should also be adequately safeguarded.
12.1.5.1 Care and Custody
Each Director shall be responsible for the care and custody of all assets, equipment
and stock in their Department.

Page 9 of 56

12.1.5.2
Safes and similar receptacles should be kept locked up and their keys removed.
The Directors shall ensure that security is kept under review and that keys are
properly controlled. The loss of any such keys must be immediately reported to the
Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
12.1.5.3
Each Director shall:
a) report any break-ins, major deficiencies or loss immediately to the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services and the Insurance Officer;
b) ensure that land and buildings, plant and machinery and equipment are
only used for Council business other than as may be directed by the
appropriate Director;
c) ensure that whenever equipment belonging to the Department and not
allocated to individuals including but not limited to such items as
computers, cameras and video recorders are taken off-site, appropriate
procedures are put in place so that they are accounted for and properly
controlled;
d) supply Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
immediately after the end of the financial year with a statement of the
value of any stock or stores of £5,000 or more, if applicable, held at the
31st March each year; and
e) ensure that assets are identified, their location recorded, that they are
appropriately marked and insured and are kept adequately secure;
f) ensure that employees and/or agency staff leaving the employment of the
Council return all laptops, mobile phones, any other equipment and that all
monies outstanding are repaid prior to their departure.
12.1.5.4 Inventory
Where a central record is not maintained each Director shall ensure that:
a) they maintain an inventory of furniture, fittings, plant and machinery and
equipment with an individual purchase value in excess of £1,000 and keep
it up to date for acquisitions and disposals;
b) where a store of consumable items is maintained for future use, it is kept
at an economic level, administered securely, and a physical check is made
of any inventory at least annually. Take action in relation to surpluses or
deficiencies and note the inventory accordingly. Any major differences
over £1,000 shall be reported to the Head of Governance and
Improvement Services.
c) to provide the inventory to the insurance officer as required (see
12.1.10.15).
12.1.5.5
A Director may authorise disposable or write off of items, other than land and
buildings, which are surplus to requirements up to a value of £2,000. Disposal shall
be by competitive quotations or auction where appropriate. Any individual or group
of items or capital assets (excluding land and buildings) which have an estimated

Page 10 of 56

disposal value exceeding £2,000, shall not be disposed of without prior consultation
with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.5.6 Property
The Service Manager, Strategic Assets shall maintain an Assets Register of all
properties owned and leased by the Council for all assets valued in excess of
£10,000, in a form agreed with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer). Recording the asset classification, the purposes for which held, value,
location, plan reference, purchase details, nature of interest, rents payable and
tenancies granted.
12.1.5.7
Any proposals for changes affecting the use or status of land and buildings or its
asset classification shall not be made without the prior arrangement of the Service
Manager, Strategic Assets.
12.1.5.8
The Service Manager, Strategic Assets shall ensure that assets are valued and
reviewed for impairment at appropriate intervals in accordance with the current
CIPFA Code of Practice and the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)
Valuation Standards.
12.1.5.9
The Service Manager, Strategic Assets may approve the disposal of land or
buildings which is worth less than £150,000, in consultation with the appropriate
Director, together with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
and Executive Member. The disposal of surplus land or buildings of a higher value
shall also be subject to the approval of the Executive.
12.1.5.10
Any disposal or part exchange of land and buildings shall follow normal and prudent
commercial practices to achieve best price or best value in conjunction with the
Service Manager, Strategic Assets who shall report this action to the Executive. No
costs associated with the disposal of land and buildings may be capitalised unless
they can be shown to have enhanced the value of the asset in accordance with the
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – Practitioners’ Guide to Capital Finance
in Local Government. This will exclude any residual expenditure to secure premises,
maintain utility services or the fees of legal and selling agents.
12.1.5.11
No material alterations or other works to Council buildings shall take place without
consultation with the Service Manager, Strategic Assets.
12.1.5.12
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall hold all title deeds under
secure arrangements on behalf of the Council.
12.1.5.13
The Directors shall consult with the Service Manager, Strategic Assets and Chief
Finance Officer on any proposed transactions including the rental, leasing, disposal,

Page 11 of 56

or acquisition of real property, or property related agreements of any kind with third
parties. This consultation must take place prior to any discussion or correspondence
with third parties that commits or could be construed as implying commitment by the
Council to a course of action or to any specific terms and conditions. Directors
should have regard to paragraphs 12.1.5.6, 12.1.5.9, 12.1.13.7, 12.1.17 and
13.3.3.2.in seeking approval for leasing, disposal or acquisition of real property or
property related agreements.
12.1.5.14
The Directors shall ensure that all lessees and other prospective occupiers of
Council land are not allowed to take possession or enter the land until a lease or
agreement in a form approved by the Service Manager, Strategic Assets, in
consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer), has
been established as appropriate and accounting arrangements have been properly
determined.
12.1.5.15
Directors shall ensure that the Council does not enter into any leases to lease in
property or land to the Council until a lease agreement in a form approved by the
Service Manager, Strategic Assets, in consultation with the Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer), has been established as appropriate, a business
case has been evaluated and accounting arrangements have been properly
determined. Directors should check with the Service Manager, Strategic Assets that
there is no existing suitable Council owned accommodation available before
submitting proposals to lease the property.
12.1.5.16
The Service Manager, Strategic Assets shall be responsible for all negotiations in
respect of real property and for agreeing terms on behalf of the Council (see 11.3.9).
Title deeds shall be passed to the Head of Governance and Improvement Services
who is responsible for the custody of all title deeds on behalf of the Council.
12.1.6 Protection of Private Property
Why is this area important?
Many of the Council’s responsibilities involve people coming under the guardianship
or supervision of its Officers or facilities. The public is entitled on these occasions to
expect the Council to exercise proper controls to safeguard their property and other
assets in circumstances where they may be unable to manage for themselves.
12.1.6.1
Any Director who is responsible for the private property (including cash and other
assets) of a person under their care or supervision shall:
a) take all necessary measures to mitigate loss or damage to that property;
b) maintain an inventory of that property prepared in the presence of two
Officers; arrange the safekeeping of all items in that inventory to the
satisfaction of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer);
c) ensure that no-one shall use or remove any private property without the
authorisation of the owner or their guardian; and

Page 12 of 56

d) comply with the rules and directions of the Treasury Solicitor with regard to
the disposal of any property belonging to a deceased person previously in
the care of the Council where it has not been possible to identify the next
of kin.
12.1.7 Partnerships
Why is this area important?
Partnership arrangements are an increasingly significant feature of public service
delivery. They are a response to the complex and multifaceted problems that face
society and which cannot be tackled effectively by any individual body working alone.
They can provide flexibility, innovation and additional financial and human capital
resources to enhance service delivery to the community. These are powerful
incentives for organisations to work with others and now all local public bodies work
in partnerships to different degrees but partnerships also bring risks. Working across
organisational boundaries brings complexity and ambiguity that can generate
confusion and weaken accountability. The public needs assurance that public
money is spent wisely in partnerships and it should be confident that its quality of life
will improve as a result of this form of working.
The term partnership can encompass a wide range of collaborative arrangements.
The Council defines a partnership as “a group of stakeholders brought together from
a range of organisations to be responsible for tackling mainly long term challenges
and opportunities in which they have a shared interest”.
12.1.7.1
Partnership activities should be carried out in accordance with the Council’s
Partnership Protocol in Chapter 10.2, unless otherwise approved by the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services.
12.1.7.2
The creation of any new partnership must be supported by a completed Partnership
Approval Checklist in accordance with paragraph 10.2.13 of the partnership protocol.
The anticipated level of Council resources to be directed at the partnership, the
complexities of the partnership and its outcome will determine the extent to which the
approval checklist is completed.
12.1.7.3
Before entering into agreements with external bodies, a Director shall ensure that:
a) the need for the partnership has been assessed including legality and
specific objectives determined;
b) consideration has been given to how to make the partnership work
including risk management, decision making procedures and performance
management arrangements;
c) a Partnership Agreement has been prepared in consultation with Finance,
HR, IS/IT, Legal and Property Services where appropriate; and
d) the Partnership Agreement has been properly authorised by a Director and
the Monitoring Officer is consultation with Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer). Executive approval may be required;

Page 13 of 56

e) where entering into a partnership agreement commits the Council to
expenditure of more than £100,000, that Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) has been consulted and an evaluation
of the relationship is undertaken for group reporting purposes.
12.1.7.4
A partnership arrangement can be a “shared service”. Prior to commencing
discussions around a shared service, Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) shall be consulted.
12.1.7.5
All Council partnerships must agree a procedure for their review. The review should
cover how the partnership works, in order to determine whether the outputs and
outcomes of the partnership merit continued involvement as well as the general
health of the partnership itself.
12.1.7.6
All Council partnerships must adhere to the Council’s Partnership Protocol.
12.1.7.7
Each Director and their staff must:
a) provide appropriate information about partnerships under their control to
the Strategic Commissioner for Communities to enable the Council’s
Partnership Register and the Medium Term Financial Plan to be updated;
b) ensure that all agreements and arrangements are properly documented
and do not impact adversely upon the Services provided by the Council;
c) consider and respond promptly to recommendations in formal evaluation
reports so that agreed actions arising are carried out in a timely and
efficient manner.
12.1.8 Work for Third Parties
Why is this area important?
Current legislation enables the Council to provide a range of services to other
bodies. Such work may enable a unit to maintain economies of scale and existing
expertise. Arrangements should be in place to ensure that any risks associated with
this work are minimised and that such work is intra-vires.
A determination as to whether or not a service to an external body may be intra-vires
is to be made by the Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
12.1.8.1
The Directors shall ensure that:
a) the approval of the Executive is obtained before an negotiations are
concluded to work for third parties;
b) a register of all contracts entered into with third parties is maintained;
c) appropriate insurance arrangements are made;
d) the Authority is not put at risk from any bad debts;

Page 14 of 56

e) no third party contracts are subsidised by the Council;
f) wherever possible, payment is received in advance of the service
delivery;
g) the Department has the appropriate expertise to undertake the contract;
h) third party contracts do not impact adversely upon the services provided
for the Council;
i) appropriate information is provided to Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) to enable a note to be entered into the statement of
accounts and an evaluation of the arrangement for group reporting
purposes to be undertaken;
j) there are adequate existing resources; and
k) appropriate trading accounts are established and maintained for the
arrangement.
12.1.8.2
Section 106 contributions to third parties, require the submission of a bid from
the third party, signed approval from Resources Manager (S106); the Executive
Member responsible for the release of S106 money; and the Executive
Member responsible for the area spending the S106 money.
12.1.9 Audit and Anti-Fraud
Why is this area important?
The Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) has a statutory
responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective internal audit of the
accounting, financial and other operations of the Council and its Officers.
Internal audit highlights weaknesses in controls or unsound practice, offers advice
and suggests improvements to existing arrangements and checks that financial and
other systems and procedures are sound. The internal audit function is provided by
the Shared Audit and Investigation Service within the Chief Executive’s Department
and is independent in its planning and operation and has direct access to the Chief
Executive and the Audit Committee.
The Council’s Accounts are also scrutinised by external auditors. The Local
Government Finance Act 1982 set up the Audit Commission which is responsible for
appointing external auditors to each local authority in England and Wales.
The external auditors must be satisfied that the statement of accounts represent a
‘true and fair view’ of the financial position of the Authority and its income and
expenditure for the year in question and complies with the legal requirements.
The Audit Commission Code of Audit Practice issued in April 2005 sets out the
auditor’s objectives to review and report on:
a) the Council’s financial statements and its statements on internal control;
and
b) whether the Council has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Page 15 of 56

12.1.9.1
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services in conjunction with the
Director of Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall ensure that an internal audit of all
of the Council’s accounting, financial and other operations is maintained and shall
ascertain the resources required for approval by the Audit Committee.
12.1.9.2
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services, following consultation with
Directors, shall present the strategic and annual audit plans to Audit Committee for
approval. The plans should take into account the characteristics and relative risks of
the activities involved and ensure proper liaison with the external auditors’ work
programme.
12.1.9.3
Internal and external auditors shall have access at all reasonable times to such
premises, personnel, documents and records (including those of third parties and
contractors) as they consider necessary for the purposes of their work.
12.1.9.4
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall report annually to the
Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the Council’s systems of internal control.
12.1.9.5
Each Director and their staff must:
a) produce, if required by the auditors, any cash, stores or any other Council
property under their control;
b) ensure that auditors are provided with any information and explanations
they seek in the course of their work;
c) ensure that any material changes to any systems and procedures, which
may affect income and expenditure or risk, are discussed with the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services before being implemented; and
d) consider and respond promptly to recommendations in audit reports so
that agreed actions arising are carried out in a timely and efficient manner.
12.1.9.6
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer), as Section 151 Officer,
has statutory responsibility for the Council’s financial control environment and for the
overall effectiveness of internal controls within the Council.
Each Director shall establish, document and maintain proper systems, controls and
procedures within their areas to;
a) ensure adherence to policies and directives in order to achieve the
Council’s objectives;
b) safeguard assets and ensure resources are effectively managed;
c) ensure compliance with statutory responsibilities;
d) ensure information is relevant, accurate and complete to maintain the
integrity of records;

Page 16 of 56

e) ensure risk identified and appropriately managed.
12.1.9.7 Preventing Fraud and Corruption (excludes Benefit Fraud
investigations)4
The Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall in conjunction
with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services promote and maintain the
Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy.
12.1.9.8
In the event of any suspected fraud or irregularity, the relevant Director shall notify
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services immediately and shall take all necessary
steps, pending investigation and reporting, to prevent further loss and to secure
records and documentation against removal or alteration (5Excludes Benefit Fraud).
The Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy provides a safe environment for concerns to be
raised confidentially and places an obligation on Council Employees to deal with
allegations appropriately.
12.1.9.9
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall be kept informed of the
progress and outcome of any investigation arising from suspected fraud or
irregularity.
12.1.9.10
Where there is the possibility of criminal proceedings, any further investigations shall
be conducted under the guidance of the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services.
12.1.9.11
Any decision to refer a matter to the Police shall be made by the relevant Director
after consultation with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
12.1.9.12
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services in consultation with Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall inform the Chief Executive of
any significant suspected irregularities.
12.1.9.13
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall inform the Chair of the
Audit Committee of any significant suspected irregularities and shall report to the
Chair of the Audit Committee the outcome of such investigations. The Head of
Governance and Improvement Services shall, at all times, have direct access to the
Chief Executive and Chair of the Audit Committee.

4

Specific Procedures for dealing with Benefit Fraud investigations are set out in the Benefits Fraud Protocol
Please note that Virement is defined as “A budget transfer to enable expenditure on a different service, or a
different way of providing that service, to that originally budgeted”.
5

Page 17 of 56

12.1.9.14
A Director shall ensure that the Council’s disciplinary procedures are implemented
where the outcome of an audit investigation indicates improper behaviour.
12.1.10 Insurance, Risk and Opportunity Management
Why is this area important?
Risk may be defined as the unwanted or unexpected exposure to adverse
circumstances that can lead to loss, damage, injury or failure to achieve objectives.
Risk Management itself is the responsibility of everyone in the Authority, with no
effective Risk Management there is no effective management.
Insurance is only a small part of the Authority’s strategy for Risk Management,
providing limited financial protection in certain defined circumstances.

12.1.10.1
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall assist the Chief Executive
in preparing and promoting the Council’s Risk and Opportunity Management Policy
Statement, Strategy and Risk Register.
12.1.10.2
Each Director shall review annually, in their service planning, the exposure to risk in
their areas having regard to advice from Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer), the Head of Governance and Improvement Services and other
Officers (including crime reduction, fire prevention, and health and safety).
12.1.10.3
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall effect all insurance cover
on behalf of the Council.
12.1.10.4
Directors must identify and notify the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services for any:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

amendments to, extension of or change in Service;
acquisition or sale of equipment referred to in paragraph 12.1.10.5 below;
acquisition, lease or sale of land or property;
acquisition, lease or sale of plant or motor vehicles;
all other risks in accordance with the Council’s Risk Management Strategy;
all other new risks, whether insurable or not, to which the Council may be
exposed.

12.1.10.5
Each Director must submit an inventory of equipment that has a new replacement
value of £1,000 or more which they choose to include in the Council’s “All Risks”
insurance policy.

Page 18 of 56

Equipment with a new replacement value of £2,500 or more should be insured
unless otherwise approved by the Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
Equipment not so declared will not be covered by the Council’s insurance.
12.1.10.6
Each Director shall:
a) ensure that agreed risk management strategies are in place for all aspects
of their Service’s operations and that all Officers and staff are fully aware
of the likelihood and impact of any identified risks or losses or
opportunities for improvements;
b) ensure that systems and procedures are risk assessed and documented
and staff trained in their operation;
c) immediately identify and notify the Insurance Officer of any incident
involving loss or damage or actual or potential liability including all
allegations of negligence, whether or not insured;
d) in consultations with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services,
inform the police of any incident or allegation referred to in c) above,
where relevant to do so;
e) advise the Insurance Officer and the Head of Governance and
Improvement Services of the purchase, sale, hire, lease or granting of any
licence or rights of or over any land or property prior to any contracts being
agreed, signed, exchanged or completed;
f) ensure that Officers or staff driving any vehicle on behalf of the Council
have notified the Insurance Officer of any motoring convictions if driving a
vehicle covered under the Councils’ motor fleet insurance or their own
insurers, if using their own vehicles;
g) ensure that Officers or staff hold an appropriate licence for driving any
vehicle on the business of the council;
h) ensure that Officers or staff have in place appropriate motor insurance to
cover business use while driving their own vehicle on the business of the
Council;
i) ensure that any plant or equipment that is subject to a statutory obligation
to regularly inspect, is inspected in accordance with directions from the
Council’s insurers and notify the Council’s Insurance Officer of any
required inspections that have not been carried out;
j) ensure that any work identified during any inspection referred to in h)
above is carried out promptly;
k) ensure that no repairs to vehicles or property arising from an insured
incident are carried out (other than urgent and essential repairs to ‘make
safe’) without having obtained authorisation from the Council’s insurers.
12.1.10.7
At no time should any person:
a) agree, offer or give any indemnity to a third party; or
b) admit liability,
as this will prejudice the Council’s insurance cover and could lead to the Council
facing significant uninsured losses.

Page 19 of 56

Indemnity forms, such as collateral warranties, shall not be signed without first
consulting with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services and Insurance
Officer.
No payments or compensation for loss, damage or injury shall be offered, agreed or
made without prior consultation with the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services. See 12.1.21.17.
12.1.10.8
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services shall manage all insurance
claims (whether made by or against the Council) except where other statutory
arrangements apply.
Any claim made against the Council remains at all times in the ownership of, and the
responsibility of, the Director against which the claim has been bought.
In respect of any claim, Officers and Managers must provide the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services and the Insurance Officers with their full and
expeditious assistance at all times.
In respect of the handling of any claim, failure to provide such assistance or
information within the timeframe required or as otherwise necessitated by the
circumstances and status of the claim will result in the claim not being
covered by insurance; the full costs of the claim will consequently be borne by
the Service (s) against which it has been made.
12.1.10.9
All staff shall be covered under a Fidelity Guarantee insurance policy.
12.1.11 Internal Control
Why is this area important?
The Authority has statutory obligations and therefore requires internal controls to
identify, meet and monitor compliance with these obligations.
The Authority faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks
both from internal and external factors which threaten the achievement of its
objectives. Internal controls are necessary to manage these risks.
The system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable
achievement of:
a) efficient and effective operations;
b) reliable financial information and reporting:
c) compliance with laws and regulations; and
d) risk management.

Page 20 of 56

12.1.11.1
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer), as Section 151 Officer,
has statutory responsibility for the Council’s financial control environment and for the
overall effectiveness of internal controls within the Council.
Each Director shall:
a) ensure they maintain an appropriate control environment and effective
internal controls within their Departments to provide reasonable assurance
of effective and efficient operations, financial stewardship, probity and
compliance with laws and regulations: and
b) review existing controls in the light of changes affecting the Authority and
establish and implement new ones in line with guidance from Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). The Directors should also
be responsible for removing controls that are unnecessary or not cost or
risk effective.
12.1.11.2
The Directors shall adhere to the guidance provided by Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer), through these and other regulations issued from
time to time, on internal financial controls covering budgetary systems, supervision,
management review and monitoring, physical safeguards, segregation of duties,
accounting procedures, information systems and authorisation and approval
processes.
12.1.11.3
An Annual Governance Statement shall be prepared by the Chief Executive and
Leader for the Council for inclusion in the Statement of Accounts. This must be
prepared in consultation with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
This will set out the potential risks which the Council could face in the forthcoming
financial year and also set out how the risk identified in the previous financial year
have been addressed.
12.1.12 Banking Arrangements and Cheques
Why is this area important?
Strict control of bank accounts is required to enable benefits from management of
cash flows to be maximised and the risks of losses from theft or mismanagement to
be minimised. The Council will normally hold one main account, but where there is
an administrative need, additional bank accounts will be established and maintained
on an imprest basis.
12.1.12.1
All the Council’s banking arrangements shall be made by or under arrangements
approved by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) who shall
operate such banking accounts, including National Giro Accounts, as he may
consider necessary and in accordance with the relevant bank mandates. No other
accounts shall be opened without the agreement of Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer).

Page 21 of 56

12.1.12.2
All cheque stationery drawn on the Council’s main bank account shall be ordered
only on the authority of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
who shall ensure that proper arrangements are in place for its safekeeping.
12.1.12.3
Cheques drawn on the Council’s main banking accounts shall bear the facsimile
signature of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) or be signed
personally by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) or one of
his/her authorised Officers.
12.1.12.4
Where the value of a cheque drawn on the Council’s main bank account exceeds
£10,000, it shall be countersigned by one of the authorised Officers.
12.1.12.5
No accounts shall be opened in the name of any individual Officer.
12.1.12.6
All accounts shall recognise the Council’s interest and, where applicable, the
Service or Department in respect of which the account is required.
12.1.12.7
Cheques drawn on any account, other than the Council’s main accounts, shall be
signed by at least two signatories. Each Director shall provide Director of Finance
and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) with the names of all signatories to the
account together with specimen signatures and details of the limits of their
authorisation and position within the organisation.
12.1.12.8
Directors shall ensure that chequebooks relating to Imprest accounts are kept
secure.
12.1.12.9
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) may agree arrangements
for the use of a debit, credit, or procurement card to make payments. Applications for
such arrangements must be supported by a business case agreed with the relevant
Director before being forwarded to Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) and shall have the same force as these financial regulations.
12.1.12.10
Where credit/procurement cards or Imprest accounts are used, the Directors must
ensure they are regularly reconciled to bank statements. See 12.1.20.11.
12.1.12.11
Prior to an employee leaving the Council’s employment, or otherwise ceasing
entitlement to hold a corporate credit card or corporate procurement card, the
responsible Director must ensure that the employee returns any card issued to them
to the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and obtain a
receipt certifying that the card has been destroyed.

Page 22 of 56

12.1.12.12
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall manage all
electronic funds transfer arrangements on behalf of the Council.
12.1.12.13 Authorised Signatories
The following people are currently authorised to sign cheques, BACS & CHAPS
payment requests and legal documents on behalf of the Council:
a) Cheques (any two of)
Director of Finance and Resources (the Chief Finance Officer)
Head of Corporate Finance (the Deputy Chief Finance Officer)
Head of Governance and Improvement Services (the Monitoring Officer)
Service Manager - Group Finance
Service Manager - Finance Business Partnering
b) BACS (Bankline) Payments
Director of Finance and Resources (the Chief Finance Officer)
Head of Corporate Finance (the Deputy Chief Finance Officer)
Head of Governance and Improvement Services (the Monitoring Officer)
Service Manager - Group Finance
Service Manager - Finance Business Partnering
c) CHAPS Payments
Director of Finance and Resources (the Chief Finance Officer)
Head of Corporate Finance (the Deputy Chief Finance Officer)
Head of Governance and Improvement Services (the Monitoring Officer)
Service Manager - Group Finance
Service Manager - Finance Business Partnering
d) Legal Documents
Head of Governance and Improvement Services (the Monitoring Officer)
Borough Solicitor (the Deputy Monitoring Officer)
12.1.13 Investments, Borrowing, Treasury Management, Leasing and Trust
Funds
Why is this area important?
The Council manages large sums of money and has a significant involvement in the
financial markets. As these markets are volatile, there is a need for constant care in
the management of borrowing and investment activities to control any risk exposure.
There is also a growing need to be aware of performance in the fields of borrowing
and investment, as elsewhere, to achieve economies, savings and improved returns.
12.1.13.1 Treasury Management
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and his staff are required
to act in accordance with CIPFA’s “Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the
Public Services”, the “CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local
Authorities” and the Council’s treasury management practices.

Page 23 of 56

12.1.13.2
The Council will create and maintain as the cornerstones for effective treasury
management:
a) a treasury management policy statement stating the policies and
objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury management
activities;
b) suitable treasury management practices setting out the manner in which
the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives and
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.
12.1.13.3
All monies held by the Council shall be aggregated for the purposes of treasury
management and shall be under the control of Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) who shall arrange the borrowing and investments of the
Authority in such a manner as to comply with the CIPFA “Code of Practice for
Treasury Management in the Public Services” and the Council’s Treasury
Management Policy statement and strategy.
12.1.13.4
Before the start of each financial year, Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) shall report in the first instance to the Audit Committee on the
strategies for treasury management and investment proposed for adoption for the
coming financial year including the prudential indicators. The Council will only
borrow in advance of need if supported by a strong business case setting out the
reasons and also the security of the resulting counterparties used to invest the funds.
12.1.13.5
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall provide a mid-year
and annual report to the Audit Committee, prior to being approved by Council, on the
exercise of the treasury management powers delegated, treasury management
performance and on any material departure from the code of practice.
12.1.13.6
All securities, whether the property of or held in the name of the Council or its
nominees together with the title deeds of property in its ownership, shall be held in
secure custody by the Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
12.1.13.7 Loans, Leases and Guarantees
No lending or leasing arrangements including hire purchase or similar agreements or
provision of loan or other financial guarantees shall be entered into without first
consulting Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and, in
addition, in relation to land and buildings, the Service Manager, Strategic Assets.
Where arrangements or guarantees exceed an estimated whole life value of
£150,000, the approval of the Council’s Executive should be sought.

Page 24 of 56

Leasing arrangements are defined as:a) agreements that have the formal status of a lease whereby a lessor
conveys the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time under a
lease contract to a lessee in return for a payment or a series of payments;
b) agreements that do not have the legal form of lease but convey the right to
use an asset in return for payments (embedded lease).
Where these are provided, consideration should be given to whether or not:
a) any leasing arrangement is deemed to be an operating or financing lease
for accounting purposes and, therefore, whether it should be treated as
revenue or capital expenditure;
b) the transaction will count against the Council’s borrowing limit and
prudential indicators;
c) requires the provision of information to Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) for inclusion in the Lease Register and the
Council’s Statement of Accounts;
d) there are any implications for VAT or other taxes.
To aid evaluation of the arrangement, the contract agreement should split the
payment between those elements applicable for the asset and those elements
applicable for the service.
Loans to other organisations by the Council shall be charged at Market Rates unless
otherwise directed by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). If
loans are provided at below market rates, the difference in interest income will be
paid by the Service. Directors should ensure that loan arrangements are properly
constituted by formal agreement in consultation with Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and Head of Governance and Improvement
Services.
12.1.13.8
The Directors shall advise Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
of any transactions or proposed actions that may impact on the Council’s investment
policy or funds management.
12.1.13.9 Trust Fund
The existence of sums of money held on trust for others must be declared to an
appropriate third party. For schools, this shall be the Headteacher and Governors
and for Social Services, the Directors of Children’s Services or Health and
Wellbeing.
12.1.13.10
All trust funds are to be held in the name of the Council. All Officers acting as
trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit all securities etc, relating to
the trust with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services unless the deed
make other provisions.

Page 25 of 56

12.1.13.11
Directors shall:
a) where funds are held on behalf of third parties, arrange for their secure
administration approved by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) and maintain written records of all transactions; and
b) ensure that trust funds are operated within any relevant legislation and the
specific requirements for each trust.
12.1.13.12 Investments and Borrowing
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall:
a) ensure all investments of money are made in the name of the Council or in
the name of nominees approved by the Council; and
b) ensure all borrowings are made in the name of the Council.
12.1.13.13
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall act as the Council’s
Registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and shall maintain records of all borrowing
of money by the Council.
12.1.13.14
No interests shall be acquired in any Company, Joint Venture or other enterprise
without the approval of the Executive following consultation with Director of Finance
and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). See 12.1.24.
12.1.13.15
The Council, in consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer), shall determine the maximum borrowing limits under the Prudential Code in
the context of affordability.
12.1.13.16 Service Concession Arrangements
Where a contract is proposed which includes the use of a specific asset or conveys
the right to use a specific asset as part of the arrangement, the contract shall be
treated as an embedded lease as outlined in section 12.1.13.7. Contracts that
convey to the operator the right to provide services that give the public access to
major economic and social facilities and include the use of particular assets under
which the Council controls the services provided and any residual interest in the
asset should be treated as a Service Concession Arrangement.
Such contracts are typically but not exclusively related to Private Finance
Initiative/Public Private Partnership (PFI/PPP) arrangements, however, some
contracts that were not planned as PFI/PPP schemes could also be classified as
Service Concession Arrangements (e.g. certain asset transfers where the Council
retains a legal charge over the infrastructure). Directors should inform and consult
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) where any such
arrangements are proposed to enable a proper evaluation of the accounting
treatment of the arrangement.

Page 26 of 56

12.1.14 External Funding
Why is the area important?
With increasing pressure on Council expenditure, external funding is potentially a
very important source of income. However, terms and conditions attached to funding
need to be carefully considered to ensure they are adhered to and compatible with
the aims and objectives of the Council. Funds from external agencies as well as
project funding from Central Government Departments, sponsorship and other
Corporate Social Responsibility contributions from private companies and other
donors, provide additional resources which can enable the Authority to augment
services it delivers to the local community.

12.1.14.1
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall ensure that all
funding from external bodies is properly recorded in the Authority’s accounts.
12.1.14.2
Prior to any external funding arrangements being entered into by a Director, he/she
shall consult with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) to
ensure that any match funding requirements and future budget implications are fully
considered.
12.1.14.3
Any proposal to spend monies received from any external funding source must be in
accordance with revenue or capital budgets.
12.1.14.4
The Directors shall ensure that the project progresses in accordance with the agreed
project plan, that all expenditure is properly incurred and recorded and all claims for
funds are made by the due date.
12.1.14.5
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and Head of Governance
and Improvement Services shall ensure that audit requirements of any external
funding sources are met.
12.1.14.6
Prior to bidding/allocating out of external funding, the Corporate Leadership Team,
Lead Member and Executive Member responsible for Council Budgets must first be
consulted to ensure alignment with the Council’s strategic priorities and that any
implications across Services are fully considered.
12.1.15 Petty Cash and Imprest Accounts
Why is this area important?
Petty cash and Imprest accounts are issued for administrative convenience. As they
are vulnerable to theft or misappropriation, it is important that the use of such
accounts is properly controlled and that the floats are secured.

Page 27 of 56

12.1.15.1
Requests for new Imprest accounts and Petty Cash accounts, or any changes to the
existing accounts, or procurement cards, must be supported by a business case
agreed with the Relevant Director before being forwarded to Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) who shall provide these as considered
appropriate unless other statutory arrangements apply.
12.1.15.2
The Director shall ensure that there are three signatories to each Imprest account
and that any cheques shall be signed by any two of these signatories. The
signatories shall be selected to ensure that there is adequate control of the account
without affecting the day to day operation of the service.
12.1.15.3
Reimbursement of payments from Imprest or Petty Cash Accounts shall be made on
receipt of a properly completed Imprest return in a form approved by the Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). The return shall show the cost
centres to be charged and the amounts relating to each cost centre. Payment will be
limited to such items of expenditure as may be approved by Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer). Vouchers supporting claims must be retained for
audit purposes.
12.1.15.4
Where necessary, Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) will
open an account with the Council’s bankers to be operated on an Imprest basis. The
account holder shall not allow the account to be overdrawn without prior agreement
from Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.15.5
No income received on behalf of the Council, other than for schools, may be paid
into an Imprest account without the approval of Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) subject to appropriate accounting procedures being in place.
Where a Service receives income into an Imprest account, it shall issue a VAT
receipt showing the rate and amount of VAT included in the receipt and shall record
the income in full (net of VAT) before any expenses are met from it.
12.1.15.6
Each Director shall ensure that any Imprest or Petty Cash account is not used for:
a) encashment of personal cheques;
b) payment of any disbursements which may be taxable and should be paid
through WISER Employee Services (or any replacement system);
c) mileage allowance for travelling, lump sum payments or other taxable
benefit which should be paid through WISER Employee Services (or any
replacement system). Other than costs which are a reimbursement of
actual expense and are supported by a receipt;
d) cash advances except where this falls within arrangements agreed for
appropriate clients of Children’s Services or Health and Wellbeing;
e) loans to employees.

Page 28 of 56

12.1.15.7
Where an Imprest or Petty Cash account is authorised, the Officers concerned shall
maintain a record of their receipts and payments and shall give the Director or
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) annually after the 31st
March, a certificate signed by the holder confirming they continue to hold the account
and the amount held at that date. For Imprest accounts, the statement must be
supported by a bank statement at the 31st March and a reconciliation of the
transactions now shown at the bank to agree with the amount certified.
12.1.15.8
On leaving the Council’s employment or otherwise ceasing entitlement to hold an
Imprest or Petty Cash account, the employee must account to Director of Finance
and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) for any monies advanced to them.
12.1.15.9
Each Director shall ensure the Imprest or Petty Cash account is:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

i)

routinely monitored for appropriate usage;
sufficient to allow for reimbursement claims every 4-6 weeks;
kept securely;
that proper records are maintained and transactions are recorded
promptly;
only accessed by authorised staff. A list of staff and specimen signatures
to be sent to the Manager WISER Services (or other authorised staff);
checked on a periodic basis for completeness of funds;
available with receipts to be produced on demand to the Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and auditors;
Petty Cash accounts are not used for payments exceeding £100.00.
Payments in excess of this to be requested by cheque from the Manager
WISER Services (or any replacement system) in exceptional
circumstances, payments exceeding £100 may be made from Petty Cash
accounts with the approval of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer); and
Payments in excess of £100 from an Imprest account shall be
countersigned by the Budget Manager.

12.1.15.10
All payments made by Imprest or Petty Cash must be supported with a receipt or
acknowledgement of payment that identified (where applicable) the supplier’s VAT
registration number, any VAT paid and details of items purchased.
12.1.16

Revenue and Capital Budgets (including Virement)

Why is this area important?
The Authority is a complex organisation responsible for delivering a wide variety of
services. It needs to plan effectively and to develop systems to enable scarce
resources to be allocated in accordance with priorities reflected within the
Community, Corporate and Service Plans. The budget is the financial expression of
the Authority’s plans and policies.

Page 29 of 56

Budgets (spending plans) are needed so that the Authority can set its Council Tax,
set targets for Budget Managers, provide authority to spend and to provide a basis to
measure performance.
Medium-term planning involves a planning cycle in which the Council develops its
Corporate plans. This ensures that the Authority is always preparing for events in
advance and provides opportunities to identify areas where up-front investment can
generate savings in the future.
The scheme of virement is intended to enable the Executive, the Directors and their
staff to manage budgets with a degree of flexibility within the overall policy
framework determined by the Council and to optimise service delivery.
12.1.16.1 Budgets and Medium-Term Planning
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall report annually to
the Executive/Council on the revenue and capital budget including any resource
constraints which may be set by the Government taking account of medium term
planning, the implications of spending decisions and adequacy of the level of
revenue and capital reserves. The annual report will include an opinion on the
robustness of the budgets presented, adequacy of reserves and any finance or
service Risks.
12.1.16.2
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall present the capital
and revenue budgets to comply with the general directions of the Council, the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – Service Reporting Code of
Practice (SeRCOP) and all legal requirements.
12.1.16.3
Each Director in consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) shall prepare future year estimates of revenue and capital. These shall be
collated by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) who shall
present them to the Executive and report of the implications for the Council including
the level of Council Tax.
12.1.16.4
Each Director shall carry out a Budget Risk Assessment each year to identify
financial and service risks and the extent of the risk in order to ascertain potential
unbudgeted liabilities and provide information in setting the level of reserves. Each
Director shall also undertake and record equality impact assessments of proposals
to amend service levels as required by the Equality Act 2010.
12.1.16.5
For all proposed budget bids, each Director shall complete a budget submission
prescribed by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.16.6 Budget Preparation, Monitoring and Control
Each Director is responsible for the management of their Department’s budget and
shall ensure it is properly monitored in accordance with the Council’s Budget
Management Protocol.

Page 30 of 56

12.1.16.7
Directors shall inform the Executive of any instance where a budget is likely to be
exceeded by an increase in costs or reduction in income (which cannot be contained
within existing budgets under the Virement rules) after consulting with Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.16 8
Each Director shall report to the Executive any instances where he/she is unable to
operate within his/her budgets. The Executive may:
a) instruct a Director to take action to the correct position;
b) make a transfer within the Council’s budgets (in excess of the virement
limits below see 12.1.16.15); or
c) approve a supplementary estimate.
12.1.16.9
Each Director shall consult with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) to ensure that reports to the Executive and Council which propose action,
show the financial implications of that action for the current financial year and any
subsequent years.
12.1.16.10
Any commitment which may be contained in the current year’s budget but generates
growth in future years shall only be entered into with the proper approval of the
Executive. This is particularly relevant to grant funded expenditure.
12.1.16.11
Each Director shall consult with the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) before reporting to the Executive any proposed course of action
which may have material financial implications beyond their Department budget.
12.1.16.12
The Directors shall in consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) prepare monthly budget monitoring reports, identifying and giving
reasons for significant movements from budgets and detailing proposed corrective
action together with any potential impact on the levels of service. These shall be
periodically presented to the Executive,
12.1.16.13
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall inform the Executive
of any budget variances which significantly affect the Prudential Indicators that are
approved by Executive on an annual basis as required by the CIPFA Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.
12.1.16.14 Resource Allocation
No revenue or capital expenditure may be committed, which is not authorised,
through the capital or revenue budgets except in the event of an emergency, as
defined in Section 138 of the Local Government Act 1972, or where the commitment

Page 31 of 56

can demonstrate value for money to the Council and with the agreement of Director
of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) regarding budget implications.
Such action to be reported to Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) as soon as possible and to the Executive at the next practical opportunity.
This provision includes those staff that represent the Council on the Thames Valley
Strategic Coordinating Group.
12.1.16.15 Virements
The term “Virement” is used to describe the situation where:
a) a decision has been made to change policy and move budget from one
purpose to another (e.g. budget is moved from non-staffing to staffing
related expenditure) or,
b) a decision has been made to incur expenditure against something that has
not previously been approved and money is moved from other budgets to
finance it or,
c) Where budget is moved from one purpose to another to cover unforeseen
expenditure.
Each Director who sits on the Leadership Board, in consultation with Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer), may vire up to a total of £150,000 in
any financial year subject to service budget availability and overall budget
availability.
The Chief Executive, in consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Financial Officer), may vire up to £300,000 across Services in any financial year
subject to overall budget availability.
All virements must be recorded as a Material Decision (see Appendix A) and must
be submitted to Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and, if
affecting the Capital Programme, must also be in consultation with the Service
Manager, Strategic Assets.
The Executive Member responsible for Council Budgets must be informed of all
virements.
12.1.16.16
No virement relating to a specific financial year shall be made after 31st March in
that year.
12.1.16.17
When an approved budget is a lump-sum budget or contingency intended for
allocation during the year, its allocation will not be treated as a virement provided
that the amount is used in accordance with the purposes for which it was
established.
12.1.16.18 Treatment of Year End Carry Forwards
Schools’ balances will be automatically carried forward to support the expenditure of
the school concerned. Where an unplanned deficit occurs, the Governing Body shall

Page 32 of 56

prepare a detailed financial recovery plan for consideration by the Chief Executive in
consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
Schools will normally be expected to agree to a plan to recover the deficit within a
defined period.
12.1.16.19
Other statutory ring-fenced budgets such as the Housing Revenue Account and
Building Control will be automatically carried forward.
12.1.16.20
Budgets for capital schemes which are in progress or have been contractually
committed, will be carried forward automatically. This excludes amounts below
£1,000 except where there are statutory or other requirements for the budgets to be
carried forward.
12.1.16.21
All other carry forward requests shall be considered by the Corporate Leadership
Team prior to seeking the approval of the Executive.
12.1.16.22 Maintenance of Reserves
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall advise the Executive
on the nature and prudent level of any reserves required and shall ensure these are
maintained in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom and agreed accounting policies.
12.1.16.23
Earmarked Reserves may be set up by the Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) subject to budget availability.
12.1.16.24 Fees and Charges
Directors shall set the established fees and charges annually. These shall be
increased in accordance with the Corporate Charging Policy and the rate of inflation
as confirmed by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and the
Executive Member responsible for Council Budgets.
12.1.16.25
In-year increases above inflation can be approved as an Individual Member Decision
subject to no adverse on-going budgetary implications and in consultation with
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and the Executive
Member responsible for Council Budgets.
12.1.16.26
In exceptional circumstances and subject to the forgoing requirement, charges may
be increased, reduced or waived for a specified period to promote a service or facility
as an Individual Member Decision subject to there being no ongoing budgetary
implications and in consultation with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer) and the Executive Member responsible for Council Budgets. This
may include introducing a casual charge for the purpose of defraying costs of a
special event. Any such change must be fully documented.

Page 33 of 56

12.1. 17 Capital Schemes (including funded by S106 Developer Contributions
and Community Infrastructure Levy)
Why is this area important?
Capital expenditure needs to be properly prioritised and monitored in order to
maximise the benefit from scarce resources. No new capital scheme can be
committed unless sufficient capital finance is available and provision has been made
to cover any on-going revenue consequences.
12.1.17.1
A project may only proceed where it has been provided for in the Capital Programme
and is in accordance with the Council’s Capital Strategy and Key Priorities, as
agreed by the Executive/Council.
12.1.17.2
All work to improve or alter any of the Council’s buildings must be approved by the
Service Manager, Strategic Assets. See 12.1.5.11. Such works may only be
capitalised if they enhance the life, use or value of a building as defined by the
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – Practitioner’s Guide to Capital Finance
in Local Government.
12.1.17.3 Section 106 Developer Contributions
The utilisation (including the creation of new projects in the capital
programme) of all Section 106 Developer Contributions, and other funding
from developers received under specific legislation, up to £25,000 are to be
agreed by the Resources Manager (S106) and the relevant Head of Service.
Between £25,000 and £100,000 to be agreed by the Head of Finance (this
authority has been delegated by the Head of Finance to the Head of
Development Delivery); the Service Manager responsible for the release of
S106 money and the Executive Member responsible for the area spending the
S106 money. Above £100,000 will require approval from Executive.
12.1.17.4
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall maintain and
publish, at least on an annual basis, a record of the Developers Contributions
received under S106, Community Infrastructure Levy or other legislation together
with all expenditure incurred from those funds.
12.1.17.5
On approval by the Executive of a programme of capital expenditure, the Directors
concerned may request the Service Manager, Strategic Assets to take steps to
enable land required for the purposes of the programme to be acquired in time.
Subject to approval by the Executive before any acquisition is finalised.
12.1.17.6
Where payment is made by certificate each Director shall ensure:
a) any stage payments do not exceed the value of work completed;
b) certificates are authorised by the appropriate Officer or consultant in
accordance with the conditions of the contract;

Page 34 of 56

c) that before authorising final payment, the contractors final account accords
with any Bill of Quantities or Schedule of Rates that the contract has been
satisfactorily performed and is within approved budgets. This check must
be independent of the Contract or Project Manager; and
d) any penalties or liquidated damages, where applicable, are deducted prior
to the final payment.
12.1.17.7
Credit arrangements, such as leasing agreements, shall not be entered into without
the prior approval of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and,
if applicable, inclusion of the scheme in the Capital Programme. See 12.1.13.7.
12.1.17.8 Capital Resources
All borrowing, disposals or use of capital reserves to finance the Capital Programme
must be approved by the Council when setting the Capital Programme or by
Executive thereafter, or in exceptional circumstances by the Director of Finance
and Resources subject to the Executive being notified immediately and the
subsequent approval by Executive at the earliest opportunity. Ring fence
grants and contributions received will require the same approval as virements
(see 12.1.16.15) for release into the capital programme in year.
12.1.17.9 Update of Capital Forms detail required for WISER
Before making any commitment in respect of a project included in the
Approved Capital Programme, a Budget manager shall authorise release of
budget via full completion of the Capital Project Setup (CPS) . Following
release of funds by CPS approval, any subsequent budget adjustments shall
also be approved through the CPS process following any necessary virement
approvals.
12.1.17.10 Forward Funding of Capital Schemes
The Director of Finance and Resources, in consultation with the Executive
Member responsible for Council Budgets, can approve forward funding for
capital projects of up to £1m against approved capital schemes, i.e. spending
income from contributions or grants in advance of their actual receipt.
12.1.18 Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
Why is this area important?
The Council is increasingly reliant on information technology incorporating, as it
does, computers, printing services and telecommunication services to process and
record financial and management information and to support its business and
decision making processes.
The Information and Communication Technology (ICT) used by the Council must be
resilient, secure and effective. Systems and procedures must be fully integrated and
well administered. The impact of ICT is not limited to individual sections,
Departments or the Council itself. Decisions about ICT investment must be taken
holistically in order to deliver maximum benefit to the Council and the community that
it serves.

Page 35 of 56

12.1.18.1
The ICT Operations shall be responsible for providing all corporate ICT services
including the procurement of equipment, software and services and
telecommunications. It is the responsibility of the Directors to ensure this
requirement in complied with.
12.1.18.2
Any proposal to acquire ICT equipment, software or services shall be subject to a
business case that clearly weighs the full life costs against the business benefits and
must be in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Plan and ICT Strategy.
12.1.18.3
The Directors shall, in consultation with the Head of Customer Services and IMT,
make arrangements to:
a) ensure that their staff comply with the Acceptable Use of IT Policy;
b) ensure that their staff comply with the software licencing requirements;
c) ensure that their staff comply with the Council’s Information Security Policy
and Guidelines; and
d) ensure that, where appropriate, computer systems and databases are
registered in accordance with data protection, legislation and that staff are
aware of their responsibilities under the legislation.
12.1.19 Income
Why is the area important?
Income is a vulnerable asset and effective income collection systems are therefore
necessary to ensure that all income due is identified, all collections are receipted and
banked promptly and completely and the Council’s accounting records are properly
and promptly updated.
Cash is particularly vulnerable and must be properly controlled and held securely.
12.1.19.1
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall determine
arrangements for the collection and recording of all monies due to the Council.
12.1.19.2
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall be notified promptly
of all contracts, leases and other agreements which will involve the receipt of money
by the Council.
12.1.19.3
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall order and supply to
Departments all receipt forms, books or tickets and similar items for internal control.
12.1.19.4 Cash Collection
Each Director shall be responsible for the identification and collection of income due
from activities in their service areas.

Page 36 of 56

12.1.19.5
Each Director shall ensure that where income is collected, Officers shall:
a)
b)
c)
d)

issue an official receipt or maintain other formal documentation;
note the form in which it was received e.g. credit card, cheque, cash;
enter details of the debt on the back of the cheque; and
ensure all income prior to banking is held securely against loss or theft and
that at no time the amount held exceeds the limits set for insurance
purposes

12.1.19.6
All money received on its behalf by any of the Council’s establishments shall be paid
without delay, and intact, directly into the Council’s income collection account, the
appropriate school account or into any other bank account established with the
approval of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). Where
practical, income should be paid into the Council’s Main Cash Office. Money
collected and deposited must be reconciled to the bank account on a regular basis.
12.1.19.7
Details to be provided on any Bank Paying In Slip shall include:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

the name of the collecting establishment;
the payee;
the income and VAT codes;
the date collected: and
the initials of two Officers who have prepared the amount for deposit.

12.1.19.8
Each Director shall:
a) supply Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) with
details relating to work done, goods supplied, services rendered or other
amounts due, to enable Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) to record correctly the sums due to the Authority and to ensure
accounts are sent out promptly;
b) establish performance management systems to monitor recovery of
income and notify the Service Manager, Shared Audit and Investigations
Service and Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) of
any serious shortage of missing income immediately;
c) record every transfer of money between employees of the Authority. The
Receiving Officer must sign for the transfer and the transferor must retain
a copy;
d) ensure income is not used for the encashment of personal cheques or for
any other payments;
e) ensure that, where practical, at least two employees are present when
post is opened and ensure that income received is properly identified and
recorded on receipt;

Page 37 of 56

f) ensure that the transfer of income between staff is immediately
acknowledged by the issue of a receipt or a signature in a cash accounting
record;
g) ensure that receipts, tickets and other records of income are securely
retained in accordance with the Council’s Records Management Policy;
h) ensure that all blank receipt books, tickets and other income records are
retained and controlled in a secure manner;
i) review annually all fees and charges for the supply of goods or services,
other than those set by schools, in accordance with the Income
Generation Strategy and Charging Policy and;
j) implement appropriate recovery proceedings, up to legal action, in respect
of debts which are not paid promptly except where Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) determines other arrangements.
12.1.19.9 Debtors and Credit Income
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) is responsible for
approving the arrangements for the collection of the debts of the Council, other than
schools, and, where appropriate, shall be supplied with all necessary supporting
documents in order to achieve recovery.
12.1.19.10
A bona fide debt once raised may not be cancelled except by full payment or by its
formal writing off. A credit note to replace a debt can only be issued to correct a
factual inaccuracy or administrative error in the calculation and/or billing of the
original debt. Credit notes must be approved by Budget Managers.
12.1.19.11
Where payment for goods or services provided by the Council, other than schools, is
not received at the time of supply, Service Manager, Income & Payments shall raise
an invoice for the due sum and shall ensure suitable arrangements are in place to
recover the debt. Except where Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) has agreed suitable alternative arrangements.
12.1.19.12
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) may approve the raising
of debtors invoices outside the main systems where they are satisfied that suitable
alternative procedures are in place.
12.1.19.13
All charges for goods and services shall be invoiced within 28 days of provision
unless payment is required in advance.
12.1.19.14
Recovery action in respect of all the Council’s unpaid debtor invoices shall be coordinated by Service Manager, Income & Payments who will liaise with the Borough
Solicitor. Sufficient documentary evidence to substantiate the debt must be passed
to Service Manager, Income & Payments where any court action is considered.

Page 38 of 56

12.1.19.15
Requests to raise a debtor invoice shall be approved by the Budget Manager, and
shall include information about the cost centres to be charged and the application of
VAT.
12.1.19.16
The Directors shall notify Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
of outstanding income not yet invoiced and relating to the previous financial year, as
soon as possible after 31st March each year, in line with the timetable determined by
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.19.17 Write Offs and Waivers
Debts may be written off via a material decision where an account remains unpaid
and further action to recover debt would evidently be uneconomic:
a) up to £1,000, by Budget Managers subject to the agreement of the
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). Such action to
be fully recorded;
b) above £1,000 but less than £10,000, by Heads of Service subject to the
agreement of the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer). Such action to be fully recorded;
c) above £10,000 but less than £25,000 by a Director or the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services, subject to the agreement of the
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). Such action to
be fully recorded;
d) above £25,000, subject to the approval of the Executive.
Directors will be required to supply schedule of proposed debt write-offs for sums
below £25,000 to the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) on a
quarterly basis.
12.1.19.18
Discretionary Rate Relief may be authorised by Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) in accordance with Council Policy. Appeals shall be
considered by the appropriate Lead Member.
12.1.19.19 PayPal Account
Set up and operation of a PayPal account for the collection of income from specific
website transactions within services shall require the approval of Director of Finance
and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) who shall establish appropriate procedures
for their operation. Where applicable, a Director should nominate a separate PayPal
administrator and certifying officer whose responsibility will entail reconciling the
income received via the PayPal account to the Council’s financial system.
12.1.20 Orders for Work, Goods, Services and Consultancy
Why is this area important?
Placing an order commits the Council to expenditure. It is therefore important that
none is placed without authorisation or full consideration at the outset of the budget
implications, specifications, health and safety, trading terms and the cost

Page 39 of 56

effectiveness of any work, goods services or consultancy required.
12.1.20.1
All orders for work, goods, services or consultants shall be made in accordance with
the Council’s Procurement and Contract Rules and ProceduresRegulations.
Payment vouchers must not be used in place of orders, and must only be used
where orders are not appropriate. Payment vouchers must be paid by BACS,
not cheques, wherever possible. See Chapter 132.2.
12.1.20.2
A purchase order is defined as a type of contract raised by the WISER Procurement
System (or on any replacement or alternative system, such as Framework-i) for the
purpose of procuring goods and services and shall require authorisation by a Budget
Manager, as set out in 12.1.21.42.1.21.4.
In the following circumstances, Purchase Orders shall be supported by a written
contract document signed or sealed in accordance with the Procurement and
Contract Rules and ProceduresRegulations as set out in paragraph 13.3.2.1
and 13.3.3.2.12.2.3.2.1
(Purchase Orders shall not be broken down for the purpose of avoiding these
regulations).
For Purchase Orders raised as a direct result of the Care Act 2014 (and related
legislation) for the purpose of providing personal care for a named individual
the above limits do not apply providing:
d)
the Director for Health & Wellbeing maintains a scheme of delegation
setting out the limits to be applied at each level of the management structure
for the purchase of social care; and
e)
and

the purchase order is raised using the designated Social Care system ;

f)
the supplier meets all relevant registration requirements as determined
by the Department of Health; and
g)

the supplier is already contracted to the council for this purpose; and

h)

the unit price is in accordance with the suppliers contract.

The reason for this exception is that the purchase of personal care will in
almost all case have no end date and will not therefore conform to a) above.
12.1.20.3
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall determine the style
and format of purchase order forms and may agree suitable alternative
arrangements.
12.1.20.4
All Purchase Orders for work, goods, services or consultancy shall be issued through
the WISER Procurement system (or any replacement system) except:

Page 40 of 56

a) where services are provided by the public utilities or are rents or rates;
b) where the purchase order is raised using an alternative system agreed
with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer);
c) where other statutory arrangements apply;
d) where, agreed in consultation with the Director, that purchase is made by
telephone or other direct communication such as the internet, however,
this must be followed immediately by an authorised purchase order. A
copy of the order should be sent to the supplier noting, where appropriate,
if the order is a confirmation of instructions already given;
e) where the WISER system (or any replacement system) is not available
and Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) has
determined an emergency procedure; or
f) where an alternative method of procurement has been identified and
implemented by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer).
12.1.20.5
Use of Purchase Orders should conform to any guidelines set by Director of Finance
and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) regarding central purchasing and the
standardisation of supplies and materials. Standard terms and conditions must not
be varied without the prior approval of the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services.
12.1.20.6
Each Director shall ensure that:
a) Purchase Orders placed with external suppliers are only use for goods and
services required by the Council. Individuals must in no circumstances use
official orders to obtain goods and services from external suppliers for their
private use;
b) goods and services are checked on receipt to verify that they are in
accordance with the purchase order. This check should be carried out by
a different person from that authorising the order who shall also process
confirmation of the receipt through the WISER system (or any replacement
system).
12.1.20.7
Approval of the official order shall ensure that:
a) budget provision (including other committed items) is available;
b) the goods or services are appropriate to need; and
c) quotations, tenders or other similar measures have been taken to ensure
best practice and value for money.
For Purchase Orders raised as a direct result of the Care Act 2014 (and related
legislation) for the purpose of providing personal care for a named individual
a) above does not apply. This is because the council has a duty to assess and
if the individual meets care criteria a duty to provide assessed care
irrespective of budget availability (LASSL(97)13, 11 November 1997).

Page 41 of 56

12.1.20.8 In-House Service Provision and Corporate Contracts
Where a service is already provided by an in-house unit, orders must be placed with
this unit and shall not be placed externally without consultation with the Director
providing the service. Where a Council wide contract is in existence, all orders for
goods and services available under these contracts must use these contracts unless
an alternative has been agreed with the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer).
12.1.20.9 Temporary Staff
All temporary staff appointments must be placed via the Council’s Approved
Agencycentral contract, where possible. Exceptions should be approved by
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.20.10 Corporate Transport Unit
Any requirements for vehicles must be referred to the Corporate Transport Unit who
shall place orders for purchase or leasing, contracting or redistribution of existing
vehicles, as appropriate, to satisfy the requirement and ensure the Council’s
vehicle’s strategy operates in the most efficient manner.
12.1.20.11 Procurement Cards
In some circumstances, the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) will issue a procurement card to Service Managers or other staff as
appropriate. The procurement card operates in a similar way to a credit card, to
allow purchases to be made quickly over the phone, in person or via the internet.
Request for new procurement cards or any changes to existing cards, must be
supported by a business case agreed with the relevant Director before being
forwarded to Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
The Director shall ensure that:
a) nominated cardholders sign confirmation of receipt of the procurement
card and acceptance of their conditions of usage;
b) the card is kept securely and only nominated cardholders use it;
c) any loss or misuse of the card is reported immediately to the Council’s
bank account provider and to the Group Finance Team at Shute End;
d) card limits are not exceeded;
e) there is an appropriate limit for individual transactions incurred on the card
and that the limit is applied consistently;
f) the card must not be used to obtain cash (with the exception of
emergency duty officers) or any items personal to the Holder or other
staff or for making loans to employees;
g) the card must not be used to circumvent Wokingham Borough Council’s
Procurement policies/processes. See 12.1.20 and Chapter 132.2;
h) no loyalty rewards (e.g. Air Miles etc) or other personal benefits are
collected by the cardholder;
i) all purchase vouchers and till receipts or invoices must be retained for
attachment to the card statement as proof of purchase for VAT purposes

Page 42 of 56

j)

k)

l)

m)

and for reporting under the Council’s Transparency Reporting procedures.
See 12.1.4.14;
monthly charge reports are reviewed monthly by the cardholder. The
cardholder will check this report for accuracy of expenditure incurred and
coding of expenditure to WISER (or any replacement systems) and advise
the Group Finance Team if any coding changes are required. Any queries
on the statement should be addressed immediately to the bank and a note
attached to the statement stating the action being taken to redress any
errors forwarded to Group Finance Team at Shute End;
the cardholder shall return any card which is no longer required, or on
cessation of entitlement, to the Group Finance Team at Shute End who
will destroy the card;
the cardholder is mindful of their duty in public office and under the
Council’s Code of Conduct and does not incur any expenditure on the card
that could embarrass the Council or lead to any accusation of abuse;
breaches of the Conditions of Use and the Finance and Procurement
Regulations will result in the card being withdrawn and disciplinary action
being taken against officers;

12.1.21 Payment for Work, Goods and Services
Why is this area important?
It is important that the Council has firm control over its payments to ensure its
suppliers are paid in accordance with their trading terms, that invoices are not
overlooked or duplicated and that payment is only made where goods and services
have been received satisfactorily.
Accounting for VAT also requires clear procedures to be in place to ensure it is
correctly claimed. See 12.1.23.
12.1.21.1
All payments on behalf of the Council shall be made by Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) except where delegated powers have been given
to holders of alternative bank accounts or procurement cards authorised by Director
of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
12.1.21.2
Every Officer and Member of the Authority shall declare in the Register of Interests
(Declaration of Interests) held on WISER (or any replacement systems), any links or
personal interests they may have with purchasers, suppliers and/or contractors if
they are engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Authority in
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct.
12.1.21.3
All invoices or requests for payment for work, goods and services shall be matched
to ensure that they are in accordance with Purchase Orders held in WISER (or any
replacement systems) unless an alternative arrangement has been agreed by
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer). Wherever possible, this
check should be carried out by a different Officer from the person who placed the

Page 43 of 56

order. Any unmatched vouchers will be referred to the relevant Budget Manager for
approval.
12.1.21.4
Each Budget Manager is responsible for the authenticity and coding of Purchase
Orders or payments and shall approve up to £50,000.
The Budget Manager may delegate authority to approve orders or payments up to
£2,500 to one or more nominated representatives subject to the agreement of the
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer).
Each Service Manager (within their area of budget responsibility) can approve orders
or payments up to £100,000 and is responsible for the authenticity and coding of
Purchase Orders. Each Head of Service (within their area of budget responsibility)
can approve orders of payments up to £250,000 and is responsible for the
authenticity and coding of Purchase Orders.
12.1.21.5
Requests for Purchase Orders or payments between £250,000 and £1,000,000
shall be approved by a Director or the Deputy Chief Finance Officer.
12.1.21.6
Requests for Purchase Orders or payments, exceeding £1,000,000, shall be
approved by the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) or the
Chief Executive or in their absence, the Head of Finance.
For all Purchase Orders raised as a direct result of the Care Act 2014 (and
related legislation) for the purpose of providing personal care for a named
individual paragraphs 12.1.21.4, 12.1.21.5, and 12.1.21.6 do not apply
providing:
a)
the Director for Health & Wellbeing maintains a scheme of delegation
setting out the limits to be applied at each level of the management structure
for the purchase of social care; and
b)
and

the purchase order is raised using the designated Social Care system ;

c)
the supplier meets all relevant registration requirements as determined
by the Department of Health; and
d)

the supplier is already contracted to the council for this purpose; and

e)

the unit price is in accordance with the suppliers contract.

12.1.21.7
The Directors shall provide Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) with a list of Budget Managers authorised to approve orders and payments
in this respect. Where these authorisations are held within the Authority’s accounting
systems, the Directors shall ensure they are reviewed regularly and kept up-to-date.

Page 44 of 56

12.1.21.8
Prior to invoices being passed for payment, the Approving Officer, who shall not be
the Examining Officer, shall ensure the following checks have been made:
a) the invoice complies with VAT requirements;
b) there is evidence that work, goods or services have been satisfactorily
received;
c) the invoice has not been previously paid;
d) expenditure is a proper liability of the Council;
e) prices and arithmetic are correct and as quoted or estimated;
f) the voucher has been properly coded to the correct account;
g) discounts have been taken where available; and
h) where payment relates to a Contractor’s Final Account, that an
independent scrutiny of the account has been undertaken.
12.1.21.9
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) may approve other
arrangements for authorising payments where adequate alternative controls can be
demonstrated.
12.1.21.10
Payments shall only be made where an original VAT invoice is provided as a
supporting voucher or the invoice is produced electronically by a system approved
by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) other than where
payment is supported by a contract certificate or internal payment voucher. Any
alteration to a sum due shall be supported by a debit or credit note.
12.1.21.11
All unmatched invoices and those from approved alternative systems 12.1.20.4b
must have attached to them a cover slip, as determined by Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer), showing that the required checks have been
carried out and bearing the signature of the Examining Officer.
12.1.21.12
The normal method of payment shall be BACS, or where authorised by Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer), by direct debit or cheque.
Wherever possible, services should not request cheques due to their greater
administrative cost and bank charges. Once instant Pre-Paid Cards become
available, they will become the normal method of payment where a cheque
would previously have been drawn. The continued use of cheque payments
will then only continue where a payment by BACS, Direct Debit or Pre-Paid
Card is not possible.
12.1.21.13
All undisputed invoices shall be paid in accordance with Corporate Terms of
Payment of 28 days unless contractual obligations require earlier payment which
shall not in any case be less than 14 days. Prompt payment discounts shall be
taken where available.

Page 45 of 56

12.1.21.14
Payments by debit card, credit card or procurement card shall be in accordance with
the approval given by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
when setting up the arrangement. See 12.1.20.11.
12.1.21.15
The Directors shall notify the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Financial
Officer) of outstanding expenditure, not yet passed for payment, relating to the
previous financial year as soon as possible after 31st March each year, in line with
the timetable determined by the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer).
12.1.21.16
Payments in advance for Goods and Services exceeding £1,000 shall not be made
except with the approval of Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) who may require evidence of a satisfactory Financial Health Check of the
supplier (excludes Social Services residential placements and payment by schools of
examination fees).
12.1.21.17 Compensation Payments
No payments for compensation of loss, damages or injury shall be made without
consultation with the Head of Governance and Improvement Services. See
12.1.10.7.
12.1.22 Salaries, Wages and Other Emoluments
Why is this area important?
In most Departments the largest item of expenditure is the cost of staffing. It is
therefore important to have controls in place to ensure that payments are only made
to bona fide employees in accordance with individual’s conditions of employment, in
respect of services provided to the Department and that all amendments to the
payroll are properly authorised.
The following regulations are not applicable to schools which may make their own
arrangements for payroll services. Schools must ensure that any arrangements they
make for these services comply with relevant employment and taxation legislation.
12.1.22.1
The payment of all salaries, wages, compensation and other emoluments to all
employees, or former employees, of the Council shall be made by Director of
Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) or under arrangements approved
and controlled by him/her.
12.1.22.2
Appointments of all employees shall be made in accordance with the regulations of
the Council and its approved structures, grades and rates of pay and approved
budget.

Page 46 of 56

12.1.22.3
The format of all-time records, claims or other pay documents shall be approved by
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) and shall be approved by
a Budget Manager.
12.1.22.4
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall make arrangements
for the accurate and timely payment of tax, superannuation and other deductions.
12.1.22.5
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall make arrangements
for the payment of Members allowances as per Democratic Services.
12.1.22.6
The Directors must establish adequate and effective systems and procedures to
ensure that:
a)
b)
c)
d)

payments are only authorised to bona fide employees;
payments are only made where this is a valid entitlement;
conditions and contracts of employment are correctly applied; and
employees’ names listed on the payroll are checked at regular intervals to
verify accuracy and completeness.

12.1.22.7
Each Director shall:
a) notify the Employee Services and Payment Manager of all appointments,
terminations or variations which may affect the pay or pension of an
employee, or former employee, as soon as they are aware of them;
b) retain personnel records securely and administer those records held on
computer files in accordance with the provisions of the Data Protection
legislation;
c) ensure that payroll transactions such as mileage claims or reimbursement
of expenses which are not supported by receipts, are processed only
through the payroll system;
d) give careful consideration to the employment status of individuals
employed on a self-employed consultant or sub-contract basis. The Inland
Revenue applies a tight definition for employee status, and in cases of
doubt, advice should be sought from Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer);
e) check and approve through I-Expenses or Purchase to Pay systems,
travel and subsistence claims and other allowances. Check and approve is
taken to mean that journeys were authorised and expenses properly and
necessarily incurred, that allowances are properly payable by the Authority
ensuring that cost-effective use of travel arrangements is achieved and
that expenses are supported by VAT receipts. Due consideration should
be given to tax implications and that VAT is applied correctly where
appropriate; and

Page 47 of 56

f) ensure that the Employee Services & Payments Manager is notified of the
details of any employee benefits in kind to enable full and complete
reporting within the income tax self-assessment system.
12.1.22.8
Each Director shall ensure that all payroll source data is:
a) maintained as required on WISER;
b) retained by the Department for the period defined in the Council’s Records
Management Policy;
c) authorised, certified and submitted to the Department Administrator or
other designated Officer; and
d) supported with receipts or other documentation to fully verify the claims for
expenses or subsistence.
12.1.22.9
All payments made under the relocation scheme shall be in accordance with the
scheme. A formal agreement, as supplied by the Head of Human Resources, must
be signed by the member of staff prior to receipt of any benefit.
12.1.22.10
All employees seeking reimbursement of expenses in respect of post entry training
courses shall enter into a signed agreement with the Council , to repay all
appropriate training expenses should he or she leave the Council’s
employment within two years following completion of training. The agreement
to be signed before any payment is made.
12.1.22.11
Each Director shall ensure that adequate records are kept detailing the total financial
support for training, relocation or other purposes given to each member of staff,
within their area of responsibility, to enable costs to be ascertained when an
employee leaves the Council prematurely.
12.1.22.12
Where an employee leaves the employment of the Council before the terms of any
agreement such as for post entry training, relocation or car loan are met, or the
employee otherwise becomes ineligible or unable to complete the terms of the
agreement, the relevant Directors shall notify Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) and Head of Human Resources of any monies which are to
be repaid under the terms of the agreement so that an invoice may be raised.
12.1.22.13
A Director may not waive any monies which become due from an employee in
accordance with the terms of any loan agreement or other agreement for financial
assistance other than at the discretion of the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services.

Page 48 of 56

12.1.23 Taxation/VAT
Why is this area important?
Like all organisations, the Authority is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in
order. Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly
accounting for tax are severe. It is therefore very important for all Officers to be
aware of their role.
12.1.23.1
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall complete all returns
regarding PAYE and monthly returns of VAT inputs and outputs to HM Revenue and
Customs on behalf of the Council and shall provide details to the HM Revenue and
Customs regarding payments made under the construction industry tax deduction
scheme.
12.1.23.2
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) shall maintain up-to-date
guidance for the Council’s employees on taxation issues.
12.1.23.3
The Directors shall follow the guidance on taxation issued by Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer) in the VAT manual and establish procedures to
ensure that:
a) the correct VAT liability is attached to all income due and that all VAT
recoverable on purchases complies with HM Revenue and Customs
regulations;
b) where construction and maintenance works are undertaken, the contractor
fulfils the necessary construction industry tax deduction requirements; and
c) all persons employed by the Authority are added to the Authority’s payroll
and tax deducted from any payments except where the individuals are
bona fide self-employed by a recognised staff agency.
12.1.23.4
The Directors shall inform Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer)
of all proposed capital schemes, disposals or leasing arrangements to ensure VAT
implications are fully considered and shall seek Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) ‘s approval before entering into, or committing to, any land,
property, leasing contract or partnership arrangement or setting up or engaging with
any company on behalf of the Council.
12.1.24 Local Authority Companies
Why is this area important?
The Local Government Act 2003 has enabled best value authorities to trade through
the medium of a company provided that the nature of the trading is connected with
their statutory functions. The Council has adopted a council wide policy on income
generation which seeks to explore the greater use of its trading powers and
opportunities.

Page 49 of 56

The establishment of a company and adopting business models can facilitate this
process in introducing innovative, efficient and sustainable forms of delivery with
value for money for Council Tax payers. In essence, the establishment of a
company will enable the flexibility and ‘fleetness of foot‘ to take advantage of
entrepreneurial opportunities not normally associated with a multi-statutorily
regulated public body such as a Council.
The medium of the company is also normally essential if the Council wishes to trade
to make a commercial profit (as distinct from simply covering its costs).
12.1.24.1 Local Authority Companies
Directors must:
a) seek approval from both the Head of Governance and Improvement
Services and the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) prior to the setting up or formal involvement in companies. This
will involve consideration of whether the trading should be carried out by
an existing Council-owned company, a subsidiary of an existing company
or a newly incorporated company;
b) include any clauses, within the company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association to safeguard the Council’s position as required by the Head of
Governance and Improvement Services and the Director of Finance and
Resources;
c) obtain Executive approval before any negotiations are concluded;
d) ensure all agreements and arrangement are properly documented;
e) ensure that governance arrangements are in place including arrangements
for exit, if necessary;
f) ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify and
assess all known risks;
g) ensure that a satisfactory business case and business plan are prepared
before trading by the company commences;
h) ensure that any Council Officers who are to be Directors are aware of their
responsibilities under company legislation and the company’s articles and
that appropriate indemnities and insurances are in place for the Council
and the company;
i) ensure that the accounting policies adopted and followed by the Council,
see 12.1.4.1, are adopted and followed by the company where the Council
is the majority shareholder in the company;
j) that the company has appropriate financial procedures in place to properly
record and account for the income and expenditure, assets and liabilities
of the company;
k) that adequate supporting records of the income, expenditure, assets and
liabilities of the company are held;
l) that the company operates a financial year 1st April to 31st March and
prepares its financial statements, as per 12.1.4.10, in accordance with the
timetable set by the Council’s Chief Finance Officer;
m) that adequate information is provided to the Council in accordance with the
timetable set out by Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) of the Council to enable the consolidation of the company’s
accounts with the accounts of the Council for group reporting purposes;

Page 50 of 56

n) that arrangements are made for the audit of the company’s accounts in
accordance with the requirements set out in the Companies Act 2006 and
the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011;
o) ensure that where the Council is not the majority shareholder in the
company that the Council’s procurement regulations, Chapter 13, are
followed when contracting services between the Council and the company.
12.1.24.2
The Head of Governance and Improvement Services should advise the Executive on
the following key elements:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

scheme appraisal for financial viability;
risk appraisal;
governance arrangements;
resourcing, including taxation issues; and
audit requirements.

Page 51 of 56

GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND DEFINITIONS
Chief Finance
Wokingham Borough Council designated Chief Finance Officer
Officer (Section (Section 151 Officer). The Head of Finance has been designated
151 Officer)
as the Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer)
Commissioning A group of Officers to consider funding for individual packages of
Forum
support.
Consultant
Any person or company commissioned to provide professional
expert advice or services outside the Council’s fixed
establishment
Contract
Any commitment made for or on behalf of the Council with a
contractor. The commitment may be made by official purchase
order or other method as approved by Director of Finance and
Resources (Chief Finance Officer), Section 151 Officer..
Contract
A formal certificate, issued in accordance with the terms of a
Certificates
contract, confirming the value of work, goods, and materials
supplied at the time of valuation. Such certificates should only be
signed by a qualified engineer or architect or consultant employed
for the purpose of managing the contract or the responsible
Director.
Contracts
Where all contracts valued over £520,000 must be recorded. The.
Register
Register is located on the WBC staff network.
Contract Value All values in this document relate to the total ascertainable value
of a contract (i.e. annual value x length of contract + any
extension period, if applicable, and any options if applicable).
EOI
Expressions of Interest.
OJEU
The directive issued by EU Regulations for procurement by Public
Procurement
Authorities, the directive has been implemented in the UK by Tthe
Directive
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
Material
Any decision identified as such within the Financial and Contract
Decision
Regulations. The template can be found on the WBC staff
network.
Purchase
For the purpose of these Regulations, a purchase order is defined
Orders
as a type of contract raised through the WISER System (or any
replacement system) for the purpose of procuring goods or
services and shall require authorisation by a Budget Manager.
PQQ
Pre-Qualification Questionnaire.
ITT
Invitation to Tender.
Services
The provision of goods, materials and services to be supplied or
the execution of works that are specified as fundamental to the
contract.
Social Care
Refers to Adult and Children’s Services.
Standing List
A list of contractors maintained, as per Regulations, these
contractors may be invited to quote for the supply of services in
specified categories for which they have been approved.
Tender
A formal sealed offer for services submitted in response to an
invitation issued by the responsible Director.
Term
A formal contract under which services are supplied over the

Page 52 of 56

Contractor
Variation

WISER
Services
Supplies

Works

period of the contract at previously agreed rates submitted under
approved tendering procedures.
Alterations to the specifications, methods or materials originally
tendered affecting the cost of a contract, or which may also
change the level of service achieved.
Wokingham Borough Council’s Enterprise Resource Planning
system.
Includes for example, services such as maintenance of
equipment, transportation, consultancy, technical service etc.
Contracts are essentially those for the supply or hire of products.
These are referred to as “Goods “in The Public Contracts
Regulations 2015 and all associated procurement documentation.
Defined as “the outcome of building or civil engineering, works
taken as a whole that is sufficient of itself to fulfil an economic and
technical function”.

Page 53 of 56

Page 54 of 56

MONETARY LIMITS
Appendix B

Reference
12.1.5.3

12.1.5.4(a)

12.1.5.4(b)

12.1.5.5

12.1.5.6

12.1.10.5

12.1.12.4
12.1.15.9
12.1.16.15

12.1.19.17

a)

Description
Value of Stocks or Stores to be reported annually to
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer).
A detailed inventory of furniture, fittings, plant and
machinery and equipment with an individual purchase
value in excess of:
Unexplained differences of stores movements to be
reported to the Business Assurance and Insurance
Manager
Limit for write- off or disposal of surplus items other
than land and buildings which a Director may
authorise.
Value at which items or groups of items to be referred
to Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) prior to disposal.
Value at which disposal of Capital Assets to be
referred to Chief Finance Officer.
Value at which the Service Manager, Strategic Assets
shall maintain an Assets Register of all properties
owned by the Council.
Value at which items to be included in Department
inventories for inclusion in the Council’s “All Risk”
insurance policies.
Value of items, not specifically insured, to be included
in the Service’s risk planning and agreement not to
specifically insure to be formally obtained from the
Head of Governance and Improvement Services.
Level where countersigning of cheques is required.
Value above which withdrawals from Imprest
accounts to be countersigned,
Limit for virements in total which can be approved
in any financial year by a Director in consultation
with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer).
Limit for virements which can be approved in any
financial year by the Chief Executive in consultation
with Director of Finance and Resources (Chief
Finance Officer).
Write- Offs and Waivers
Debts may be written off where an account remains
unpaid and further action to recover debt would
evidently be uneconomic as set out below :.
By Budget Managers subject to the agreement of

Value £
5,000 or more

1,000

1,000
2,000

2,000
2,000 or more

10,000

1,000

2,500
10,000
100

150,000

300,000

Page 55 of 56

Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer). Such action to be fully recorded.
b)
By Heads of Service subject to the agreement of the
Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer). Such action to be fully recorded.
c)
By Director or the Head of Governance and
Improvement Services subject to the agreement of
the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer). Such action to be fully recorded.
d)
Subject to the approval of the Executive.
Directors are required to supply a schedule of
proposed debt write- offs for sums below £25,000 to
the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance
Officer) on a quarterly basis.
12.1.20.2(b) Level at which a purchase order or series of Purchase
Orders with one supplier must be supported by a
Contract.
12.1.21.4
Each Budget Manager is responsible for the
authenticity and coding of purchase 0rders or
payments and shall approve up to:
The Budget Manager may delegate authority to one or
more nominated representatives subject to the
agreement of the Director of Finance and Resources
(Chief Finance Officer) to approve order or payments
up to:
Each Services Manager (within area of budget
responsibility) is responsible for the authenticity and
coding of Purchase Orders and can approve orders or
payments up to:
Each Head of Service (within their area of budget
responsibility) is responsible for the authenticity and
coding of Purchase Orders and can approve orders or
payments up to:
12.1.21.5
Requests for purchase orders or payments between
£250,000 and £1,000,000 shall be approved by a
Director or the Deputy Chief Finance Officer
12.1.21.6
Requests for purchase orders or payments exceeding
£1,000,000 shall be approved by a the Director of
Finance and Resources, or the Chief Executive, or in
their absence, the Deputy Chief Finance Officer
12.1.21.16
Limit above which any Payments in Advance need the
approval of:

Up to 1,000

Up to 10,000
Above 10,000
but less than
25,000
Above 25,000

50,000

50,000

2,500

100,000

250,000

1,000,000

Exceeding
1,000,000
1,000

Page 56 of 56

CHAPTER 13 – PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTS RULES AND PROCEDURES
13.1

Purpose and Significance

13.1.1
These Procurement and Contract Rules and Procedures (“PCRPs”) provide a compliance
framework for managing the Council’s expenditure on goods, services and works and are,
in effect, the instructions of the Council to ALL officers for undertaking expenditure on
behalf of the Council. For the avoidance of doubt: responsible individuals (13.2.3.1) must
not commit to expenditure unless these PCRPs have been followed.
These procurement rules and procedures are made in accordance with section 135 of the
Local Government Act 1972
13.1.2
As money spent by the Council is public money, the purpose of these PCRPs is to ensure
that the Council:
a) purchases goods, services and works of the appropriate quality for its needs
b) uses resources efficiently and obtains value for money in its purchasing decisions
c) furthers its corporate objectives, including collaboration with other authorities
d) is open, fair, transparent and fully compliant with EU public procurement legislation
and UK Law, as laid out in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (“PCR2015”)
e) helps to safeguard against fraud, bribery, corruption and dishonesty
13.1.3
Failure to follow these PCRPs for all procurement decisions and processes will undermine
the achievement of the objectives in 13.1.2. Additionally, in an increasingly litigious and
regulated environment, non-compliance is seen as an increased risk; including the
likelihood of greater exposure to claims from suppliers, as well as heavy fines and nonfinancial penalties from regulatory authorities.
13.1.4
The PCRPs detailed here should guide users through the processes to follow for any
procurement. However, they are not intended to be a ‘how to’ guide; they signpost relevant
policies, guidance and legislation and whenever specific advice is needed, consult the:
a) Procurement team (via your Procurement Business Partner) for day-to-day advice in
respect of the operation of these rules and procedures
b) Shared Legal Solutions (“SLS”) team for advice on issues of precedence and the law
relating to Council contracts.
13.1.5
There is a series of policies which should be read in conjunction with these PCRPs. They
may be updated from time to time but will always constitute a key component of the
PCRPs. See Appendix 2 for a list of applicable policies and Section 0 below for an
explanation of other associated documentation.

13.2

General Principles

13.2.1 Application and Scope
13.2.1.1
The PCRPs apply to all Council expenditures on goods, services and works. For the
avoidance of doubt, ‘services’ includes:
a) services of external consultants or temporary workers through external agencies
b) the purchasing of services for individuals, including social care and children’s services,
(e.g.: a package of care or a foster placement)
c) when we increase volume on a spot contract or go beyond a block contract and for
extensions, i.e.: existing arrangements (see Section 13.2.2 Estimating Contract Value)
d) Service Level Agreements (“SLAs”); Memorandums of Understanding (“MoUs”);
Grants which are awarded by the Council with certain conditions or outcomes attached
13.2.1.2
The PCRPs do not apply to contracts for:
a) the appointment of permanent or fixed-term employees
b) the purchase/rental or sale of any interest in land, existing buildings or other
immovable property; these are covered in the Finance Regulations 12.1.5.13
c) MoUs and Grants which are awarded by the Council without particular conditions or
outcomes attached.
13.2.1.3
Maintained schools are required by Section 48 of the School Standards and Framework
Act 1998 to comply with the LEA’s Financial Scheme; which, in turn, refers to the Council’s
Finance Regulations and PCRPs. Schools also need to have regard to the current School
Governance Regulations.
13.2.1.4
Council owned trading companies are required to use these PCRPs for all procurement
activities undertaken; adapting them as required (with advice from Procurement where
appropriate) to meet their own governance arrangements. Teckal arrangements have now
been codified into PCR2015 but the interpretation can be complex; contact Procurement
for advice
13.2.2 Estimating Contract Value
All contract opportunities are required to state a total ascertainable value (or a value
range) so that potential suppliers can assess their suitability for the opportunity and the
appropriate procurement process can be utilised. The estimate includes both revenue and
capital elements of any contract. There are several requirements in PCR2015 (Regulation
6) that specify how the value of the opportunity should be calculated.
Refer to the Estimate of Value document and contact Procurement for advice.
Where no definition of total value is possible, the estimated contract value shall be
calculated as 24 x the monthly value.

13.2.3 Responsibilities and Compliance
13.2.3.1
The PCRPs apply to every officer of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf. It is the
responsibility of Directors to ensure that the Rules and Procedures are adhered to.
13.2.3.2
Failure to comply with these Rules and Procedures may result in disciplinary action.
13.2.3.3
Breaches of these Rules and Procedures should be reported to the Monitoring Officer;
Section 151 officer and the Service Manager – Shared Audit & Investigation Service.
13.2.3.4
Any officer or member of staff who suspects any fraud, corruption or misconduct in relation
to any procurement or contract must immediately report that suspicion to the Monitoring
Officer, Section 151 Officer and the Service Manager – Shared Audit & Investigation
Service.
13.2.4 Conflicts of Interest
13.2.4.1
Where a tenderer has provided advice during a preliminary market consultation or has had
any involvement in the preparation of a tender document (“Prior Involvement”) the
following measures must be taken to ensure that competition is not distorted by the
participation of that tenderer in the subsequent procurement process:
a) Details of the Prior Involvement of a tenderer in a particular procurement process
must be communicated to all tenderers taking part in that procurement process;
including details of relevant information exchanged between the Council and the
tenderer as part of the Prior Involvement
b) The time limit for the receipt of tenders must be adequate (so that the tenderers who
have not benefitted from Prior Involvement have sufficient time to properly formulate
their responses)
What is considered “relevant information” and “adequate” timescales will vary case-bycase. It is the responsibility of the Officer involved to make a considered judgement of
what these mean for their particular instance.
13.2.4.2
Any tenderer who has had Prior Involvement in a particular procurement can only be
excluded from the procurement process where the Council has documented a decision
(Material Decision) that there are no means available to prevent distortion of competition.
The Council shall give the excluded tenderer an opportunity to prove how the Prior
Involvement will not distort competition before it makes that decision.
13.2.4.3
Any Council Officer or other person acting on the Council’s behalf who has, directly or
indirectly, a financial, economic or other personal interest, which might be perceived to
compromise their impartiality and independence in the context of any procurement
process, shall disclose such interest and shall not take part in that procurement process.

Disclosure of the interest should be made via the standard, annual self-declaration
procedure.
13.2.4.4
The Localism Act includes rules covering any disclosable pecuniary interest in a
procurement activity by Members. The Local Government Association has produced an
informative guide: “A councillor's guide to procurement”.
13.3

The Procurement and Contract Rules

13.3.1 Pre-Procurement Approvals
The Pre-Procurement Approval steps indicated below must be completed before a formal
procurement procedure is started; that is, before the publication of any Prior Information
Notice or advertisement requesting Expression of Interest, Request for Participation,
Invitation to Tender or similar.
13.3.1.1 Procurement Business Case (including options appraisal)
A formal business case is required for any procurement with a total value above £50k
(refer to section 13.2.2 for estimating value) with the varying levels of approval shown in
the table below:

Goods and Services
Schedule 3 Services
Works

No formal business
case required
< £50k
< £50k
< £50k

Head of Service &
Director Approval
£50k - £500k
£50k – OJEU threshold1
£50k – OJEU threshold1

Executive Approval
> £500k
> OJEU threshold1
> OJEU threshold1

All Business cases should include the following elements in an appropriate form:
a) A brief justification linked to service or corporate objectives
b) Vision and description of objectives to be achieved / specific need to be addressed
c) Appraisal of options
d) Statement of benefits and justification of expenditure, including financial costs and
benefits, where relevant over the life of the contract.
(Works business cases should include a financial feasibility assessment in terms of
investment payback, return on investment or discounted cash flow value).
e) Timetable
f)

Procurement Approach and Commentary

g) Source and approval of funding and whether it is revenue or capital.
h) Overall approvals as indicated in table above
The exact nature of any Business Case will vary depending on the requirements of the
services being procured but all should consider the elements listed above to an
appropriate degree. In consultation with Procurement, Directorates may design their own
_____________________
(1)

OJEU thresholds for all types of procurement are defined in Appendix 1

templates and requirements for Business Cases, in particular where regularly recurring or
rapid procurements are required.
Further guidance on the production of a Business Case is available from Procurement.
A Business Case must also be produced for ALL direct award waivers, adhering to the
same approval levels. They must be supported with the Suppliers proposal, including
terms and conditions and full quotation details in line with the Waiver Policy (see Appendix
2).
13.3.1.2 Budget Approvals
In addition to an approved business case, where required, for the procurement, there must
be budget available before procurement can commence.
If/ once a budget has been allocated for the expenditure, the following levels of approval
are required in order to begin the procurement process. These represent the minimum
levels of approval that are required; in specific circumstances, such as a new, unusual or
particularly risky procurement, higher levels of consultation and approval may be
appropriate.
The approval of the Director is sufficient for any budget approval within their Service remit.
The Director may choose to consult more widely as appropriate to the nature of the
particular procurement.
13.3.1.3 Legal Approval
As soon as the Business Case and Budget have been approved, the likely nature of the
contractual Terms & Conditions (“T&Cs”) should be determined (see Table 13.3.3.1 below)
and, as appropriate, SLS should be engaged prior to the commencement of the
procurement.
SLS needs to be formally instructed to engage in the procurement process; but, in specific
circumstances, a waiver may be in place that allows the use of pre-approved
documentation. Check with your Service Manager to verify if any such waiver exists.
13.3.2 Overview of Required Procurement Procedures
ALL procedures in the PCR2015 (including Schedule 3 Services) are subject to “the
principles of transparency and equal treatment of economic operators [tenderers]”.
Accordingly, there is no mechanism for negotiation with any individual tenderer, at any
stage of a procurement procedure.
Procedures are available to allow for negotiation, dialogue and innovation but they may
only be used in specific circumstances and involving all parties equally. These procedures
are difficult to manage effectively and should generally be avoided.
For procurements exceeding £50k, the default procedures are the Open or Restricted
procedures only; in order to use another procedure, officers need to consult with
Procurement and raise a waiver. For Services that need to manage urgent requirements
(e.g.: emergency placements), a blanket waiver (clearly specifying the circumstances in
which such a procedure is appropriate) may be available.
Check with your Service Manager to verify if any such waiver exists.
13.3.2.1
The following table gives an overview of the Procurement and Contract requirements for
expenditure on Goods and Services (excluding Schedule 3 Services - see below) at

various contract values:
Goods & Services
Contract Value
Fully compliant OJEU process – any
applicable process may be utilised.
Open (single step) process
Request for Quotation (RFQ) process, with
credit check & references
Simple quotation and selection process
Approved business case for the
procurement at the appropriate level
Legal & Procurement teams to be notified
before start of procurement undertaking
Formal specification & evaluation criteria
Simplified specification & evaluation
All documents available on the date of
publication of notice or advertisement
Publish in OJEU
Advertise in Contracts Finder
(within 24 hrs of 1st advert anywhere else)
Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ)
Invitation to Tender (ITT)
Formal tender opening process
Formal tender evaluation process
Award notified in OJEU
Award notified in Contracts Finder
Signed contracts lodged with SLS
Standstill period
Service Area to add contract data to central
Contracts Register

Below OJEU Threshold
£0k - £25k

£25k - £50k

£50k OJEU

Above OJEU
> OJEU
Threshold




(min 3 quotes)
Min 3 Quotes

(if necessary)





















prohibited

Contracts
> £5k

if advertised
anywhere
prohibited





prohibited
























13.3.2.2
The following table gives an overview of the Procurement and Contract requirements for
expenditure on Schedule 3 services at various contract values. These are for specific
services such as health, social care, education, cultural and certain other service contracts
as defined by Common Procurement Vocabulary (CPV) codes:
Schedule 3 Services
Contract Value
Light Touch Regime (“LTR”)
Any appropriate process may be used
Legal & Procurement teams to be notified
before start of procurement undertaking
Formal specification & evaluation criteria
Advertise in OJEU – contract notice or PIN
ALL documents available at date of notice
Advertise in Contracts Finder
Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ)
(Restricted Procedure)

Invitation to Tender (ITT)
Formal tender opening process
Formal tender evaluation process
Publish contract award notices
(can publish notices grouped quarterly)
Standstill period
Service Area to add contract data to central
Contracts Register

Below OJEU Threshold
< £50k
> £50k

Min 3 Quotes



Above OJEU
> OJEU Threshold












> £25k, if advertised anywhere
Optional
(but prohibited below
prohibited
the Goods & Services
OJEU Threshold )



If > £25k











Contracts
> £5k





For ALL procurements, any appropriate process may be used and there is flexibility in the
types of award criteria that can be defined but any procedure used must ensure equal
treatment of tenderers and transparency. There are no prescribed timescales for
procedures but they must be “reasonable and proportionate”.
The procedure can deviate from the LTR as long as there is no breach of equal treatment
& transparency and the reasons are documented & communicated.
13.3.2.3
The following table gives an overview of the Procurement and Contract requirements for
expenditure on Works at various contract values:
Works
Contract Value
Full OJEU process
Invitation to Tender (ITT)
Optional Construction Line “Tender”
Approved business case for the
procurement at the appropriate level
Legal & Procurement teams to be notified
before start of procurement undertaking
Formal specification & evaluation criteria
Simplified specification & evaluation
Publish in OJEU. ALL documents to be
available prior to issue of the OJEU notice
Advertise in Contracts Finder
Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ)
(Restricted Procedure)

Formal tender evaluation process
Request for Quotation (RFQ), credit check
and references for selected supplier
Award notified in OJEU
Award notified in Contracts Finder
Signed contracts lodged with SLS
Service Area to add contract data to central
Contracts Register

£0 - £50k



Below OJEU Threshold
£50k - OJEU
 (if not Construction Line)
 (if no ITT)

Above OJEU
> OJEU


n/a















if advertised anywhere
Optional
(but prohibited below the
prohibited
Goods & Services OJEU
Threshold)


(min 3 quotes)





If > £25k








Contracts
> £5k





13.3.2.4 Abnormally Low Tenders
The Council has a duty to investigate any tenders that appear to be abnormally low.
We are obliged to require tenderers to explain the price or costs proposed in the tender
and assess the information provided in consultation with the tenderer. The situation can be
complex since PCR2015 regulations lay out specific elements to be considered, conditions
to limit when the Council may reject a tender and obligations for when it must reject a
tender. Contact Procurement for help in interpreting the specific rules.

13.3.3 Contracting Requirements
13.3.3.1 Overview of Contract Terms & Conditions
Having selected an appropriate supplier, the following sources of T&Cs may be
appropriate for various contract values. These represent the minimum requirements for
any given contract value; for low value contracts, more stringent T&Cs (e.g. simplified
Contract Terms instead of a standard PO) may be relevant in some circumstances:
Contract
Value

Duration
<12mth

<£50k
>12mth
>£50k

any

Risk
Low
Normal
Low
Normal
any

Procurement
Cards


n/a
n/a
n/a

Standard
Purchase
Order Terms





Formal
Contract Terms
(via SLS)



Suppliers’
Terms
By exception
and only with
input of Shared
Legal Solutions

If you have any questions or concerns around contracts that may be high risk, consult SLS
and/or Procurement. For example: relatively low value contracts may have risks around
sensitive data associated with them, which make the inclusion of a Confidentiality
Agreement appropriate in that particular case.
13.3.3.2

Acceptance of Tenders and Signing of Contracts:

Activity
Acceptance of Tenders
(prior to contract award)
Contract Signature

Under £50k
Head of Service
None if PO or
Purchasing Card.
Otherwise 2
Officers named on
“List of Authorised
Officers…”

£50k - £100k

£100k - £500k

Director
Two Officers:
1. Head of Legal Services
or Qualified Solicitor
or Barrister
2. Any Officer in 1 or Director
or Member of Corporate
Leadership Team (CLT)

> £500k
Director by
Material Decision

Sealed as deed

(facilitated by Shared Legal Solutions)

13.3.3.3 Modification of contracts during their term (including extensions):
Subject always to the availability of an approved budget for the total amount to be
committed, the ability to demonstrate ongoing value-for-money and that the modification
does not alter the overall nature of the original procurement a contract may be modified
within certain, defined limits; contact Procurement for advice.
The primary concern of PCR2015 is to ensure that the scale of the contract opportunity
(i.e. its overall value) is not significantly changed. Many contracts (especially Works) will
allow for changes to requirements and specifications within their terms, as long as the
overall nature and scale of the contract is not substantially altered.
There is no means to extend a contract beyond the term/s defined within the original
contract documents (which may include one or more defined extension periods). A
Material Decision has no legal basis in this respect; once the maximum allowable term is
complete, a new contract must be awarded. This will usually be awarded through a new
procurement procedure with a suitable level of competition, as described above.
The regulations allow some mechanisms that may be useful in these circumstances but
they are specific and quite restrictive; contact Procurement for advice.

13.3.4 Contract management during the contract duration
Good contract management relies on planning, starting with the creation of the contract
documents during the initial procurement.
For any particular service requirement we should develop a clear idea of what success
looks like – what would we ideally want from the contractor that would deliver a first class
service with a minimum of input from ourselves. Clauses and requirements, KPIs, regular
reporting of metrics and contract reviews can all be built into the tender pack; setting
expectations with potential contractors at the outset. Mechanisms that incentivise good
performance and behaviours and the potential to share any benefits that the partnership
approach generates can all be valuable approaches.
13.3.4.1 Contract Register
For transparency reporting and audit requirements, as well as to enable effective Councilwide contract management activity, all contracts entered into should be recorded in the
central Contracts Register. This is mandatory for contracts with a contract value of over
£5,000 (to comply with our transparency obligations). Entering all contracts on to the
Register will enable Service teams to leverage the contract management alerts and
intelligent functionality built into the system.
The process to add, edit, maintain and manage contract details on the central Contracts
Register is documented separately.
13.3.4.2 Key Performance Indicators
Contracts entered into by the Council should contain KPIs, which are agreed with the
supplier at the contracting stage of the procurement process. These ensure that both the
Council and the supplier can regularly monitor and manage the supplier’s performance
against the contract, to ensure that what has been contracted for is delivered. KPIs should
be a combination of quantitative and qualitative measures which can be readily collected
and measured. Procurement has produced a separate brief guide, for typical KPIs to
include in a contract.
Having agreed KPIs with suppliers, it is up to the responsible contract manager to agree
the process for capturing and reviewing these measures on a regular basis and capturing
any deviations to ensure remedial action is taken.
13.3.4.3 Performance Reviews
Good contract management practice requires the establishment of routine and regular
contract performance reviews over the lifetime of the contract. The Council’s contract
managers and suppliers review KPIs, work plans and other performance tools so that
deviations from contract can be rectified quickly. It is the responsibility of Directors to
ensure that officers, or staff, with contract management responsibilities in their Directorate,
undertake such regular performance review activity, as appropriate.
13.3.4.4 Contract end planning
It is also good practice to prepare for the end of a contract well before the contract end
date is reached. The responsible contract manager should start planning for contract end,
renewal or re-letting 24 months, and no less than 12 months, before contract end. This will
be assisted by the contract management alerts from the central Contracts Register, where
contract details are on the system.

13.4 Overview of Procurement Process Selection
This section details the processes to be followed for any procurement. The precise
process will depend on type and value of procurement as well as any corporately
mandated or optional approaches that may be available.
To direct users to the appropriate process for their procurement, a ‘process wizard’ is set
out below. It works by asking some key sequential questions about the nature of the
proposed procurement to arrive at which process should be used:
1
Type

2
Above/
below
OJEU
Above

3
Procurement
Size
> OJEU
Threshold
£50k –
OJEU

Goods &
Services

4
Available
corporate
contract
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes

Below

£25k - £50k

No
Yes

£0k - £25k

1
Type

2
Above/
below
OJEU
Above

Schedule
3
Services

1
Type

3
Procurement
Size
> OJEU
Threshold

No

4
Available
corporate
contract
Yes
No
Yes

Below

2
Above/
below
OJEU
Above

Works

< OJEU
Threshold

3
Procurement
Size
> OJEU
Threshold
£50k –
OJEU

No

4
Available
corporate
contract
No
No

Below
£0 - £50k

No.





No

5
Available
Framework
Agreement
n/a
Yes
No
n/a
Yes
No
n/a
Yes

Corporate Contract
Framework Contract
Full OJEU Process
Corporate Contract
Framework Contract
Above £50k Process
Corporate Contract
Framework Contract

No

Above £25k Process

n/a
Yes

Corporate Contract
Framework Contract

No

£0-£25k Process

5
Available
Framework
Agreement
n/a
Yes
No
n/a
Yes
No
5
Available
Framework
Agreement
Yes
No
Yes
No
Yes
No
No

Default Process

Default Process
Corporate Contract
Framework Contract
Light Touch Regime
Corporate Contract
Framework Contract
Tender Process
Approved Supplier List

Default Process
Framework Contract
Full OJEU Process
Framework Contract
Construction Line
Framework Contract
Construction Line
Min 3 quotations

Optional
Processes
available


[]
Table
13.3.2.1

Table
13.3.2.1

Optional
Processes
available




Optional
Processes
available





Optional Processes
Open Procedure
Restricted Procedure (above Goods & Services OJEU Threshold only)
Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (by exception only)
Competitive Dialogue (by exception only)



Approved Supplier / Provider List (Framework or DPS)

13.5 Related Policies and obligations
There is a range of policies and additional obligations that support and expand on these
PCRPs but they are subject to update from time to time. As such, they do not form part of
the core PCRPs and are supplied as appendices, as indicated below. Ensure that you
always access a fresh copy of any particular document you need to refer to.
Appendices sit outside of these Regulations and may be updated from time to time
without the need for formal approval.
13.5.1 Related Policies & Processes (Appendix 2)
This appendix lists all the Council policies which are relevant to the PCRPs and should be
read in conjunction with the information above.
13.5.2 Additional Obligations
The previous Procurement & Contract Rules had been appended over a number of years
with obligations that addressed particular issues and experiences. Some are now
incorporated in the overall rules but those that are still relevant and require specific
mention are referenced below.
The detailed description for each clause can be found in the appendices.
Statutory Obligations (Appendix 3)
WBC Specific Obligations (Appendix 4)

APPENDIX ONE – OJEU THRESHOLD VALUES
Threshold

Euro

Goods & Services
Schedule 3
Works (Schedule 2)

€ 207,000
€ 750,000
€ 5,186,000

GBP
(2014 conversion)
£ 172,514
£ 625,050
£ 4,322,012

Display
Value
£173k
£625k
£4,322k

Bookmark
name
GSthold
S3thold
WORKSthold

The EC procurement thresholds for application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015
are fixed for a 2 year period (1st January – 31st December); the values are subject to
change on the 1st January of every even year (i.e. 2014, 2016, 2018,…).
Note: these thresholds apply to the total ascertainable value of the contract / business
opportunity (excluding VAT) and not the annual cost or budget.
NOTE: When updating the reference figures in the table above, reassign the
correct bookmark name to the newly entered figure. You achieve this
by:
 Type in the new figure that you require.
 Highlight the new figure (remember to include the ‘£’ symbol) by
holding your left mouse button and dragging the cursor across it.
 From the menu bar select [Insert], then [Bookmark]. A
‘Bookmark’ dialogue box will pop up.
 Select the correct ‘Bookmark name’ from the list in the dialogue
box and click [Add].
 When you close the document, a dialogue box will open to ask if
you wish to save your changes; ALWAYS click [SAVE], even if
you have already saved the document beforehand. This will run
a macro, which automatically updates all the fields in the
document that are linked to your changes.

APPENDIX TWO – Related Council Policies & Processes
Appendix Two signposts general Council policies and specific processes that are relevant
to procurement activities undertaken by Council Officers.
All such general policies are available to the public through the Council Website.
These documents are subject to regular review and update. In order to avoid an excessive
rate of change to the Constitution, the specific details are not included here.
The working copy of this Appendix Two is available through the internal website –
Grapevine – providing Officers with direct links to all the relevant information, including the
specific processes.
Alternatively, details about what is included may be obtained from Procurement.

APPENDIX THREE – Additional Obligations, STATUTORY
Index
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.

Transparency Reporting
The Social Value Act / Localism
Safeguarding – DBS (Disclosure & Barring Service)
Supported Organisations
Social Enterprises (VCSE)
Contracts involving Council Assets
TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment))

i)
Transparency Reporting
The Council will publish details of current contracts with a description of what is being
provided, the duration of the contract, the name of the supplier and data concerning the
total value of the contract.
ii)
The Social Value Act / Localism
For all:
a) Service contracts with a value in excess of the EU threshold and
b) all works contracts over £1m;
the contractor and its supply chain will be required to actively participate in the
achievement of social objectives relating to the participation in skills development,
employment and training programmes in accordance with Wokingham Borough Council’s
Employment and Skills Guidance for Tenders, which can be found on the Council’s
website.
iii)
Safeguarding – DBS (Disclosure & Barring Service)
Wherever a contract or tender involves working regularly with children or vulnerable adults,
or wherever required as appropriate to the nature of the contract, DBS checks must be
included as a requirement at the outset within the tender specification and the terms and
conditions document.
These must also clearly state that all costs relating to DBS checks shall be borne by the
contractor.
DBS checks should be repeated at 3-yearly intervals for those who remain in post.
Contractors should be asked to provide evidence that DBS checks are monitored and kept
up to date.
Contractors should be asked to confirm that they are aware that:
a) An organisation which knowingly employs, in a relevant role, someone who is barred
to work with children or vulnerable adults is breaking the law.

b) They must inform the Independent Safeguarding Authority if they dismiss or remove a
member of staff because they have harmed a child or vulnerable adult, or they would
have dismissed or removed them had they not left.
iv)
Supported Organisations
In the case of a supported business, supported employment programme or sheltered
workshops as defined in Regulation 20 of the PCR2015 (essentially establishments where
more than 30% of the workers are disabled or disadvantaged); the Council may restrict the
scope of invitations to tender to those types of organisations. This is termed a “Reserved
Contract” and the call for competition shall make reference to Article 20 of the Public
Contracts Directive. Other relevant procurement rules and procedures continue to apply.
This should not be confused with the completely separate arrangement (Regulation 77) for
reserved contracts to support mutual and social enterprises – Appendix Three (v) – Social
Enterprises
v)
Social Enterprises (VCSE)
PCR2015 includes a significant alteration in the treatment of Social Enterprises, mutuals,
charities and other similar organisations (or VCSEs).
Covered under the Schedule 3 regulations (specifically Regulation 77); contracts may be
reserved for qualifying organisations ONLY if they are exclusively for one or more services
covered by a specific sub-set of the Schedule 3 CPV codes.
The relevant codes are highlighted in yellow in the list of Schedule 3 CPV codes.
A “qualifying organisation” is one that fulfils all of the following conditions: a) its objective is the pursuit of a public service mission linked to the delivery of those
services;
b) profits are reinvested with a view to achieving the organisation’s objective, and any
distribution of profits is based on participatory considerations;
c) the structures of management or ownership of the organisation are (or will be, if and
when it performs the contract):
i. based on employee ownership or participatory principles, or
ii. require the active participation of employees, users or stakeholders;
d) the organisation has not been awarded, pursuant to this regulation, a contract for the
services concerned, by the contracting authority concerned, within the past 3 years.
The contract may only be awarded for a maximum of 3 years.
The call for competition shall make reference to Article 77 of the Public Contracts
Directive.
This regulation is designed to promote opportunities to qualifying social enterprises by
protecting them from full EU competition for the first 3-years of a particular type of contract.

They are expected to be able to develop their services during that initial period and will
then be subject to full competition.
This should not be confused with the completely separate arrangement (Regulation 20) for
reserved contracts for Supported Organisations – Appendix Three (iv).
vi)
Contracts involving Council Assets
In order to comply with the International Finance Reporting Standard (IFRS), wherever a
contract is proposed which includes use of a defined asset (i.e. an item of property, plant
or equipment) or conveys the right to use a specific asset, prior to the agreement of such a
contract the permission of the Chief Financial Officer should be sought.
The contract agreement should split the payment between those elements applicable for
the asset and those elements applicable for the service.
vii)
TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment))
If existing employees are associated with the contract opportunity (either internally or
externally) the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006
must be observed. For example: a contract for services is retendered as it has come to the
end of its term and the existing supplier employs staff specifically to provide us with those
services. Those staff would be covered by TUPE regulations should the new contract be
awarded to a different supplier.
If in any doubt, the Contract must be checked with the Service Manager – Shared Legal
Solutions or the Service Manager - Human Resources.
A Confidentiality Undertaking form must be used as part of the tender process where
TUPE applies.

APPENDIX FOUR – Additional Obligations, WBC SPECIFIC
Index
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.

Assets & Security
Loans, Leases & Guarantees
Sponsorship & Grant Monies
Mitigation of Risk (including Performance Bonds)
Insurance
Receipt of Tenders
Opening of Tenders
Acceptance & Signing of Contracts
Setting up Supplier Details & Recording of Contract/ Tender Information

i)
Assets & Security
For guidance on assets & security, see Finance Regulations 12.1.5 – Assets and Security.
ii)
Loans, Leases & Guarantees
For general guidance, see Finance Regulations 12.1.13 – Investments, Borrowing,
Treasury Management, Leasing and Trust Funds.
Clauses that are directly relevant to loans, leases & guarantees may be found in Finance
Regulations 12.1.13.7 – Loans, Leases and Guarantees and the subsequent sections.
iii)
Sponsorship & Grant Monies
Council income from sponsorship or grants is covered by the Financial Regulations:
12.1.14 – External Funding.
Grants should be assessed on a case by case basis. The Glossary contains a definition
a) Where the money is given simply to carry out works or services from which the Council
derives no direct benefit this is probably satisfactory and can be considered a grant.
b) Grants given to benefit the local community and to achieve better financial outcomes
should be considered in line with Council priorities, although, where money is given
and the Council receives a benefit intended to be enforceable in return then this is a
contract and must follow Procurement rules.
c) Where the Council gives an organisation money which then enables the organisation
to bid/tender for a business opportunity, the Council would be acting anti-competitively
and if the contravention affected trade between member states of the EU it would also
contravene state aid rules. A procurement process must be followed in line with UK
Law and potentially European Regulations. Any such money actually paid by the
Council must be returned to the Council prior to the commencement of the tendering
process.
iv)
Mitigation of Risk (including Performance Bonds)
An appropriate level of security for the due performance of a contract should be

considered in every case. For low value contracts no specific steps may be necessary but
as contract value increases, so should the level of safeguards that are put in place.
For all contracts, appropriate performance safeguards should be agreed and formally
recorded in the contract documents.
Continuity is critical for many of the services that the Council provides. It is therefore
essential that appropriate steps are taken to ensure that we can continue to deliver the
service, even if the current contractor runs into difficulties or defaults on their deliverables.
To that end, suitable clauses should be included in the contractual terms and conditions in
order to mitigate the risk of any default.
There are many different ways of achieving the required safeguards; the method (or
methods) selected depend on the nature and value of the specific contract and the state of
the market. The following lists the typical key factors to consider: a) Maturity of the market
Where there are many capable suppliers available (especially if several are locally
based), who could potentially step in to cover any urgent issues, the need for other
forms of protection is diminished.
b) Length of contract/Payment Schedule
A long-term contract with regular monthly payments, in arrears, should be quite stable
and can, in practice, supply immediate funds by withholding payment for the most
recent period/s, if necessary.
c) Nature of contract
If the service can tolerate a short lapse in provision without major difficulties the
Council will have time to secure alternatives, should the incumbent contractor fail.
Statutory service provision, with significant immediate consequences of failure, will
need a much more secure approach.
d) Nature of Risk
Are the real risks in the contract focussed around potential default or are localised
failures and issues more likely, where appropriate insurance may be more effective.
Clearly, multiple risk factors are present in all contracts and combined safeguards may
be required. A balanced assessment of the likelihood and consequences of each risk
factor is needed to establish the right controls and mitigation.
e) Financial Standing
If the contractor is large and financially stable, especially when compared to the
contract value, there may be no need for additional safeguards.
Alternatively, the Contractor may be a subsidiary of a larger parent company/group,
which is a real entity (as opposed to a holding company name) that can draw on real
resources. In these cases, a parent company guarantee can be an effective, generally
cost free, safeguard. The Council has a standard Form of Parent Company
Guarantee.
f)

Contract Management
The effective use of Performance Measures and Key Performance Indicators as part
of an active contract management scheme can be the best safeguard. This is most
effective when implemented as an integral part of the contract tender with planned
development throughout the contract term.
Not only can well planned and executed contract management provide advanced

warning but it can also prevent potential issues from developing into major concerns,
through early intervention and a stronger relationship between Council and Contractor.
g) Performance Bond
A performance bond (or other suitable security) may be an appropriate safeguard for
the specific circumstances of the contract opportunity. This will be provided by the
contractor, through a Bank or leading Insurance Company.
You need to consider the practicality of a bond to secure the contract. Whilst it is
designed to provide a fund for alternative provision, the likelihood of being able to
release those funds quickly is low. In addition, the contractual details surrounding a
Performance Bond are becoming increasingly complex and any release of funds is
typically subject to Legal scrutiny.
The cost of the bond may be relatively high in relation to the level of benefit it secures.
The contractor may be willing to set aside funds directly with us to cover the same
liability; a pragmatic and low cost alternative.
The amount of the bond shall not normally exceed 10% of the contract sum (or 15% of
the annual value of a contract exceeding 12 months duration), unless otherwise
agreed with Director of Finance & Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151
Officer). Where a bond is used, the following documents must be included (as
Appendices) and referred to in the tender pack: i.

Council’s Form of Guarantee Bond

ii.

Bond Letter

The cost of a Performance Bond, where provided, shall be clearly itemised in the
tender submission.
v)
Insurance
Insurance is necessary to help protect the Council against the financial consequences of
claims arising from the activities of contractors. It is essential that ‘relevant’ and adequate
insurance details of everyone who enters into a contract with the Council are obtained
before the contract commences.
'Relevant' generally refers to Public Liability cover and Employer's Liability cover, but might
include Professional Indemnity insurance, and possibly others (e.g. Products Liability or
Motor). Reference should be made to the Insurance summary document for more details
of what is required and the procedures that are to be followed. Questions regarding the
insurance requirements for a contract may be referred to the Head of Governance and
Improvement Services.
It is the responsibility of the contractor to maintain adequate insurance and, where
applicable, for adequate insurance to be in place for any subcontractor they have
instructed to work on their behalf. This requirement must be stated within the terms and
conditions of the contract.
Where Professional Indemnity insurance is required, it must be stated within the conditions
of the contract that cover remains in place for a reasonable period after the expiry of the
contract.

The Officer, or team, entering into the contract on behalf of the Council, must carry out the
monitoring of the insurance during the contract period.
Further details and a suggested template letter are available.
vi)
Receipt of Tenders
Safeguards must be in place to avoid any potential maladministration in the receipt of
tenders.
The day, date and time by which tenders must be returned shall be clearly indicated in the
ITT documents. Democratic Services must be notified of the title (or reference number) of
the tender, its return deadline and the contact details of the relevant Authorised Officer at:
democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk
An appropriate date for the tender opening meeting will then be agreed with the Authorised
Officer and advised to Democratic Services.
Tenders must be returned in plain packaging, securely wrapped, and using the return
details provided. The returned envelope should not be marked or franked with the name of
the tenderer. The following controls apply: a) Tenders shall be addressed to: Democratic Services
TENDER RETURNS – [title of tender or reference number]
Wokingham Borough Council, Shute End, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 1BN.
b) Upon return, tenders shall be kept in a locked and secure area until the scheduled
tender opening date. The tender opening should be scheduled for the day after the
published ‘return of tenders’ deadline date.
c) Tenders received after the appointed deadline or which do not strictly comply with the
instructions to tender (as issued with the tender documents) shall be disqualified on
the basis that they have failed to fulfil the tender criteria.
d) The following circumstances shall be subject to review by Democratic Services, the
resultant decision to accept or reject the tender and the reasons for that decision to be
recorded in a Material Decision, authorised by the Head of Governance &
Improvement Services: 

Any tender opened in error shall be considered to determine if its inclusion would
be anti-competitive in any way. The circumstances of the opening shall also be
recorded in the Material Decision.



Tampered or damaged tenders (i.e. torn, opened envelopes, etc.).



Late tenders, where the reason for lateness is beyond the control of the tenderer
or there is clear evidence of the tender being sent in adequate time in order to
achieve the tender deadline.

e) The Tender Opening Administrator shall record the late receipt of, or other reason for
disqualifying, a tender. The disqualified tender documents shall be retained with all

other tender documentation in accordance with the Council’s Records Retention
Policy.
vii)
Opening of Tenders
Safeguards must be in place to avoid maladministration in the opening of tenders. Any
breaches of this Regulation will be reported to the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT).
Details of the full procedure and a copy of the Tender Opening Summary sheet are
documented separately.
Democratic Services shall be notified in advance of the dates of all tender openings. A
Tender Opening Summary sheet and any relevant qualifying documents must be stamped,
signed and dated by all present.
All tenders with an estimated value of £50,000 or over shall be opened in the presence of:
a) the Service Manager Democratic Services or directly authorised representative;
b) the Director of Finance and Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151 Officer) or
directly authorised representative;
c) a relevant Service Officer (usually the relevant budget manager, but could also be the
relevant Director or the Head of Governance and Improvement Services);
d) the Project Manager (if not already covered by (c) above);
and the Tender Opening Summary sheet completed.
All such tenders should be notified to the relevant Executive Member as soon as possible
after the opening process has been completed.
Tender Opening Summary Sheet
The Director or authorised representative shall complete the top section of the Tender
Opening Summary Sheet with the information shown below and take this to the tender
opening:a) the date, time and location of the tender opening;
b) names and signatures of all attending the opening procedure;
c) budget available and cost centre; and
d) the name of each tenderer and total amount of tender bid, if ascertainable.
The Democratic Services Officer is required to: a) ensure that the Tender Opening Summary Sheet has been fully completed.
b) scan the completed Tender Opening Summary sheet and provide a copy to all
Officers present

Discrepancies
Special consideration is required in the case of tender discrepancies. Where examination
of tenders reveals errors/discrepancies, which would affect an otherwise successful
tender, the tenderer shall be allowed to either confirm or withdraw their offer. If the
tenderer withdraws, the next tenderer in competitive order is to be selected.
If you have any doubts or questions about how to handle a discrepancy, contact your
Procurement Business Partner.
viii)
Acceptance of Contracts
Directors can accept a tender providing it complies with all of the following:
a) it is less than £500,000 in aggregate value, (if over £500,000 then it can be accepted
by way of a Material Decision);
b) it does not exceed the overall approved budget by the lesser of 10% or a maximum of
£20,000, providing sufficient budget can be secured;
c) it is the lowest tender, or the most advantageous, as measured against previously set
criteria;
d) it is the highest tender, (if payment is to be received by the Council), or the most
advantageous, as measured against previously set criteria.
Directors may only accept a tender which falls outside these criteria subject to
consultation with Director of Finance & Resources (Chief Finance Officer) (Section 151
Officer) and if applicable, the Head of Human Resource Operations with regard to
Transfer of Undertakings of Employees (TUPE), as a Material Decision.
ix)

Setting up Supplier Details & Recording of Contract/ Tender Information

Supplier Details
It is the responsibility of the relevant Director or Responsible Officer to ensure that all
Suppliers to the Council are entered into the Council Purchase-to-Pay (P2P) system (or
any replacement system) and that a purchase order is created to allow for the payment of
invoices. The process description is available on Grapevine; including the necessary form.
Recording of Contract/Tender Information
Shared Legal Solutions shall retain original copies of contracts valued over £50,000 during
the term of the contract. These contracts will be archived for a period of 6 years from the
contract end date or 12 years if under seal.
Directors (or a delegated Responsible Officer) shall retain copies of contracts under
£50,000, which should be archived at the contract end date, as a guide, for a period of 5
years. Directors are responsible for ensuring that details of all agreed Contracts are
entered into the central contracts register.

TITLE

Appointment of Statutory Scrutiny Officer

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Council on 19 November 2015

WARD

None Specific

LEAD OFFICER

Andrew Moulton, Head of Governance and
Improvement Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
That the Council fulfills its obligations under the Localism Act 2011 and designates an
Officer to act as the Council’s Statutory Scrutiny Officer.
RECOMMENDATION
That
1)
Neil Carr, Principal Democratic Services Officer, be designated as the Council’s
Statutory Scrutiny Officer; and
2)

Section 6.3.37 of the Council’s Constitution be amended as set out in the report.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
Section 9FB of the Localism Act 2011 places a duty on County and Unitary Councils to
designate an Officer to act as the Council’s Statutory Scrutiny Officer. Kevin Jacob, the
previous Statutory Scrutiny Officer has now left the Council therefore there is a need to
appoint another Officer to undertake this role.

Background
In line with Section 9FB of the Localism Act 2011 County and Unitary Authorities are
required to designate an Officer to undertake the following statutory functions:




Promote the role of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees;
Provide support to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the
members of those bodies;
Provide support and guidance to Members and Officers of the Council and
the Executive on the functions of its Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

The Statutory Scrutiny Officer cannot be the Council’s Head of Paid Service (Chief
Executive), Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer.
It is recommended that Neil Carr, Principal Democratic Services Officer, who is the
Council’s lead Scrutiny Officer be appointed as the Council’s Statutory Scrutiny Officer.
Originally introduced by the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009, the requirement for Councils to appoint a Statutory Scrutiny
Officer can now be found at Section 9FB of the Localism Act 2011. It is therefore
proposed that Rule 6.3.37 of the Council’s Constitution be amended to reflect this and
the appointment as follows:
“6.3.37 Statutory Scrutiny Officer
Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
County and Unitary Authorities have, by 1 April 2010, Localism Act 2011 the
Council is required an obligation to designate an Officer to undertake the
following statutory functions:
a)
b)
c)

Promote the role of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees;
Provide support to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees and
the members of those bodies;
Provide support and guidance to Members and Officers of the Council and
the Executive on the functions of its Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

The Statutory Scrutiny Officer is:
Kevin Jacob Neil Carr
Principal Democratic Services Officer
Wokingham Borough Council.
Tel 0118 974 6058
Email kevin.jacob@wokingham.gov.uk neil.carr@wokingham.gov.uk “
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
There are no financial implications associated with this report.
Cross-Council Implications
N/A
List of Background Papers
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
Localism Act 2011
Council’s Constitution
Contact Anne Hunter
Telephone No 0118 974 6051
Date 9 November 2015

Service Governance and Improvement
Services
Email anne.hunter@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Report of the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority

This year has seen a sea change in the Fire Service, on two fronts – the successful combining with
Oxfordshire FRS and Buckinghamshire FRS to deliver the fire control service; and a major change in
the culture of the whole organisation.
The Fire Control Room, now situated for all three counties in our new Headquarters, has been
functioning there for several months now. It was opened by the Fire Minister, Rt Hon Mark Francois
in July. Initially there were recruiting and retention problems, largely because Buckinghamshire
were insisting on short term contracts – which of course put people off, but this has now been
resolved. One of the team leaders, Sarah Lewis, recently won the national Firefighters’ charity
award for the most successful newcomer, having through her encouragement of charity work, raised
many thousands of pounds in Berkshire for the fire fighters’ charity.
The second change has been the introduction of a new ethos of trust and consultation. This has
come about through changes to the senior management team (SMT), who now consist of Andy Fry
as Chief Fire Officer (CFO), Trevor Ferguson as Deputy Chief Fire Officer (DCFO), Paul Southern as
Assistant Chief Fire Officer (ACFO) and Anne-Marie Scott as Head of OD (personnel and staff
development in other words); all but Paul Southern are new to the team.
As a result of these changes to SMT a number of new initiatives have taken place and are starting to
bear fruition. Firstly, officers and members have continued to develop their joint strategic plan
which consists of more working with partners to make Berkshire a safer place. Wokingham and
Bracknell Forest have been in the van of developing relations with the fire service officers, resulting
in greater sharing of information on where the most vulnerable people live which aids both
prevention work and, if the ultimate happens, their rescue; and also the earlier involvement of the
fire service in planning issues, again to look at building in prevention strategies.
In parallel with the member/officer joint planning, the DCFO is working with the fire fighters
themselves on improvements for the whole service, for example to evaluate how many fire stations
and fire engines we need, and where they would best be placed to reach the greatest number of
houses fastest – all the more important in view of the huge number of new housing developments
across the whole county and the financial restraints similar to those WBC face.
This work has resulted in more joined up working between the Strategic Assets Management
Committee which Angus Ross chairs, the Integrated Risk Management Plan working party, the
budget working party and the overall Management Committee. One specific we shall be looking at
over the next few months is where to build a new fire station to replace the old one at Dee Road,
Reading, the site of the old headquarters.
Now that we are settled in our new HQ, the fire service will be able to sell the Dee Road site to fund
new fire stations and other capital projects, as the Windsor site was sold to fund the new fire station
in Wokingham: Windsor now runs from a less expensive site.
Anne-Marie Scott has been doing a great deal of work in training staff, and in particular with middle
managers, who were raring for more responsibility which was never given them under the old

regime. They have really stepped up, and although they still need training in management and
leadership skills, they are much more empowered, and therefore much more positive about their
work and the whole Brigade. Working with Pauline Helliar-Symons who is the OD champion, she is
preparing the service for a new Investors in People assessment – a national award which they failed
to gain a few years ago. Working towards this award has supported much of the work that is being
done to empower staff and raise morale generally.
Many Fire and Rescue Services are developing Co-responding work with the Ambulance Service, and
our own fire fighters have been keen to do this for some while; it helps the overstretched ambulance
service, and often a fire engine can reach a road traffic collision faster than the ambulance – and is
also often called on to extract people from the cars; to give them medical aid as well increases their
life chances. A Co-responding pilot has recently started at Hungerford fire station, and we hope this
will develop quite quickly to other areas. All fire stations and fire engines have defibrillators, and
some of the Co-responding activities have already been with people suffering heart attacks.
There has been a great improvement to relations with the Fire Brigades Union; this is partly because
we have some excellent new local FBU leaders who are very positive in their approach, and partly
because the senior team has worked hard to develop good relationships. There is also a new branch
of the Retained Firefighters’ Union, the Union specifically for retained fire fighters, who previously
had to join the FBU.
Recruitment of retained fire fighters continues to be a problem, since these days far fewer people
live or work close to their local fire station, but there has been a steady drift of new recruits.
The new HQ at Theale was formally opened in September by the Earl of Wessex, who also presented
a certificate and ceremonial axe to the schoolboy who chose the name for the new HQ – Newsham
Court: Newsham was a local man who invented the earliest fire pump, and which was first used at
Bray in the 18th century.
The budget is currently healthy, and we are planning three years ahead, to keep it so, despite the
reduction in Government funding.
The number of senior staff has been decreased, at both Chief Officer Management Team level and
the level immediately below them, which has also had a positive impact on the budget, as well as
aiding the plans to give more responsibility to middle managers, such as station commanders. We
feel that the new top team is making a huge difference to the service and the results of their efforts
are beginning to be seen. Pauline Helliar-Symons and Angus Ross were involved in the appointment
of all three of the new chief officers, and we feel they are doing what they were appointed to do.
Pauline Helliar-Symons, Vice Chairman of the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Authority.

WBC Members on the Fire Authority are Councillors Alistair Auty, Pauline Helliar-Symons, Tom
McCann, Ian Pittock and Angus Ross

